

University of Nottingham

Placental haemodynamics

A computational study of maternal blood flow and oxygen transport in the human placenta

Adam M Blakey

Placental haemodynamics A computational study of maternal blood flow and oxygen transport in the human placenta

Adam Matthew Blakey MMath ARSM

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

May 2024

Supervised by:

Paul Houston Matthew E Hubbard

Reuben D O'Dea School of Mathematical Sciences University of Nottingham

Abstract

In this thesis, we present mathematical models used to describe maternal blood flow and oxygen transport in the at-term human placenta. We take a computational approach using discontinuous Galerkin finite element methods, which allows us to expand upon previous work by considering a complex 2D placental geometry that respects the main structural features of the placenta.

One third of stillbirths are related to placental dysfunction, and therefore the overarching motivation for this work is to better understand characteristics of diseased placentas. This thesis studies maternal placental flow in three contexts, listed as follows.

Firstly, we study how placental efficiency is affected by changes in structural parameters. We achieve this by generating a large number of flow and oxygen realisations, whereby parameters such as the number and position of arteries and veins in our computational domain are varied; this allows us to infer how changes in placental structure affect placental function.

Taking the work in a second direction, we provide a method for comparing simulated flows with MRI data. We achieve this by advecting particles due to an underlying flow field, and modelling the evolution of each particle's magnetic spin, from which we can compute MRI signals. We compute these signals on simulated flow fields from our model of maternal blood flow, and on simpler manufactured sub-voxel shear flow, rotational flow, and accelerating flow fields; this allows us to infer the relationship between simple sub-voxel flow fields, our model of maternal blood flow, and real placental MRI data.

Thirdly, we introduce a preliminary model of the recently-documented utero-placental pump, where the entire placenta periodically reduces by up to 40% in volume, resulting in periodic ejection of blood from the placenta. We achieve this by prescribing a simple form of boundary motion in order to study the effect this has on flow and oxygen concentration. We show that contractions of this nature do influence the oxygen transport dynamics, and therefore could prove useful in understanding disease in the placenta.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I am extremely grateful for the guidance and support of my supervisors. To Reuben O'Dea, thank you for your unwavering patience and encouragement, especially during the write-up process. To Matthew Hubbard, thank you for your keen eye on the details of several aspects of this project, and for bridging the mathematical gap between the biological and computational worlds. Finally, to Paul Houston, thank you for introducing me to finite elements and indeed this project, as well as the numerous hours you have spent helping me debug my terrible Fortran code.

A special thank you to Penny Gowland and George Hutchinson for the many interactions on MRI matters, to Lopa Leach and Dimitrios Amanitis for everything biological, and to Zak Crowson for our many mathematical discussions. I would also like to acknowledge EPSRC for providing the funding for this project.

I am also thankful to all those who have given me such an enjoyable 8 years in Nottingham. Thank you to those I've met through various academic encounters with reading groups, conferences, teaching, student rep work, and much-needed regular coffee breaks. I extend this thanks to those who I have met through extracurricular activities, including many orchestras and several organisations within Scouting; these hobbies have at times been the only things that have kept me sane.

I am deeply indebted to the support of my family and friends, especially to my mam and late father, who provided an immense amount of encouragement throughout the first 18 years of my life, which prepared me for the life I have built in Nottingham.

I could not have completed this thesis without my partner, Eleanor, who has helped me maintain a work-life balance, tolerated my grumpiness, and nevertheless supported me through the inevitable highs and lows of a PhD. It remains for me to thank my dog, Pip, for brightening each day.

Publications

Two publications have arisen from the work of this thesis and are currently in preparation.

Chapter 4

Some of the work in Chapter 4 is also presented in the publication [1]. Specifically, the supervisors of this thesis have had oversight over the publication, with the author of this thesis focussing on the 2D investigations, and Zak Crowson¹ focussing on 3D investigations. The results presented in this thesis take the 2D investigations to explore them in greater detail.

 Zak Crowson, Adam Blakey, Paul Houston, Matthew Hubbard, Lopa Leach, and Reuben O'Dea. "Investigating Placental Hemodynamics: A Morphological Sensitivity Study". Manuscript in preparation. 2024.

Chapter 5

Some of the work in Chapter 5 is also presented in the publication [2]. Specifically, the author and supervisors of this thesis contributed to the mathematical models and numerical experiments, whilst in vivo data were collected and analysed by George Hutchinson² and Penny Gowland³. The results presented in this thesis take the mathematical model and numerical experiments to explore them in greater detail.

[2] George Hutchinson, Adam Blakey, Nia Jones, Lopa Leach, Paul Houston, Matthew Hubbard, Reuben O'Dea, and Penny Gowland. "The Effects of Maternal Flow on Placental Diffusion Weighted MRI and IVIM Parameters". Manuscript in preparation. 2024.

 $^{^{1}}zak. crows on 2@notting ham. ac. uk$

 $^{^2}$ george.hutchinson1@nottingham.ac.uk

³penny.gowland@nottingham.ac.uk

Contents

1	Intr	Introduction 1				
	1.1	Placen	tal physiology	1		
	1.2	Flow a	nd transport in the placenta	6		
	1.3	Models	s of flow	10		
	1.4	Numer	ical methods	12		
	1.5	Magne	tic resonance imaging (MRI)	13		
	1.6	Thesis	overview and structure	14		
2	Mo	del dev	relopment	17		
	2.1	Geome	etries	17		
		2.1.1	2D placentone	18		
		2.1.2	2D placenta	20		
	2.2	Blood	flow model	21		
		2.2.1	Boundary conditions and placenta parameters	23		
		2.2.2	Stokes and Brinkman (S-B)	25		
		2.2.3	Navier-Stokes and Navier-Stokes-Darcy (NS-NSD)	26		
2.3 Oxygen transport model			n transport model	26		
	2.4	Summary				
3	Nur	nerical	\mathbf{m} ethods	29		
	3.1	DGFE	M discretisations	30		
	3.2	Equati	on discretisations	32		
		3.2.1	Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation	32		
		3.2.2	Reaction-advection-diffusion discretisation	36		
	3.3	Conver	rgence to analytical solution	37		
	3.4 Blood flow numerical experiments					
		3.4.1	Model comparison	40		
		3.4.2	Asymmetric flow	44		

	3.5	Oxygen transport numerical experiments			
	3.6	Time-dependent blood flow and oxygen transport experiments \ldots .			
	3.7	Summary			
4	Effe	ects of placental structure on placental efficiency	54		
	4.1	Measures of placental efficiency	55		
	4.2	Variation of number and position of vessels	57		
		4.2.1 Effects on $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\text{IVS}})$ and \bar{c}	58		
		4.2.2 Effects on v_{slow}	62		
		4.2.3 Effects on venous drainage	64		
		4.2.4 Effects on cross-placentone flow	66		
		4.2.5 Effects on kinetic energy flux	67		
	4.3	Variation of seven other parameters	68		
		4.3.1 Effects due to geometrical variations	69		
		4.3.2 Effects due to changes to the villous tree, oxygen diffusivity, and			
		inlet blood speed \ldots	72		
	4.4	Summary	76		
5	Nur	umerical MRI 81			
	5.1	MRI preliminaries			
	5.2	Algorithm for computing numerical MRI signals			
	5.3	MRI for simple manufactured flows	87		
		5.3.1 Shear flow \ldots	87		
		5.3.2 Rotational flow \ldots	90		
		5.3.3 Accelerating flow	93		
		5.3.4 Summary of simple manufactured flows	95		
	5.4	MRI for placental flows	97		
	5.5	Fitting an empirical signal model			
	5.6	Comparison of signals			
	5.7	Summary	04		
6	Ute	Utero-placental pump 10			
	6.1	DGFEM discretisations	07		
		6.1.1 Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation	08		
		6.1.2 Reaction-advection-diffusion discretisation	11		
	6.2	Numerical experiments	13		
		6.2.1 Convergence tests	13		
		6.2.2 Boundary motion	14		
6.3 Prelimin		Preliminary utero-placental pump motion	16		
		6.3.1 Selection of domain velocity $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	16		

		6.3.2	Problem setup	. 120	
		6.3.3	Placenta motion	. 121	
	6.4	Summ	ary	. 125	
_	~				
7	Con	clusio	n	128	
	7.1 Thesis summary			. 128	
	7.2 Future work		e work	. 130	
		7.2.1	Model development \ldots	. 130	
		7.2.2	Numerical methods	. 131	
		7.2.3	Effects of placental structural on placental efficiency	. 132	
		7.2.4	Numerical MRI	. 133	
		7.2.5	Utero-placental pump	. 133	
\mathbf{A}	Det	ails on	the smooth transition function	134	
В	B Detailed comparison of flow models 137				
С	C Lax-Friedrichs flux α parameter 14				
Bi	Bibliography 14				

Chapter 1 Introduction

This thesis utilises a mathematical model of maternal blood flow and oxygen concentration in the at-term human placenta, using a physiologically-informed 2D organ-scale geometry. The solutions are approximated using discontinuous Galerkin finite element methods from the existing numerical literature. The three main contributions of this thesis are to use the aforementioned model and numerics to investigate how placental structure influences flow and transport, to model MRI scans of flow, and to introduce a preliminary model of the newly-discovered utero-placental pump phenomenon.

The remainder of this chapter presents a literature review of placental physiology and existing placental mathematical modelling.

1.1 Placental physiology

The placenta is a crucial organ that is essential for our birth. It is unique in that it can be straightforwardly examined ex vivo after delivery, enabling, for example, convenient ex vivo perfusion experiments to investigate placental function [3, 4]. The role of the placenta is detailed by Jensen and Chernyavsky in [5]. In summary, the placenta has two main purposes: facilitating the transport of oxygen and nutrients from the mother to the fetus, and transporting carbon dioxide and waste products from the fetus to the mother. In human placentas, fetal blood flows through villous trees that are submerged in maternal blood, which flows through the surrounding intervillous space (IVS). Fetal and maternal blood do not directly mix: exchange between fetal and maternal blood takes place through the large surface area of the villous tree.

A healthy delivered placenta is usually disk-like with a typical diameter of 22 cm, thickness of 2.5 cm, and weight of 470 g at full-term [6]. However, the in vivo measurements conducted by Afrakhteh et al. [7] using ultrasound have reported a larger average thickness

of approximately 3.6 cm, the disparity arising due to leakage of maternal blood and a pressure drop in the IVS after delivery, resulting in a collapse of placental structure and decrease in placental volume [7, 8]. Structurally, the placenta comprises many smaller functional units, partially separated from one another by so-called *septal walls* or *septa*. Naming conventions for these functional units differ between authors, with common words often found in the literature being lobe, lobule, cotyledon, and placentone [9]. The largest unit is called a *lobe*, of which there are approximately 4–6, with each *lobe* containing approximately 8–10 lobules. An average healthy placenta is expected to contain between 30 and 60 lobules [6, 9, 10]. Lobes are distinguished by taller surrounding septal walls compared to *lobules*, with recent measurements of the smaller and taller wall heights to respectively be on average 6.90 mm and 14.07 mm [11]. *Placentones* are idealised units that correspond to one *lobule* containing one villous tree [5, 9]. Placentones in the interior of the placenta are generally accepted to be approximately 40 mm in diameter [8, 12], with smaller placentones as small as 10 mm in diameter at the placental margin [6]. Figure 1.1(a) highlights lobes and lobules on the maternal side of a delivered placenta (i.e., the basal plate). For consistency, for the remainder of this thesis we will employ the terminology placentones to denote all functional units surrounded by septal walls of any height.

Figure 1.1(b) shows the structure of the placenta, with the maternal blood supply entering and exiting at the bottom, and the fetal blood supply entering and exiting at the top. Spiral arteries are the name given to maternal arteries entering the placenta. Brosens wrote in 1988 [9] that they found most spiral arteries were found on the basal plate or in the lower third of a septal wall, and estimated a total of 120 arterial openings over the entire placenta; there has also been evidence of chorionic veins [6], and 5–6 larger muscular veins thought to encircle the placenta, providing additional drainage [13]. The exact number of arteries and veins in a placenta may significantly vary from placenta to placenta, with current literature suggesting there to be 30–150 arteries and 50–200 veins for the maternal blood [6, 12, 14]. Whilst several studies have focussed on maternal arterial flow (e.g., [14–17]), few studies have considered the venous drainage, despite this being critical to the circulation of maternal blood, and therefore delivery of oxygen and nutrients [18]. Furthermore, the location of vessels is not well understood; Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12] outline the three main hypotheses for vein locations: random; concentrated near the placental margins, and concentrated near the placental septa [19].

The placenta is an organ that develops through gestation, undergoing many structural changes from its initial development to delivery [21], which complicates placental study. For example, ultrasound measurements indicate placental thickness measured from the umbilical cord insertion site increases almost three-fold between the first and third trimesters (first 14 weeks and after 27 weeks of pregnancy, respectively), increasing from 12.90 mm to 34.67 mm [22]. As well as the placenta overall increasing in size, other structural components separately undergo changes. For example, so-called 'trophoblast



(b)

Figure 1.1: (a) Annotated picture provided via private communications with Lopa Leach^a and Dimitrios Amanitis^b. Picture of the basal plate of a human placenta, with grooves showing visible septal walls. Coloured lines segment the placenta into 5 lobes, with white 'L's indicating locations of individual lobules. (b) Modified diagram from [20], showing how blood moves through the placenta. The chorionic plate is shown towards the top of the picture, and the basal plate is at the bottom. Septal walls separate individual placentones. Maternal blood enters the placenta via the spiral arteries before percolating through the IVS and exiting through one of three types of vein: basal plate, septal wall, or marginal sinus. Fetal blood enters via the umbilical cord, flows through fetal vessels that cross the chorionic plate, before flowing through the villous trees, and finally returning to the umbilical cord.

^alopa.leach@nottingham.ac.uk

^bdimitrios.amanitis1@nottingham.ac.uk



Figure 1.2: Reproduced Figure from [23] showing a single placentone containing a villous tree. The triangles on the left show that outward from the central cavity there is an increasing maturation of villi and a decreasing concentration of blood oxygen.

plugs' are present only from approximately 5 weeks of gestation, where cells partially block the spiral artery and promote remodelling (widening) [15]. Another example is the villous tree, which matures during gestation to become more specialised for diffusional exchange [23]. This thesis will consider only at-term placentas.

The exchange of several solutes, including oxygen, takes place through the villous tree, which has a huge surface area — approximately 10 m², or roughly 10% of the surface area of an adult human's lungs [24]. Efficient exchange often requires maternal blood to access the whole of the villous tree (i.e., areas far from the basal plate), in order to maximise possible uptake area. Figure 1.2 shows how blood enters through spiral arteries, moves through the central cavity (CC), percolates through increasingly mature villous tree material, and then finally exits through one of several veins — including septal wall veins, marginal sinuses, and other veins located outside the originating placentone by passing over septal walls; naturally, the oxygen concentration in the blood reduces as it passes through the villous tree due to oxygen uptake. It has been postulated that villous density close to spiral arteries must decrease during gestation, in order to account for so-called 'mega-jets' that permit deep penetration of nutrient-rich blood [16]. Hempstock et al. [23] explain that villi nearer to the central cavity are of a larger diameter, and are less specialised for diffusional exchange than their counterparts in the periphery; it is therefore advantageous for high oxygen concentration blood to reach peripheral villi.

Nutrient delivery is essential for normal fetal growth, with poor delivery of nutrients often linked to pregnancy complications such as stillbirth. A complication of disease study is that some placental diseases are specific to humans [24], due to radical structural variations between mammalian placentas [25]. Pre-eclampsia (PE), for example, is a complex, multisystem disease that is unique to humans, characterised by sudden-onset hypertension [14, 26]. Fetal growth restriction (FGR) is another placental disease that is often associated with stillbirth [27], and is defined as the failure of the fetus to achieve its genetically-determined growth potential [28], with FGR placentas on average half of the size of normal placentas [29]. PE and FGR are both generally considered to be associated with structural defects in the placenta, leading to impaired nutrient delivery and complications for both the fetus and mother, particularly when spiral arteries fail to widen upon entering the IVS [20, 30]. In healthy placentas, spiral arteries widen from $0.5 \,\mathrm{mm}$ to $2-3 \,\mathrm{mm}$, allowing upstream flow to slow from $1 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ to $0.1 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$; however, in diseased cases, the failure to widen can result in flow at 1 m s^{-1} to directly enter the placenta [14]. Whilst an increase in flow speed encourages deeper penetration of blood, speeds that are too high will damage villous tree structures, creating an overall smaller uptake area, and reduce blood transit times such that blood leaves the placenta with higher-than-usual oxygen concentrations [14]. Understanding which structural changes happen in disease, and the extent to which they impair blood flow and nutrient delivery, may ultimately prove crucial for clinicians looking to treat these diseases. Another source of nutrient delivery impairment has been suggested to be due to whether mothers choose to sleep on their back or on their side; Couper et al. [31] report that maternal flow rates lower by 27% when mothers are on their backs, as well as a 11.2% decrease in delivery of oxygen to the fetus. This phenomenon occurs even in healthy late-gestation pregnancies, which could be in part an explanation for late-gestation stillbirths.

The work of Burton et al. [14] and Roth et al. [32] focusses on the effects of high flow speed from spiral arteries and the association with diseases such as FGR and PE, and reported the presence of vortices and turbulence in areas surrounding the artery. Even in healthy pregnancies, the speed of flow in the placenta varies greatly from the basal plate to the sub-chorionic space (the region below the chorionic plate, see Figure 1.1(b)). Dellschaft et al. [20] gathered data on the speed in the placenta using MRI, and categorised regions of fast flow (flow faster than $1 \times 10^{-3} \text{ m s}^{-1}$) and slow flow (flow slower than $5 \times 10^{-4} \text{ m s}^{-1}$), finding that the faster regions were predominantly concentrated on the basal plate. Additionally, they found that there was a distinct difference in the average speed found in the IVS between healthy $(4 \times 10^{-4} \text{ m s}^{-1})$ and diseased $(7 \times 10^{-4} \text{ m s}^{-1})$ placentas [20].

In addition to dynamics which could arise directly from maternal and fetal blood flow, there are several other forms of movement in the placenta, such as contractions of the villous tree or contractions of the entire uterus; several authors have documented the properties of such phenomena since as early as 1963 [33–36]. However, the newly documented 'utero-placental pump' phenomenon is a contraction involving only the placenta [20]. Dellschaft et al. [20] report that it has been found experimentally that placental volume can reduce by up to 40% in these 'utero-placental pump' contractions over a 10-minute period, resulting in a periodic ejection of blood from the IVS.

Delivered placentas, whilst generally readily-available after birth, undergo significant structural changes outside the uterus [8], rendering ex vivo experiments of limited use. One way of overcoming the deflation issue is to perform perfusion experiments soon after delivery, where a placentone is identified in a freshly delivered placenta, and both the maternal and fetal blood supplies are catheterised [3, 37]; these have then been coupled with mathematical models, giving a well-controlled system in which to test parameters and gain physiological understanding [3]. In the case where placentas fail entirely, artificial placentas have been developed, with variable success, since as early as the 1950s. Important progress towards the ultimate goal of a functioning artificial human placenta has been made in recent years, particularly through several important contributions that have been made to the mathematical placental literature in the 2010s [3, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 38–42].

Mathematical modelling is a powerful tool in developing understanding of behaviour in complex systems, such as the placenta and other organs. Digital twins are regarded as the gold standard of organ modelling, where simulations directly model a specific real-world organ. Sufficiently developed digital twins of the placenta would allow clinicians to study disease and the effects of medical intervention in a risk-free environment. Whilst there are currently no such models of the entire placenta, mathematical modelling of the heart has made use of patient-specific geometries [43], with projects such as iHEART contributing to collective understanding of the organ [44]. Upon the path leading to digital twins of the human placenta lies several issues that must first be tackled by the modelling community; Jensen and Chernyavsky [5] detail the important issues as modelling deformability of villous trees, impact from the external environment, 3D morphology at a statistical level, development of the placenta from early pregnancy, transport of multiple substances, and understanding structural variations across placental mammalian species.

1.2 Flow and transport in the placenta

Most current mathematical models consider either the fetal or maternal blood flow in isolation. This thesis focusses solely on modelling the maternal blood, but we now give a brief overview of fetal modelling approaches.

Zhang and Lindsey [45] highlight the importance of computational models in the study of fetal blood flow. The behaviour of fetal blood is often directly linked to the structure of the villous tree, leading many recent studies to use anatomical images to study fetal flow behaviour on the scale of individual villous tree 'leaves' [46–49]. Clark et al. [41] were instead able to create an anatomically based geometric model of the entire fetal villous tree, and used a simple flow model to study how fetal blood was affected by changes to the structure of the tree. The umbilical cord carries the fetal blood to and from the placenta; Kasiteropoulou, Topalidou, and Downe [50] studied the structure of the umbilical cord and how this impacts heat exchange, finding that the helicity of the cord plays a vital role in fetal thermoregulation.

In the existing literature, there are generally two approaches to modelling maternal blood flow [5]. Firstly, there are pore-scale (or micro-scale) models, where 'pore' refers to the volume between villous tree branches; for example, Lecarpentier et al. [8] take 2D anatomical images of the villous trees and use the Navier-Stokes equations to model blood flow through the pores, although the method of imaging was not reported. An inherent issue with this 2D approach is that tree material can form impenetrable barriers in the plane, a constraint that 3D flow models may overcome. Perazzolo, Lewis, and Sengers [51] use 3D anatomical images of the villous tree to model transport of oxygen from maternal flow to the fetal capillaries, but are necessarily limited to a small region of villous tissue to reduce computational costs. Serve et al. [40] use the micro-scale approach to simulate flow through a 'stream-tube placenta model' and measure oxygen uptaken by the villous tree, ultimately finding an optimal villous density of approximately 0.47 maximises oxygen uptake, which is consistent with previous experimental measurements. Secondly, there are tree-scale (or macro-scale) models, which model flow through gaps in the tree branches as a porous medium via, for example, a Darcy-type description [8, 12, 52]; this involves creating a resistance to flow, which can be described by a permeability k, for which the size of k is inversely proportional to the effective flow resistance.

In 1977, Erian, Corrsin, and Davis [52] were the first to model maternal placenta flow computationally. They modelled the placentone as a square, through which blood flowed according to Darcy's law, with a permeability field that varied with position, accounting in a simple way for a less-permeable central cavity region. This porous medium approach has been adopted more recently by Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12] where they derive analytical expressions for the blood flow field, under the assumption of Darcy flow in a 3D hemispherical domain representing a single placentone. Lecarpentier et al. [8] computationally modelled flow through a single 2D placentone, from which they were able to inform wall shear stress (WSS) villous tree measurements on several small areas cut out from the domain. This work provides valuable insight into the stresses experienced by cells in the villous tree, as it is believed that diseases such as PE may be attributed to damage to the villous tree caused by high-speed flow [14].

The central cavity is a villous-free region above the spiral artery mouth, thought to form among the villous tree material due to stresses from incoming maternal blood flow [14, 16]. This region provides a lower resistance to flow, allowing incoming high-speed flow to penetrate deeper into the placenta before entering the IVS. In the context of the placenta, regions of high-speed flow (faster than $0.1 \,\mathrm{m\,s^{-1}}$) are referred to as 'jets' [16]. Ultrasound imaging have found so-called 'mega-jets', which are jets longer than half of the placental thickness, and are components of a normal pregnancy [17]. Saghian et al. [16] modelled flow entering the IVS throughout gestation, finding that the presence of mega-jets requires regions of less dense villous tree, such as the central cavity.

Some authors employ a hybrid between the micro- and macro-scale approaches, using micro-scale simulations to determine values of local permeability, which then informs the macro-scale dynamics through a spatially varying permeability field [8, 53]. Some authors who use macro-scale models make further modelling enhancements such as varying the permeability throughout the domain [8, 52], or modelling the effect of artery widening before the maternal blood enters the IVS, to study what effect this has on fetal development [14, 16, 32]. Whilst most of the mathematical placental literature studies third trimester placentas (usually regarded as 'fully developed' or 'at term'), some authors have investigated the placenta throughout its development. For example, James et al. [15] computationally investigated the effect of trophoblast plugs, with their work suggesting that trophoblast plugs play an important role in rate-limiting flow to the placenta, and that malformation of these plugs can lead to diseased placentas. Little is known about the rheology of blood in the IVS when compared to blood rheology in narrow capillaries, which have been well-characterised experimentally [5]. As far as we are aware, Lecarpentier et al. [8] is the only author who adopts a shear-thinning model of the viscosity, whilst other authors assume that blood in the IVS is Newtonian (e.g., [12, 14, 54]).

Exchange from mother to fetus is also an important aspect to study, for which the flow of blood can be regarded as a vehicle in which to transport oxygen, nutrients, and waste products. Some authors have modelled transport using a reaction-advection equation for oxygen or nutrient concentration [12, 46, 51, 55], whilst others have supplemented the reaction-advection equation using the so-called oxygen-haemoglobin dissociation curve, which additionally describes the enhancement to advection due to oxygen's affinity for haemoglobin [40, 48, 54].

Given that the placenta lacks stiff supporting inner structures, a poroelastic description is likely appropriate [5]. Moreover, throughout gestation, contractions of the placenta and surrounding uterus have been widely reported [20, 34, 36]. However, as far as we are aware, there is currently only one paper that presents a mathematical model that describes contractions. Kato, Oyen, and Burton [39] focussed on the effect of actively contracting villous trees, finding the contractions to be useful for both the fetal and maternal blood circulations due to resulting displacements. Whilst the recently-discovered utero-placental pump is yet to be mathematically modelled, it is thought that these contractions may be related to the previous reports of contracting villous trees [20].

Little work has been undertaken on fully-coupled transport models describing both maternal and fetal flow simultaneously, especially at the organ-scale. The first coupled transport paper we are aware of is from 1973, where Hill, Power, and Longo [56] used a simple compartmental model to describe the transport of oxygen and carbon dioxide between maternal and fetal blood, which allowed the authors to investigate the relationship between Haldane and Bohr effects and transport. More recently, the use of mathematical models in combination with perfusion experiments is summarised by Lewis, Cleal, and Sengers [3], where the authors highlight several studies that have used compartmental models — which describes how solutes may pass between mother, placenta, and fetus — in order to study the bidirectional transport behaviour of various solutes in artificial perfusion experiments [57–60]. Other related studies have modelled solute passing from maternal flow to the fetal capillaries, but for simplicity neglect the fetal flow itself [51].

One of the most significant difficulties of placental study is that structural variability is not well understood [5]. To illustrate this, Benirschke, Burton, and Baergen [6] took two vastly different estimates of the number of spiral arteries from previous studies, where one author estimated 263, whilst another estimated just 25; the disparity here is likely due to difficulties in identifying the arteries, and also due to functional changes to the arteries during development [6]. Contrasting estimates can also be found for other structural features, such as the number and position of veins [12, 19], and the number of placentones [6, 9, 19, 40]. In the absence of a concrete understanding of many important structural features, several studies have used mathematical models to investigate their impact on placental behaviour. For example, Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12], and more recently Mekler et al. [54], studied how vein placement affects oxygen uptake to the villous tree; they found that veins too close to the artery would exhibit 'short-circuiting' behaviour, where flow is very much localised to the region between the arteries and veins, thus limiting oxygen uptake. Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12] also studied how the height of the villous-free central cavity influences oxygen concentration, finding deeper penetration of oxygen for larger cavity sizes.

A standard model in the maternal mathematical literature has been to allocate one artery and two veins on the basal plate to a placentone, with mathematical models of maternal blood flow restricted to placentones, and therefore do not consider either septal wall or marginal sinus veins. This is a clear limitation of existing studies as flux of blood between neighbouring placentones, as would be expected in the sub-chorionic space (SCS) [5], is necessarily neglected. Furthermore, additional drainage due to septal wall veins and marginal sinus veins have not been considered in flow models, despite reports of their existence in the literature [11, 13, 23]. Although there are several works related to simulations of entire fetal villous trees (e.g., [38, 41]), as far as we are aware, there is not any published work that tackles simulations of maternal blood flow on the scale of the entire placenta.

In this thesis, we exclusively use a macro-scale model of maternal blood flow. This approach eliminates the need for fine villous tree meshes, gives the permeability field as a simple function of the spatial coordinates, and avoids challenges that arise with impermeable villous tree structures in 2D. We will also adopt some of the modelling enhancements in the aforementioned references, such as the inclusion of a central cavity and a widening spiral artery. As noted by Jensen and Chernyavsky in [5], the described

approaches for maternal haemodynamics are mostly restricted to single placentones; Jensen and Chernyavsky further note that there is meaningful progress still to be made at the whole-organ level, and with validating models against experimental data. We will therefore solve a macro-scale model on a representative 2D slice of a whole placenta, which as far as we are aware, is a novel contribution of this thesis. This 2D geometry is simpler than an equivalent 3D geometry, but captures the main structural features of the placenta. Our blood flow model will be supplemented with a model of oxygen transport so that we may study oxygen uptake by the fetal villous tree. The thesis will then develop in three separate settings: to investigate how placental structure influences flow and transport; to model MRI scans of placental flow; and to introduce a preliminary model of utero-placental pump.

1.3 Models of flow

Poromechanics more generally describes the behaviour of fluids saturating porous media, where the fluid may be a liquid or a gas, and the structure is permeable (e.g., [61]); the structure may also be elastic in the case of a biphasic poroelastic model. The simplest example of steady flow through a porous medium is Darcy's law. For a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, for d = 2, 3, Darcy's law is given by

$$\frac{\mu}{k}\mathbf{u} + \boldsymbol{\nabla}p = 0, \tag{1.1}$$

where **u** is the vector velocity field of the fluid, p is the scalar pressure field, k is permeability, and μ is the dynamic viscosity of the fluid. We have omitted boundary conditions here for ease of presentation.

The Navier-Stokes equations model time-dependent, viscous, Newtonian (non-porous) fluid flow. The incompressible Navier-Stokes equations are given as: find \mathbf{u}, p such that

$$\rho \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} + \rho(\mathbf{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}) \mathbf{u} - \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \boldsymbol{\nabla} p = \rho \mathbf{f}, \qquad (1.2a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0, \tag{1.2b}$$

where ρ is the density of the fluid, and **f** is some body force acting on the fluid. One may define the Reynolds number as $Re := \frac{\rho UL}{\mu}$, for some appropriate choices of velocity and length scalings (U and L, respectively), which describes the ratio between inertial and viscous forces. By assuming that the inertial forces are small compared to viscous forces, the Reynolds number is low (i.e., $Re \ll 1$), Equation (1.2) at leading order reduces to Stokes flow: find \mathbf{u}, p such that

$$-\mu\nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \nabla p = \mathbf{f},\tag{1.3a}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0. \tag{1.3b}$$

In 1949, Brinkman [62] introduced a modification of Darcy's law in Equation (1.1), which we will refer to as the Brinkman equations: find \mathbf{u}, p such that

$$-\tilde{\mu}\nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \frac{\mu}{k}\mathbf{u} + \boldsymbol{\nabla}p = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (1.4a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0, \tag{1.4b}$$

where $\tilde{\mu}$ is the so-called effective viscosity [63]. As well as this equation being second order — and therefore allowing consistent application of boundary or interface conditions with, say, the Navier-Stokes equations — Brinkman remarks that this equation has the advantage of approximating Darcy flow in Equation (1.1) for small values of k, and Stokes flow in Equation (1.3) for high values of k. Typically, most authors make the simplification of $\tilde{\mu} = \mu$ [64].

In porous media applications where inertial effects are important, the so-called Navier-Stokes-Darcy (or equivalently Navier-Stokes-Brinkman) equations may be more appropriate. These equations consist of Navier-Stokes equations augmented by an additional Darcy drag term and have previously been used to simulate solid obstacles in a fluid domain or imposing no-slip boundary conditions [65, 66], and for directly modelling insect flight [67] and flow involved in matrix acidising [68]. The Navier-Stokes-Darcy equations are given by: find \mathbf{u} , p such that

$$\rho \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} + \frac{\mu}{k} \mathbf{u} + \rho (\mathbf{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}) \mathbf{u} - \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \boldsymbol{\nabla} p = \rho \mathbf{f}, \qquad (1.5a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0. \tag{1.5b}$$

Other related models include the Brinkman-Forchheimer equations, where the drag is modelled by both a Darcy-type term and a quadratic drag term that scales with $\mathbf{u}|\mathbf{u}|$ [69, 70]. The additional Forchheimer term is generally applicable to flow of high Reynolds number (Re > 100) [63].

In many porous flow applications, such as those in the placenta, there are regions of 'free' flow (often modelled by Stokes flow or the Navier-Stokes equations) and regions of porous flow (often modelled by Darcy's law or the Brinkman equations). The approach adopted in this thesis is to use a single partial differential equation (PDE) on the entire domain that captures effects of both free and porous flow in the appropriate regions.

1.4 Numerical methods

Finite element methods (FEMs) are one of many choices of numerical methods for approximating solutions to PDEs. FEMs first appeared in work by Courant in 1943, where the author used the idea of minimising a functional using linear approximations over subregions, which is fundamental to the formulation required for deriving a finite element method [71]. Clough in 1960 gave the method its name, describing how the methods could be used on models of wing structure flexibility at Boeing [72]. The initial development of FEMs are also credited by Gupta and Meek [73] to papers by Argyris and Kelsey [74], Turner et al. [75], and Zienkiewicz and Taylor [76]. Since the initial work, many different flavours of FEMs have been developed including the very popular continuous Galerkin FEMs (CGFEMs) [77], discontinuous Galerkin FEMs (DGFEMs) which this work exploits [78], as well as extended FEMs (XFEMs) [79], cut FEMs (CutFEMs) [80], and the closely-related virtual element methods (VEMs) [81] and finite volume methods (FVMs) [82] — some of which can be combined to make very powerful methods.

Whilst some studies of maternal placental flow have derived analytical expressions of flow (e.g., [12, 14]), the vast majority of studies cited in this thesis have approximated PDE solutions using one of two software packages: ANSYS Fluent [16, 54] or COMSOL Multiphysics [8, 51, 55]. Whilst the details of the discretisations are not presented in these studies, we can infer that discretisations of spatial derivatives use FVMs in ANSYS Fluent, and either CGFEMs or FVMs in COMSOL Multiphysics.

Loosely speaking, DGFEMs are somewhat of a hybrid between classical CGFEMs and FVMs [83], the latter being used extensively in computational fluid dynamics (CFD) simulations. Cangiani et al. [83] highlight that DGFEMs are an excellent choice for modelling in many practical settings due to their simple treatment of complicated geometries, stability properties for large parameter variations, and favourable treatment of hyperbolic terms in PDEs. In particular, DGFEMs are highly parallelisable from a computational viewpoint as elements only involve communication across element faces, allowing some computations to take place independently of each other [84].

For the numerical simulations undertaken here, we employ DGFEMs as our numerical method of choice. We note that we specifically use the DGFEM symmetric interior penalty method, which is both consistent and stable [78]. DGFEMs form a natural choice of method for our application due to the inherent complicated placental geometries and fast deceleration of flow as blood enters the placenta.

1.5 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is an imaging technique that uses a strong magnetic field and radio waves to generate images of biological tissue. These images are predominantly used to non-invasively investigate pathology in the human body. This thesis will specifically focus on the modelling of motion-sensitising MRI, where magnetic field pulses are applied in a specific configuration to measure a velocity field (see [85] for a comprehensive summary of MRI techniques).

Rinck [86] outlines the history of MRI development; MRI originated in 1946 from the discovery of nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) by Bloch [87] and Purcell et al. [88], where particles emit electromagnetic signals under strong magnetic fields. The medical applications of NMR were realised by Odeblad, who applied NMR to living cells and excised animal tissue throughout the 1950s and 1960s (e.g., [89–91]). In the early 1970s, Lauterbur and Mansfield created techniques that spatially encoded NMR signals, thus permitting NMR imaging (i.e., MRI) for the first time. Lauterbur [92] produced the very first MRI image of a living animal — a clam — in 1974, whilst Mansfield et al. [93] created the first image of in vivo human anatomy — a finger — in 1977. Since the 1980s, commercial development of scanners and widespread use in hospitals have made MRI scanners an indispensable technique for non-invasive imaging of pathology in vivo, including the placenta.

Nuclear magnetisation is an intrinsic property of particles with an odd number of protons and neutrons. Hydrogen has 1 proton and 1 neutron, and is predominantly used for measurements due to its relative abundance in water and fat in the human body [94]. Nuclear magnetisation has both a strength and a direction, and its evolution in particles is described by the Bloch-Torrey equation [94, 95]. Nguyen et al. [95] write the Bloch-Torrey equation as: find $M(\mathbf{r}, t)$ such that

$$\frac{\partial M(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t} = -i\gamma(\mathbf{G}\cdot\mathbf{r})M + \boldsymbol{\nabla}\cdot(\mathbf{D}\boldsymbol{\nabla}M), \qquad (1.6)$$

where $M(\mathbf{r}, t) \in \mathbb{C}$ is nuclear magnetisation, **G** is a magnetic gradient (to be introduced in §5.1), **r** is displacement of particles, t is time, i is the imaginary unit, γ is the gyromagnetic ratio, and **D** is a molecular diffusion matrix. MRI scanners make use of many non-overlapping cuboidal voxels covering the domain of interest, from which MRI scanners measure the collective nuclear magnetisation of the particles contained in each voxel; this is achieved through the magnetic properties of the hydrogen atom, which is abundant in water and fat [96]. Chapter 5 will infer MRI signals using Equation (1.6), where we assume $\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{0}$ (i.e., the Bloch equation) as so-called pseudo-diffusive effects dominate in studies of blood flow [97, 98].

While non-invasive imaging techniques such as MRI are useful in distinguishing healthy and diseased placentas, their typical resolution may not accurately be able to detect phenomena in regions of interest, such as spiral arteries. Spiral arteries are thought to be of the order of 2.4 mm in diameter at their widest (or even smaller in PE cases) [14], while the resolution of MRI scanners used in a study by Dellschaft et al. [20] has voxel sizes of $2.5 \text{ mm} \times 2.5 \text{ mm} \times 6 \text{ mm}$. Placental imaging at scales below typical MRI scanners is possible, with Tun et al. [99] imaging with an extraordinary level of detail using micro-CT; however, this type of imaging is limited to a small total volume (8 mm³ in the case of [99]) or can lead to very large datasets [100].

There are typically two approaches to comparing in vivo MRI measurements of physical blood flow and computational blood flow fields. One approach is to reconstruct a velocity field from MRI measurements, for which there are several methods of reconstruction [101– 103]. However, sub-voxel velocity reconstructions from MRI signal data are non-unique, complicating study of physical flow in this way (see discussion in §5.3). Nevertheless, several authors have adopted this approach for the study of placental flow. Dellschaft et al. [20] used a velocity reconstruction from MRI data to reconstruct maternal flow in the placenta, allowing the authors to identify the locations of arteries in scan data, and to quantify the higher flow speeds typically seen in diseased placentas.

Another approach to comparing physical and computational flow fields is to simulate MRI measurements directly from the computational flow field, and use these to compare like-for-like with in vivo MRI measurements. This approach is often called *numerical* MRI or *synthetic* MRI. Numerical computation of MRI signals can be achieved by solving the Bloch-Torrey equations, given in Equation (1.6). Nguyen et al. [95] numerically computed MRI signals using finite element methods, and were able to investigate different diffusion coefficients and what effect this has on the measured MRI signal. Li et al. [104] expanded upon this work by developing a MATLAB toolbox for diffusion MRI, with detailed comparison of results obtained by Cook et al. [105]. Some authors have taken a different approach, instead using a method where the evolution of the positions and magnetic spins of particles are tracked; MRI signals are then computed by taking an ensemble average of the magnetic spins [106, 107]. Rafael-Patino et al. [107] used a Monte-Carlo method for computing MRI signals of particles experiencing Brownian motion; they investigated the influence of discretisation parameters on MRI signals, finding high variability in their results when discretisation parameters are too coarse.

1.6 Thesis overview and structure

The overarching goal of this thesis is to lead to a deeper understanding of placental dynamics, which will ultimately lead to improved pregnancy outcomes in the future. This

thesis will introduce mathematical models of maternal blood flow and oxygen transport on a 2D whole-organ geometry, which are then further developed in three ways: firstly, varying structural parameters to study effects on placental efficiency; secondly, artificially recreating MRI data for direct comparison to physical flow fields; and thirdly, introducing a preliminary contraction model of the utero-placental pump. The research presented in this thesis is largely computational and uses discontinuous Galerkin finite element methods extensively, allowing for progress beyond existing studies that require symmetry assumptions on vein placement and are restricted to smaller sub-organ regions.

In Chapter 2, we formulate our model for flow of maternal blood through the IVS and associated transport of oxygen. Blood flow is described by the Navier-Stokes-Darcy equations, where we model the presence of the fetal villous tree as a rigid porous medium, while oxygen transport and uptake is modelled via a simple reaction-advection-diffusion equation. The novelties presented here include using a physiologically-representative 2D slice of a whole placenta.

In Chapter 3, we introduce the numerical methods used for discretising the mathematical models in Chapter 2. In particular, these methods discretise the underlying second-order operator with a symmetric interior penalty DGFEM, and temporal derivatives with a backward Euler finite difference approximation. We then make a detailed numerical comparison between the behaviour of the steady-state Navier-Stokes-Darcy equations with related models currently used in the placental literature, as well as some basic numerical experiments illustrating the behaviour of transported oxygen and time-dependent flow. As far as we are aware, this is the first time that DGFEMs have been applied to the study of placental haemodynamics.

Chapter 4 considers the steady-state blood flow and oxygen transport models from Chapter 2, and their corresponding discretisations from Chapter 3, to investigate the effects of structural variations on placental function. The value of a computational approach is realised here, as we can simulate many realisations of flow and oxygen transport, for which each simulation is characterised through values of eight chosen measures of 'placental efficiency'. The work presented here gives a more comprehensive study of parameter variations than those previously performed in the literature, and does so on a physiologically representative 2D slice of a whole placenta.

Taking the work in a different direction, Chapter 5 firstly presents an overview of how MRI scanners make their measurements and how we can replicate these numerically. Next, some numerical examples of simple flow fields and how these affect MRI measurements are presented, before applying this procedure to the steady-state velocity model from Chapter 2 approximated using the numerical methods in Chapter 3. Finally, a comparison to physical MRI data and some common types of fitting are made. The results presented here provide insight into the behaviour of MRI signals due to different underlying velocity fields, how these relate to MRI signals computed on simulated placenta flows, and how

these can be directly compared to MRI measurements of physical flow in the placenta.

In Chapter 6, we consider a preliminary model of the utero-placental pump discovered by Dellschaft et al. [20] in 2020. We achieve this by taking the time-dependent velocity and transport models from Chapter 2, along with a new moving mesh discretisation to account for an introduced domain velocity.

Finally, Chapter 7 reviews the thesis and its main conclusions, along with a number of possible extensions to this work.

Chapter 2 Model development

In this chapter, we will formulate a mathematical model of maternal blood flow in the placenta using Navier-Stokes-Darcy as introduced in Chapter 1, coupled to a model of oxygen transport. We model the placenta as a rigid porous medium, with resistance to maternal flow through the intervillous space (IVS) corresponding to the presence of the fetal villous tree. We consider two choices of domain representative of key structural features in the placenta. One represents a single placentone, similar to the work by Lecarpentier et al. [8]. The other represents a more realistic geometry: a 2D slice through a whole placenta composed of six neighbouring placentones, separated by septal walls, with each placentone containing one artery and two veins; two larger marginal sinus veins are also included at the periphery of the domain, in addition to veins on the septal walls.

A novel contribution of this thesis is to model maternal blood flow on a 2D slice of a placenta (rather than restricting study to a single placentone).

We will begin in §2.1 by introducing two geometries used to represent a 2D slice of a single placentone and a 2D slice of a placenta. We will then present the blood flow and oxygen concentration models in §2.2 and §2.3, respectively. We conclude in §2.4 with a summary of the models and how they will be used throughout the thesis.

2.1 Geometries

Here, we will outline two geometries: one representing a single placentone as used by Lecarpentier et al. [8], and one representing a 2D slice of a whole placenta.

2.1.1 2D placentone

Taking inspiration from Lecarpentier et al. [8], we construct a simple 2D geometry of a single placentone. This is formed of a rectangle with a semicircle placed on top. We also add a diverging artery at the centre of the bottom rectangle to represent a diverging spiral artery (see [14]), and two square regions on either side for veins. There is also an elliptical region above the artery to represent the central cavity and results in a lower resistance to flow. A diagram of this geometry is shown in Figure 2.1(a).

Specifically, we choose the placentone dimensions such that the width and longest height are the same at $40 \,\mathrm{mm}$ [8, 12]. Lecarpentier et al. [8] take the diameters of arteries and veins to be 2 mm. However, Burton et al. [14] instead opt to use an artery that changes in size along the length of the artery, which is consistent with physiological observations. We choose to adopt the latter approach. Following [14], we apply arterial boundary conditions at a distance of 10 mm from the basal plate, and take the artery diameter to be 0.5 mm which linearly diverges in the last 3 mm to a 2.4 mm opening. We also choose a different vein diameter to that of [12], as veins are typically smaller than arteries¹. We therefore assume veins have a diameter of 1.5 mm and we apply venous boundary conditions at a distance of 1.5 mm from the basal plate. Sharp corners close to the arteries and veins are filleted with a small radius². We also centre-align the inlet, and take the outlets with 8 mm between their centres and the side walls. We additionally add a semi-elliptical region directly above the inlet to represent the central cavity, which is a region free of villous tree structure, and is taken to have a semi-major axis length of 10 mm and semi-minor axis length of 5 mm with its centre at the top of the inlet. The region outside this is the IVS which is surrounded by villous tree material.

To aid later discussions of this geometry, we split the domain into several nonoverlapping subdomains, as illustrated in Figure 2.1(b). The central cavity subdomain is denoted as $\Omega_{\rm CC}$, the vein subdomain with $\Omega_{\rm v}$, the artery subdomain as $\Omega_{\rm a}$, and the IVS subdomain as $\Omega_{\rm IVS}$; we also have an inner and outer cavity transition region, respectively denoted by $\Omega_{\rm T^-}$ and $\Omega_{\rm T^+}$. The whole domain is constructed of the union of these non-overlapping subdomains, denoted as $\Omega = \Omega_{\rm CC} \cup \Omega_{\rm v} \cup \Omega_{\rm a} \cup \Omega_{\rm IVS} \cup \Omega_{\rm T^-} \cup \Omega_{\rm T^+}$. The boundary of the domain is $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$. The inlet edge at the bottom of $\Omega_{\rm a}$ is denoted as $\Gamma_{\rm in} \subset \Gamma$, and the outlet edges at the bottom of $\Omega_{\rm v}$ are denoted as $\Gamma_{\rm out} \subset \Gamma$.

¹Provided by private correspondence with Lopa Leach (lopa.leach@nottingham.ac.uk).

 $^{^{2}}$ Filleting in this context refers to smoothing sharp corners of the geometry. See, for example, the top-left inset in Figure 2.1(a) where corners of the vein are filleted.



Figure 2.1: Not to scale. Diagrams illustrating the 2D placentone geometry introduced in §2.1.1. (a) Diagram illustrating a simple 2D geometry for a single placentone with dimensions. The red box shows a zoomed-in view of the inlet location, and the blue box shows a zoomed-in view of one of the veins. (b) Diagram illustrating subdomains corresponding to Ω and its subdomains. The coloured boxes again show zoomed-in views with Γ_{in} and Γ_{out} indicated. Sizes of the cavity transition region are illustrated using s_0 , s_1 , and s_2 , and sizes of the vein transition region are illustrated only for y_0 for ease of presentation; these sizes are used in Appendix A to define Ψ .

2.1.2 2D placenta

A shortcoming of the single placentone model geometry described above is that flux of blood between neighbouring placentones is necessarily neglected, and additional drainage due to septal wall veins and marginal sinus veins have not been considered in flow models. We therefore present work on a physiologically representative 2D slice of a whole human placenta. This geometry consists of six adjacent placentones that are placed along an arc of a circle and is illustrated in 2.2(a).

To be precise, we assume a typical 3D placenta to be a spherical cap with a diameter of 220 mm and maximum height of 36.26 mm, containing 30–60 placentones with widths decreasing toward the periphery [6, 7, 9]. We therefore estimated that a 2D planar cross-section could contain approximately 6 placentones. We note that this assumes that this cross-section intersects perfectly through the centre of all inlets and outlets, and note that 6 placentones is possibly an under- or over-estimate of the true number found in a 2D slice; taking the image shown in Figure 1.1(a) as an example, we see that the numbers and sizes of placentones may vary greatly depending upon where the slice is taken; values from the literature also suggest that the number of placentones vary greatly from placentato-placenta [6, 9, 40]. We assume that there are impermeable walls (septal walls) of width 3 mm and heights of either 6.90 mm or 14.07 mm between placentones [11], with the two choices of height distinguishing between taller walls found between lobes and shorter walls found between lobules. We assume that all 6 placentones are located on an arc of a circle of centre $\mathbf{p} \equiv (p_1, p_2)^{\mathsf{T}}$, which is constructed such that the maximum height is 36.26 mm [7]; we note that the figures quoted here are to two decimal places, as they are averages over many samples. We have also added two corner outlets (called marginal sinuses) of widths 3 mm in order to model additional drainage in each of the corners [13]. Following the work of several previous authors, we assume that placentones contain at most one artery and two veins on the basal plate of each placentone, where arteries diverge as they meet the central cavity [8, 12, 14]. We will also assume that septal walls contains at most 1 vein on the left side, top, and right side of each septal wall. Furthermore, we reduce the size of the placentones as they get closer to the periphery, with horizontal widths 40 mm, 33.85 mm, and 28.65 mm from inner-most to outer-most placentones, forming a geometric progression. Central cavities are also added above arteries, which are normally-oriented to the basal plate, and decrease in size toward the periphery in proportion to the placentone widths. Each central cavity is created by an ellipse of semi-major axis 10 mm and semi-minor axis $5 \,\mathrm{mm}$ that is tangential to a line passing directly through its spiral artery – note that, unlike the 2D placentone, the cavity edges may not be normal where they meet the basal plate. We fillet the domain and split into non-overlapping subdomains, as done for the placentone geometry. These regions are illustrated in Figure 2.2(b).

We highlight that this 2D placenta geometry is a first-step towards modelling organscale maternal blood that respects larger structural features such as septal walls and marginal sinus veins. In contrast with previous studies on a placentone geometry, we allow the basal plate arteries, basal plate veins, and septal wall veins to be placed in any position along the basal plate, subject to a small number of constraints.

This thesis will make use of the 2D placentone and placenta geometries in the following places. §3.4.1 will initially make use of the placentone geometry with one artery and two veins, all of which remain in nominal positions along the basal plate. Next, §3.4.2 will take the placenta geometry with one artery and *one* vein per placentone, in order to create an asymmetric flow pattern. §4.2 will relax the assumption of the regular positioning and number of vessels, instead allowing any combination of vessels in any position. Chapters 5 and 6 take the asymmetric placenta problem from §3.4.2 to respectively compute MRI signals from simulated placental flow and compute flow on a contracting placenta.

2.2 Blood flow model

Previous authors using macro-scale models for maternal blood flow take flow through the villous tree as porous flow, and to treat other flows as 'free' flow. Here, we will introduce a model that respects this approach, and make comparisons to other popular choices in the literature [8, 12, 16, 52, 54] in §2.2.2 and 2.2.3.

One of the main contributions of this thesis is to use the Navier-Stokes-Darcy (NSD) equations to model maternal blood flow on a 2D placenta geometry. Whilst there is work that uses NSD and related models [65–68], as far as we are aware there is only one work that uses a single Navier-Stokes-type PDE to model flow in the context of the placenta [54]. This approach is advantageous for the numerical methods we will employ, gives a physiologically sensible transition region between 'free' and porous flow, and avoids non-physical boundary layers that may occur when coupling, for example, the Navier-Stokes and Brinkman equations [62]. To be clear, our model of maternal blood flow is: find \mathbf{u}, p such that

$$\rho \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} + \Psi \frac{\mu}{k} \mathbf{u} + \rho (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} - \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \nabla p = \mathbf{f}_{\mathrm{f}} \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (2.1a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (2.1b)$$

where the problem is supplemented with a suitable initial condition and boundary conditions (to be given in §2.2.1), ρ is the density of the fluid, μ is the dynamic viscosity, $\mathbf{f}_{\rm f}$ is a body force acting on the flow, and the coefficient of the reaction term varies spatially, i.e., $\Psi(\mathbf{x})\frac{\mu}{k}$. We assign $\Psi = 1$ in areas of villous tree, $\Psi = 0$ in areas of no villous tree, with a smooth



(b)

Figure 2.2: Not to scale. Diagrams illustrating the 2D placenta geometry introduced in §2.1.2. (a) Diagram illustrating the dimensions associated with the 2D placenta geometry. This shows larger placentones with diameter 40 mm near the centre, placentones of diameter 33.85 mm in the middle, and smaller placentones of diameter 28.65 mm near the periphery. Walls of two different heights are included between the six placentones. The red box shows a zoomed-in view of the spiral artery's dimensions, which are now rotated to be perpendicular to the basal plate. One blue box shows the dimensions associated with the smaller basal plate and septal wall veins, whilst the other shows the dimensions associated with the larger marginal sinus vein. Overall, each placentone contains at most one artery and two basal plate veins, and each wall contains at most three septal wall veins. Green arrows show how arteries and veins may be omitted. (b) Diagram illustrating the sub-regions of Ω on the 2D placenta geometry, with transition region sizes indicated. The coloured boxes again show zoomed-in views with Γ_{in} and Γ_{out} indicated.



Figure 2.3: Diagram illustrating Ψ on a placentone as described in §2.2. Blue regions correspond to $\Psi = 0$ and red regions correspond to $\Psi = 1$. The definition of Ψ is formally presented in Appendix A. The value is dependent upon the subregions of Ω and transition sizes that are illustrated in Figure 2.1.

transition on the region in between. The shape of this smooth transition follows a tanh profile. Figure 2.3 illustrates an example of the profile of Ψ in the placentone geometry, and Appendix A contains the details on the precise definition of this function.

Through the remainder of §2.2, we will define two alternative blood flow models, as these form common choices in the current literature, and present the boundary conditions and parameters we will use in these problems. Approximations to these problems will then be compared later in §3.4; for simplicity, these comparisons will consider only the steady-state equations. We will consider:

- §2.2.1: Boundary conditions and model parameters common to all flow problems,
- §2.2.2: Brinkman in $\Omega_{\text{IVS}} \cup \Omega_{T^+}$ and Stokes in $\Omega \setminus (\Omega_{\text{IVS}} \cup \Omega_{T^+})$,
- §2.2.3: Navier-Stokes-Darcy in $\Omega_{\text{IVS}} \cup \Omega_{T^+}$ and Navier-Stokes in $\Omega \setminus (\Omega_{\text{IVS}} \cup \Omega_{T^+})$.

2.2.1 Boundary conditions and placenta parameters

For all velocity model choices, we prescribe the same boundary conditions: a parabolic inflow velocity profile, with a 'directional do-nothing' condition on outflow, and no velocity slip elsewhere. These choices correspond to boundary conditions of the form

$$\begin{split} (\mu \nabla \mathbf{u} - p \mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{n} &= \mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f,N}} \text{ on } \Gamma_{\mathrm{out}}, \\ \mathbf{u} &= \mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f,D}} \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{\mathrm{out}}, \end{split}$$

Parameter	Description	Nominal value	Range	Reference
b_1, a_1	Axes of central cavity	$10\mathrm{mm}$ and $5\mathrm{mm}$		[8]
	Artery location	$20\mathrm{mm}$ (from side)		[8, 12]
	Vein location	$8\mathrm{mm}$ (from side)		[8, 12]
$2r_a$	Artery width (mouth)	$2.4\mathrm{mm}$	$0.5 3\mathrm{mm}$	[14]
	Artery width (upstream)	$0.5\mathrm{mm}$		[14]
$2r_v$	Vein width	$1.5\mathrm{mm}$		
$2r_v^{\rm ms}$	Marginal sinus vein width	$3\mathrm{mm}$		
	Central cavity width	$10\mathrm{mm}$		[8, 12]
au	Central cavity transition	$4.8\mathrm{mm}$		
	Vein transition	$1.2\mathrm{mm}$		
	Small septal wall heights	$6.90\mathrm{mm}$	$5.26–9.54\mathrm{mm}$	[11]
	Tall septal wall heights	$14.07\mathrm{mm}$	$12.1517.75\mathrm{mm}$	[11]
	Number of arteries (3D)		30—150	[6, 12, 14]
	Number of veins (3D)		50—200	[12]
	Number of placentones (3D)		30—60	[6, 10]

 Table 2.1: Placental structural parameter nominal values and ranges found in the placental literature.

where $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$ is labelled in Figures 2.1(b) and 2.2(b), and $\mathbf{n}(\mathbf{x})$ is the unit outwardpointing normal at a point \mathbf{x} . We note that the outflow condition is a common choice used in the numerics community [108, 109]. The boundary conditions themselves are given by

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f},\mathrm{D}} = -U \frac{R^2 - r^2}{R^2} \mathbf{n} \text{ on } \Gamma_{\mathrm{in}}, \qquad (2.3a)$$

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f,N}} = \mathbf{0} \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_{\mathrm{out}}, \tag{2.3b}$$

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f},\mathrm{D}} = \mathbf{0} \qquad \qquad \mathrm{on} \ \Gamma \setminus (\Gamma_{\mathrm{in}} \cup \Gamma_{\mathrm{out}}), \qquad (2.3\mathrm{c})$$

where **n** is the unit outward-pointing normal on Γ_{in} , $r(\mathbf{x})$ is the distance to from a point **x** to the centre of Γ_{in} , R is the artery radius, and U is the maximum flow amplitude at the centre of the inlet.

Tables 2.1 and 2.2 give lists of parameters used throughout this thesis' analyses, where the nominal values listed are used in all simulations unless otherwise stated.

§2.2.2 and §2.2.3 will now outline two alternative models of maternal blood flow, taken directly from, or closely related to, those chosen in the literature.

Parameter	Description	Nominal value	Range	Reference
L	Placentone width	$4 \times 10^{-2} \mathrm{m}$	$1-4 \times 10^{-2} \mathrm{m}$	[8, 12]
k	Villous tree permeability	$1 \times 10^{-8} \mathrm{m}^2$	$1-0.0001 \times 10^{-6} \mathrm{m}^2$	[8, 12]
μ	Blood viscosity	$4 \times 10^{-3} \mathrm{Pas}$		[12]
ho	Blood density	$1 imes 10^3 \mathrm{kg/m^3}$		[12]
D	Oxygen diffusivity	$1.667 \times 10^{-5} \mathrm{m^2/s}$	$1-1.667 \times 10^{-5} \mathrm{m^2/s}$	[12, 110]
R	Oxygen uptake	$1.667 \times 10^{-2} \mathrm{s}^{-1}$		[12]
	Artery blood speed (mouth)	$0.1\mathrm{ms^{-1}}$	$0.037 – 0.3 \mathrm{m s^{-1}}$	[12, 14, 17, 111]
U	Artery blood speed (upstream)	$0.35{ m ms^{-1*}}$	$0.5 4\mathrm{ms^{-1}}$	[12, 14, 16]

Table 2.2: Maternal blood parameter nominal values and ranges found in the placental literature. *The upstream speed of $0.35 \,\mathrm{m\,s^{-1}}$ was selected such that flow at the mouth is approximately $0.1 \,\mathrm{m\,s^{-1}}$.

2.2.2 Stokes and Brinkman (S-B)

We solve Brinkman in the IVS, and Stokes elsewhere: find \mathbf{u}, p such that

$$\frac{\mu}{k}\mathbf{u} - \mu\nabla^2\mathbf{u} + \nabla p = \mathbf{0} \text{ in } \Omega_{\text{IVS}} \cup \Omega_{T^+}, \qquad (2.4a)$$

$$-\mu\nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \boldsymbol{\nabla} p = \mathbf{0} \text{ in } \Omega \setminus (\Omega_{\text{IVS}} \cup \Omega_{T^+}), \qquad (2.4b)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \tag{2.4c}$$

with boundary conditions given in Equation 2.3. This is the simplest of the three velocity models, and the only model which is linear everywhere. This model is related to work by Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12] and Erian, Corrsin, and Davis [52] who use Darcy's law. We opted to use the Brinkman equation instead of Darcy's law in the porous region for two reasons: firstly, Brinkman captures the drag effects associated with resistance of flow through the villous tree, and secondly, allows for simple application of interface conditions due to both equations being of the same order [62].

2.2.3 Navier-Stokes and Navier-Stokes-Darcy (NS-NSD)

We solve steady-state Navier-Stokes-Darcy in the IVS, and steady-state Navier-Stokes elsewhere: find \mathbf{u}, p such that

$$\frac{\mu}{k}\mathbf{u} + \rho(\mathbf{u}\cdot\boldsymbol{\nabla})\mathbf{u} - \mu\nabla^2\mathbf{u} + \boldsymbol{\nabla}p = \mathbf{0} \text{ in } \Omega_{\text{IVS}} \cup \Omega_{T^+}, \qquad (2.5a)$$

$$\rho(\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u} - \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \nabla p = \mathbf{0} \text{ in } \Omega \setminus (\Omega_{\text{IVS}} \cup \Omega_{T^+}), \qquad (2.5b)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \tag{2.5c}$$

with boundary conditions given in Equation 2.3. This example follows work by Lecarpentier et al. [8] who use Navier-Stokes and Brinkman, and Saghian et al. [16] who use a related model of Navier-Stokes and Darcy, which therefore makes this a useful benchmark model. We note here that this model is the sharp interface case of steady-state NSD.

2.3 Oxygen transport model

We focus on modelling transport of oxygen from maternal blood to fetal blood. We model this using a reaction-advection-diffusion equation for oxygen concentration, where the advective velocity is the blood flow field obtained from §2.2 (NSD).

The reaction-advection-diffusion equation is given by: find c such that

$$\frac{\partial c}{\partial t} - D\nabla^2 c + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot (\mathbf{u}c) + \Psi Rc = f_c \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (2.6)$$

where t is time, D is a scalar diffusion coefficient, R is a reaction coefficient, $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x})$ is a prescribed convective transport velocity on Ω obtained from the approximation to Equation (2.1), f_c is a body force, c is a concentration with $c(\mathbf{x}) \in [0, 1]$, and $\Psi(\mathbf{x})$ is the smooth transition function from §2.2. We note that consider the same transition function Ψ from the blood flow model here, as this corresponds to the presence of fetal tree. To this reaction-advection-diffusion equation, we apply a Dirichlet condition specifying an inlet concentration, and a zero Neumann condition elsewhere. Boundary conditions are applied of the form

$$c = g_{c,D} \text{ on } \Gamma_{in},$$
 $abla c \cdot \mathbf{n} = g_{c,N} \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{in}$

The boundary conditions are given as

$$g_{\rm c,D} = 1 \text{ on } \Gamma_{\rm in}, \tag{2.8a}$$

$$g_{\rm c,N} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{\rm in}.$$
 (2.8b)

2.4 Summary

In this chapter, we have introduced models of maternal blood flow and oxygen transport in the human placenta, along with accompanying physiological geometries that capture the main structural features of the placenta.

Taking inspiration from Lecarpentier et al. [8], we first introduced a placentone geometry, representing a smaller functional unit of the placenta. Differing from previous work with maternal blood flow on placentones, we included a diverging spiral artery that respects the natural widening of the artery as it meets the placenta [14], along with veins that are smaller than the relatively wide arteries. We secondly introduced a geometry that represents a 2D slice through a whole placenta, which captures structural features of the placenta on a larger scale. We remarked that our geometry is an idealisation of reality, since the number of placentones can vary greatly from placenta-to-placenta and also depends upon how the slice is taken; the 2D slice further assumes that vessels are perfectly aligned with the slice. Nevertheless, this geometry allowed us to include septal walls, decreasing placentone width towards the periphery, and additional drainage veins, which matches physiological observations and goes a step beyond the current mathematical models of 2D maternal flow in the placenta.

Following work by Mekler et al. [54], we next introduced a Navier-Stokes-type mathematical model of maternal blood flow in the placenta, where the resistance due to the presence of the fetal villous tree varies smoothly throughout the domain. This model is advantageous for the numerical methods we will employ, and gives a physiologically sensible transition region between 'free' and porous flow. We also introduced two alternative models of blood flow, which will be compared in §3.4.1.

Next, we introduced a simple model of oxygen transport, where the advective velocity is taken from the blood flow model described above, and is similar to the model of Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12]. This is a simple model, which most notably neglects additional oxygen binding dynamics. Other authors model this behaviour in the context of the placenta (see, for example, [40, 48, 54]). For our application, a similar approach would involve a modification to the advection term of our reaction-advection-diffusion equation.

The parameters chosen for the geometry in Table 2.1, and blood flow and oxygen

transport models in Table 2.2, have been selected from the existing placenta literature. Whilst most choices are common in the modelling literature, several of these parameters vary greatly between different experimental studies (see discussion on numbers of arteries and placentones in §1), and changes to some parameters would have a significant impact on modelling results. Later in this thesis, Chapter 4 investigates the effects of variations in some of these parameters have on flow and oxygen transport. However, this is not comprehensive, and does not address some of the modelling assumptions that we have made. For example, we assume that the IVS permeability is uniform outside the central cavity, and that the shape of the central cavity is elliptical; changes in both of these assumptions would likely have an impact on the results presented in this thesis.

This chapter, and the one that follows, underpins almost all the work in the remainder of the thesis. In the chapters that follow, we will use both the Navier-Stokes-Darcy (NSD) and the coupled reaction-advection-diffusion equation on the placenta geometry to study the behaviour of maternal blood flow and oxygen concentration in the placenta. Chapter 3 will first introduce numerical methods for computing approximate solutions to these equations. The thesis then develops in three separate directions. Firstly, Chapter 4 considers variations in both the number and position of vessels on the placenta geometry, in order to quantify the effects on placental function, and also considers variations to six parameters in Tables 2.1 and 2.2. Secondly, Chapter 5 uses a model of magnetic spin evolution on particles advected by our maternal blood flow field, allowing us to compute synthetic MRI measurements on our simulated flow fields, and provides a way to make direct comparisons between our simulations and MRI data. Finally, Chapter 6 introduces a basic model of the newly-discovered placental contractions to investigate its effect on flow and oxygen concentration.

The next chapter will introduce the numerical methods we employ for discretising the Navier-Stokes-Darcy and reaction-advection-diffusion equations.
Chapter 3 Numerical methods

As mentioned in Chapter 1, this work exploits DGFEMs to approximate our PDE solution; we will not detail the full derivation of the symmetric interior penalty DGFEM method that we employ, but we will instead introduce the general idea and some DGFEM-specific notation. Full details can be found in [78, 83].

This chapter will state numerical methods for the blood flow and oxygen transport problems presented in Chapter 2. To be clear, we will detail the numerical discretisation for NSD, given in Equation (2.1), and the reaction-advection-diffusion equation, given in Equation (2.6). Discretisations for the two other velocity models, given in Equations (2.4) and (2.5), can be calculated through simple modifications of the appropriate coefficients in the NSD discretisation. The numerical methods we employ will discretise spatial derivatives using a DGFEM, and discretise temporal derivatives using a first-order backward Euler scheme. DGFEMs form a natural choice for our application due to their handling of complicated geometries, such as the placentone and placenta geometries presented in §2.1, and due to their favourable treatment of hyperbolic terms in the flow and transport problems [83].

The structure for this chapter is as follows. In §3.1, we introduce some preliminaries and notation required for describing our numerical methods. Next, §3.2 presents discretisations of the PDEs introduced in Chapter 2. §3.3 shows convergence of our numerical method at optimal rates. Then, §3.4 presents numerical experiments for our blood flow model, along with detailed comparison to two other related and commonly-chosen models from the literature; this section also presents a problem where placental vessels are placed asymmetrically, which forms the basis of the subsequent analysis in Chapters 5 and 6. §3.5 provides some simple steady-state numerical experiments for the coupled oxygen transport problem; then, §3.6 presents some time-dependent numerical experiments for both the blood flow and oxygen transport problems. Finally, in §3.7 we present an overview of the numerical methods employed, and a short summary of the results from the experiments.

3.1 DGFEM discretisations

We begin by recalling the PDEs of interest from Chapter 2. For the blood flow problem, we have

$$\rho \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} + \Psi \frac{\mu}{k} \mathbf{u} + \rho (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} - \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \nabla p = \mathbf{f}_{\mathrm{f}} \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (2.1 \text{a repeated})$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (2.1b \text{ repeated})$$

with boundary conditions

$$(\mu \nabla \mathbf{u} - p\mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{g}_{f,N} \text{ on } \Gamma_{out},$$

 $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g}_{f,D} \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{out},$

where we recall that Ω is the domain and $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$ is the boundary with $\Gamma_{in} \subset \Gamma$, $\Gamma_{out} \subset \Gamma$, and $\Gamma_{in} \cap \Gamma_{out} = \emptyset$. For the oxygen concentration problem, we have

$$\frac{\partial c}{\partial t} - D\nabla^2 c + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot (\mathbf{u}c) + \Psi Rc = f_c \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (2.6 \text{ repeated})$$

with boundary conditions

$$c = g_{c,D} \text{ on } \Gamma_{in},$$

 $\nabla c \cdot \mathbf{n} = g_{c,N} \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{in}.$

We assume that the domain Ω is open and bounded, with $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, d = 2 and piecewise linear boundary $\partial\Omega$; note that the following notation does not restrict d = 2, but this is a simplification we make in this thesis. Following [83], we denote the mesh by \mathcal{T}_h , which we assume is a shape-regular partition of Ω , which for simplicity consists of non-overlapping d-dimensional open simplicial (i.e., triangles for d = 2) elements, $\kappa \in \mathcal{T}_h$, such that $\overline{\Omega} = \bigcup_{\kappa \in \mathcal{T}_h} \overline{\kappa}$, where $\overline{\kappa}$ denotes the closure of κ ; an example of a computational mesh using triangles is shown in Figure 3.1. We remark that \mathcal{T}_h uses a piecewise linear representation of the boundary of Ω . Writing $r, s \in \mathbb{N}_0$ to denote the polynomial degree on a $\kappa \in \mathcal{T}_h$, we introduce the finite element spaces

$$\mathbf{V}_{h}(\Omega, \mathcal{T}_{h}) := \{ \mathbf{v} \in L^{2}(\Omega)^{d} : \mathbf{v}|_{\kappa} \in \mathcal{P}_{r}(\kappa)^{d}, \kappa \in \mathcal{T}_{h} \},$$
(3.1)

$$Q_h(\Omega, \mathcal{T}_h) := \{ q \in L^2(\Omega) : q |_{\kappa} \in \mathcal{P}_{r-1}(\kappa), \kappa \in \mathcal{T}_h \},$$
(3.2)

$$C_h(\Omega, \mathcal{T}_h) := \{ c \in L^2(\Omega) : c|_{\kappa} \in \mathcal{P}_s(\kappa), \kappa \in \mathcal{T}_h \},$$
(3.3)



Figure 3.1: Diagram illustrates an example 2D mesh using triangular elements.

where $\mathcal{P}_n(\kappa)$, $n \geq 0$, denotes the space of polynomials of total degree n on κ , and $L^2(\Omega)$ denotes the space of square-integrable functions on Ω . We determine approximate solutions to our PDE models by searching for the velocity, pressure, and oxygen concentration in \mathbf{V}_h , Q_h , and C_h , respectively. For notational convenience, we will write these spaces without their arguments throughout Chapter 3 where Ω and \mathcal{T}_h remain fixed; however, we will make use of the notation with arguments in Chapter 6, where the mesh is not fixed due to boundary movement. We note here that the spaces are chosen such that the pressure space, Q_h , has one lower polynomial degree than the velocity space, \mathbf{V}_h ; this ensures that the Babuška-Brezzi inf-sup condition is satisfied [112]. From this point onward, it will be assumed that r = 2 and s = 1 for simplicity.

As the name suggests, DGFEMs admit discontinuities in the approximation of the PDE solution. Following [83], we introduce the notation to describe averages and jumps between adjacent faces — in this context, faces correspond to the (d-1)-dimensional boundaries of each d-dimensional element. There are two types of faces: interior faces and boundary faces; we write $\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}$ to denote interior faces between two elements, and $\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{B}}$ to denote exterior (boundary) faces that lie on $\Gamma \equiv \partial \Omega$. We set $\mathcal{F} := \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{B}} \cup \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}$ and note that $\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{B}} \cap \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}} = \emptyset$.

For matrix, vector, and scalar quantities (respectively, **A**, **u**, and *p*), the average operator defined on an interior face $F = \bar{\kappa}^+ \cap \bar{\kappa}^- \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}$ between two elements $\kappa^+, \kappa^- \in \mathcal{T}_h$, is given by

$$\begin{split} \underline{\{\!\!\{\mathbf{A}\}\!\!\}} &:= \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{A}^+ + \mathbf{A}^-), \\ \overline{\{\!\!\{\mathbf{u}\}\!\!\}} &:= \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{u}^+ + \mathbf{u}^-), \\ \overline{\{\!\!\{p\}\!\!\}} &:= \frac{1}{2} (p^+ + p^-), \end{split}$$

where \cdot^{\pm} denote the trace values of **A**, **u** and *p* from inside element κ^{\pm} . We may similarly

introduce the jump operator for vectors and scalars on an interior face, $F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}$, as

$$\begin{split} \underline{\llbracket \mathbf{u} \rrbracket} &:= \mathbf{u}^+ \otimes \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^+} + \mathbf{u}^- \otimes \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^-}, \\ \underline{\llbracket \mathbf{u} \rrbracket} &:= \mathbf{u}^+ \cdot \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^+} + \mathbf{u}^- \cdot \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^-}, \\ \underline{\llbracket p \rrbracket} &:= p^+ \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^+} + p^- \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^-}, \end{split}$$

where \mathbf{n}_{κ^+} and \mathbf{n}_{κ^-} denote the outward unit normals to κ^+ and κ^- , respectively, on F. Similarly, the average and jump operators on boundary faces, $F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{B}}$, where $F \subset \partial \kappa^+$, are defined as

$$\begin{split} \underbrace{\{\!\{\mathbf{A}\}\!\}} &:= \mathbf{A}^+, \\ &\{\!\{\mathbf{u}\}\!\} := \mathbf{u}^+, \\ &\{\!\{p\}\!\} := p^+, \\ &\underbrace{[\![\mathbf{u}]\!]} &:= \mathbf{u}^+ \otimes \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^+}, \\ &[\![\mathbf{u}]\!] &:= \mathbf{u}^+ \cdot \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^+}, \\ &[\![p]\!] &:= p^+ \mathbf{n}_{\kappa^+}. \end{split}$$

For all simulations in this thesis, we implement our DGFEM solver using AptoFEM [113], which is a general-purpose finite element method software package written in Fortran that permits DGFEM spaces, and interfaces to extremely fast third party matrix-solving packages such as MUMPS [114]. Nonlinear equations are solved using a Newton solver, and linear equations are solved directly by MUMPS. Meshes are generated using Gmsh [115], and solution data is visualised in ParaView [116] and Matplotlib [117].

3.2 Equation discretisations

In Chapter 2, we introduced several PDEs describing fluid flow and oxygen transport. We will now discretise these equations using DGFEM in space and a first-order backward Euler scheme in time for simplicity.

3.2.1 Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation

Here we detail the numerical discretisation for NSD, given in Equation (2.1). Discretisations for the alternative flow models given in Equations (2.4)–(2.5) can be calculated through simple modifications of the appropriate coefficients for the following discretisation. For the spatial discretisation, we use a DGFEM together with a Lax-Friedrichs numerical flux approximation for the nonlinear convection term, following work undertaken by Cliffe, Hall, and Houston [118].

Firstly, we make some definitions to ease the writing of the discretisations. Following a similar procedure to [118–120], we define two bilinear forms:

$$A_{f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) := \mu \int_{\Omega} \nabla_{h} \mathbf{u} : \nabla_{h} \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \mu \int_{\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}} \cup \Gamma_{f, D}} (\{\!\!\{\nabla_{h} \mathbf{v}\}\!\} : \underline{\llbracket \mathbf{u}} \!\rrbracket + \{\!\!\{\nabla_{h} \mathbf{u}\}\!\} : \underline{\llbracket \mathbf{v}} \!\rrbracket) \, \mathrm{d}s + \mu \int_{\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}} \cup \Gamma_{f, D}} \sigma \underline{\llbracket \mathbf{u}} \!\rrbracket : \underline{\llbracket \mathbf{v}} \!\rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

$$(3.4)$$

$$B_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{v},q) := -\int_{\Omega} q \nabla_{h} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \int_{\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}} \cup \Gamma_{\mathrm{f},\mathrm{D}}} \{\!\!\{q\}\!\} \llbracket \mathbf{v} \rrbracket \, \mathrm{d}s, \qquad (3.5)$$

where $\Gamma_{\rm f,D}$, $\Gamma_{\rm f,N} \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{B}}$ denote the boundary faces on the Dirichlet and Neumann boundaries, respectively, $\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{V}_h$, $p, q \in Q_h$, σ is the DGFEM symmetric interior penalty parameter, and ∇_h denotes the broken gradient operator: the usual gradient operator, ∇ , defined element-wise. We note that in the finite element context, \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{v} respectively correspond to the so-called trial and test functions in the space of \mathbf{V}_h . We define $|\kappa|$ to denote the area of an element, and |F| to denote the length of a face. For the triangular meshes we are working with in this thesis, we select $\sigma = 10\frac{r^2}{h}$ [83, 121, 122], computed locally on a face with total degree r and mesh width h, which for $F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}$ is calculated as

$$h|_F := \min\left(\frac{|\kappa^+|}{h_\perp^+}, \frac{|\kappa^-|}{h_\perp^-}\right),$$

and for $F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{B}}$ is calculated as

$$h|_F := \frac{|\kappa^+|}{h_\perp^+},$$

where

$$h_{\perp}^{\pm} := \frac{|\kappa^{\pm}|}{|F|},$$

and κ^+ and κ^- are the neighbouring elements to the face. Loosely speaking, h_{\perp} can be thought of as the orthogonal distance from a face to the opposite mesh vertex.

We must also introduce a semilinear form that approximates the nonlinear advection term that appears in Equations (1.2) and (1.5). We firstly introduce the function

$$\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma} := \begin{cases} \mathbf{u}^{-} & \text{on } \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}, \\ \mathbf{u}^{+} & \text{on } \Gamma_{\mathrm{f,N}}, \\ \mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f,D}} & \text{on } \Gamma_{\mathrm{f,D}}. \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

We now introduce the Lax-Friedrichs flux for $F \in \mathcal{F}$ given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{+},\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n})|_{F} := \frac{1}{2}((\mathbf{u}^{+}\otimes\mathbf{u}^{+})\cdot\mathbf{n} + (\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}\otimes\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma})\cdot\mathbf{n} + \alpha(\mathbf{u}^{+}-\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma})), \qquad (3.7)$$

where $\alpha := 2 \max(|\mathbf{u}^+ \cdot \mathbf{n}|, |\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma} \cdot \mathbf{n}|)$. Details regarding the derivation of α can be found in Appendix C. The aforementioned semilinear form is then defined by

$$C_{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) := -\rho \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathbf{u}) : \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{h} \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \rho \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \int_{F} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{+}, \mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}, \mathbf{n}_{F}) \cdot \mathbf{v}^{+} \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$-\rho \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}} \int_{F} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{+}, \mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}, \mathbf{n}_{F}) \cdot \mathbf{v}^{-} \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad (3.8)$$

where $\mathcal{F} \equiv \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{B}} \cup \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}$ is the set of all faces, and \mathbf{n}_{F} is the unit outward-pointing normal on a face F.

A simple bilinear form is also introduced for the reaction term:

$$M_{\rm f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) := \frac{\mu}{k} \int_{\Omega} \Psi \ \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \tag{3.9}$$

We finally define the following functionals for imposing the forcing function and boundary conditions:

$$F_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{D}},\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{N}}}(\mathbf{v}) := \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{f}} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \int_{\Gamma_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{N}} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{D}}} (\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{D}} \otimes \mathbf{n}) : \nabla_{h} \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}s + \sigma \int_{\Gamma_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{D}}} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{D}} \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad (3.10)$$

$$G_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{D}}}(q) := \int_{\Gamma_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{D}}} q \, \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{D}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.11)

The steady-state (i.e., $\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \equiv \mathbf{0}$) Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation is then given by: find $(\mathbf{u}_h, p_h) \in (\mathbf{V}_h, Q_h)$ such that

$$\underbrace{\widetilde{A}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h},\mathbf{v}_{h})}_{diffusion} + \underbrace{\widetilde{C}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h},\mathbf{v}_{h})}_{dif(\mathbf{u}_{h},\mathbf{v}_{h})} + \underbrace{\widetilde{M}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h},\mathbf{v}_{h})}_{f(\mathbf{u}_{h},\mathbf{v}_{h})} + \underbrace{\widetilde{B}_{f}(\mathbf{v}_{h},p_{h})}_{f(\mathbf{v}_{h},p_{h})} - \underbrace{\widetilde{B}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h},q_{h})}_{forcing and boundary conditions} = \underbrace{\widetilde{F}_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D},\mathbf{g}_{f,N}}(\mathbf{v}_{h}) - G_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D}}(q_{h})}, \quad (3.12)$$

for all $(\mathbf{v}_h, q_h) \in (\mathbf{V}_h, Q_h)$. The label on each term shows how each term in the discretisation relates back to the original PDE. We note here that the boundary conditions are applied weakly, in which the approximate solution is not required to satisfy the boundary conditions exactly, and instead enforces the boundary conditions through additional terms in the discretisation [123]. For the *time-dependent* Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation, we first state the weak formulation of the momentum equation in the form:

$$\rho \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{u}, p) \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \qquad (3.13)$$

where \mathcal{L} is the spatial differential operator for all terms beside the time derivative of the momentum equation for NSD, given in Equation (2.1a). We define the following bilinear form for this term:

$$L_{\rm f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) := \rho \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(3.14)

Assuming the RHS of Equation (3.13) is discretised in space as presented in Equation (3.12), we have a choice on how the time derivative is discretised. As is generally standard in the FEM literature, we discretise the time derivative term using a finite difference method, and for simplicity use a simple first-order backward Euler approximation. For uniform time-stepping, this involves choosing a constant step size Δt , which defines the distance between subsequent approximations at times $\{t^0 + n\Delta t \mid n \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}\}$, where t^0 is the initial time. The backward Euler method is derived from making an approximation of the form:

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}^{n+1}}{\partial t} \approx \frac{\mathbf{u}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}^n}{\Delta t},\tag{3.15}$$

and approximating the right-hand side of Equation (3.13) at time t^{n+1} , where $\{\mathbf{u}^n | n \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}\}$ are subsequent approximations of **u** in time. For our problem, this equates to:

$$\rho \int_{\Omega} \frac{(\mathbf{u}^{n+1} - \mathbf{u}^n) \cdot \mathbf{v}}{\Delta t} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, p^{n+1}) \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$

We introduce an additional bilinear form definition to make use of this approximation:

$$E_{\rm f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) := \frac{\rho}{\Delta t} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \tag{3.16}$$

The time-dependent Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation is then given by: find $(\mathbf{u}_h^{n+1}, p_h^{n+1}) \in (\mathbf{V}_h, Q_h)$ such that

$$\underbrace{E_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h}) - E_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n},\mathbf{v}_{h})}_{\text{frequence}} + \underbrace{A_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h})}_{\text{incompressibility}} + \underbrace{C_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h})}_{\text{forcing and boundary conditions}} + \underbrace{M_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h})}_{\text{forcing and boundary conditions}} + \underbrace{B_{f}(\mathbf{v}_{h},p_{h}^{n+1})}_{B_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},q_{h})} = \underbrace{F_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D},\mathbf{g}_{f,N}}(\mathbf{v}_{h}) - G_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D}}(q_{h})}_{F_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D},\mathbf{g}_{f,N}}(\mathbf{v}_{h}) - G_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D}}(q_{h})}, \quad (3.17)$$

for all $(\mathbf{v}_h, q_h) \in (\mathbf{V}_h, Q_h)$, given the DGFEM approximation of the velocity at the previous time-step, $\mathbf{u}_h^n \in \mathbf{V}_h$, $n \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$, including an initial condition of \mathbf{u}_h^0 . For the time-dependent simulations presented later in this thesis, we obtain \mathbf{u}_h^0 from the steady-state

Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation presented in Equation (3.12).

Discretisations for the other blood flow models can be written by simple modification of the coefficients on each term of the NSD discretisation.

3.2.2 Reaction-advection-diffusion discretisation

The discretisation for the reaction-advection-diffusion equation given in Equation (2.6) is similar to the one given above for the velocity approximation. In particular, we will again use a DGFEM for the spatial discretisation. The main difference with the oxygen transport model is that the convection term is linear, as **u** is known a priori due to a one-way coupling between the blood velocity and oxygen transport models.

Similar to the definition of $A_{\rm f}$ for the velocity model discretisation, we follow work by Cangiani et al. [83] and define

$$A_{c}(c,\eta) := D \int_{\Omega} \nabla_{h} c \cdot \nabla_{h} \eta \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - D \int_{\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}} \cup \Gamma_{c,D}} (\{\!\{\nabla_{h} c\}\!\} \cdot [\![\eta]\!] + \{\!\{\nabla_{h} \eta\}\!\} \cdot [\![c]\!]) \, \mathrm{d}s + D \int_{\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}} \cup \Gamma_{c,D}} \sigma[\![c]\!] \cdot [\![\eta]\!] \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad (3.18)$$

where we again select $\sigma = 10 \frac{s^2}{h}$ on a face with total degree s and mesh width h, and $c, \eta \in C_h$, and $\Gamma_{c,D}, \Gamma_{c,N} \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{B}}$ denote the boundary faces of the Dirichlet and Neumann boundaries, respectively, for the oxygen concentration problem.

The advection discretisation term for the reaction-advection-diffusion equation is simpler than that of the velocity model, as it is linear in c. We firstly introduce the function

$$c_{\Gamma} := \begin{cases} c^{-} & \text{on } \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}, \\ c^{+} & \text{on } \Gamma_{c,N}, \\ g_{c,D} & \text{on } \Gamma_{c,D}. \end{cases}$$
(3.19)

We also introduce the Lax-Friedrichs flux for $F \in \mathcal{F}$ by

$$\mathcal{H}_{c}(c^{+},c_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n})|_{F} := \frac{1}{2}((\mathbf{u}^{+}\cdot\mathbf{n})c^{+} + (\mathbf{u}^{-}\cdot\mathbf{n})c_{\Gamma} + \alpha(c^{+}-c_{\Gamma})), \qquad (3.20)$$

where $\alpha := |\{\!\!\{\mathbf{u}\}\!\!\} \cdot \mathbf{n}|$. The bilinear form for this advection term is then given by

$$C_{c}(c,\eta;\mathbf{u}) := -\int_{\Omega} c \,\mathbf{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{h} \eta \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \int_{F} \mathcal{H}_{c}(c^{+},c_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n}_{F})\eta^{+} \,\mathrm{d}s$$
$$-\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}} \int_{F} \mathcal{H}_{c}(c^{+},c_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n}_{F})\eta^{-} \,\mathrm{d}s. \quad (3.21)$$

Two simple bilinear forms must also be introduced for the reaction and time terms, respectively given as:

$$M_{\rm c}(c,\eta) := R \int_{\Omega} \Psi \ c \ \eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x},\tag{3.22}$$

$$L_{\rm c}(c,\eta) := \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial c}{\partial t} \ \eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \tag{3.23}$$

We once again employ a simple first-order backward Euler approximation of the time derivative, which is used by defining:

$$E_{\rm c}(c,\eta) := \frac{1}{\Delta t} \int_{\Omega} c \ \eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \tag{3.24}$$

We finally define the following functional for imposing the boundary conditions:

$$F_{c,g_{c,D},g_{c,N}}(\eta) := \int_{\Omega} f_{c}\eta \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \int_{\Gamma_{c,N}} g_{c,N} \eta \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma_{f,D}} g_{c,D} \left(\nabla_{h}\eta \cdot \mathbf{n}\right) \, \mathrm{d}s + \sigma \int_{\Gamma_{c,D}} g_{c,D} \eta \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.25)

The *time-dependent* reaction-advection-diffusion equation is given by: find $c_h^{n+1} \in C_h$ such that

$$\underbrace{E_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h}) - E_{c}(c_{h}^{n},\eta_{h})}_{\text{forcing and boundary conditions}} + \underbrace{A_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h})}_{\text{diffusion}} + \underbrace{C_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h};\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1})}_{\text{forcing and boundary conditions}} + \underbrace{M_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h})}_{\text{forcing and boundary conditions}}$$
(3.26)

for all $\eta_h \in C_h$, given \mathbf{u}_h^{n+1} , where \mathbf{u}_h^{n+1} is the approximation to Equation (3.12) at time level t^{n+1} , given c_h^n , $n \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$, including an initial condition of c_h^0 . We note that the *steady-state* discretisation involves simply discarding the time terms given in Equation (3.26).

We will now perform a convergence study through mesh refinement using the method of manufactured solutions in order to verify our implementation of these numerical methods.

3.3 Convergence to analytical solution

Here, we will briefly test our code that implements the numerical discretisations of the Navier-Stokes-Darcy equation (Equation (2.1)) and the reaction-advection-diffusion equation (Equation (2.6)) using the method of manufactured solution (MMS). We will show that we obtain optimal convergence rates through mesh and time-step refinement.

MMS is one commonly employed method for verifying correct implementation of finite

element code [124]. The overarching aim of MMS is to select an analytical solution that solves the PDE that has been discretised, where this solution is of sufficient complexity to ensure that all derivatives are properly exercised. By taking the approximate solutions that arise from the discretisation, we may then measure an error between the exact and approximate solutions. By computing successively higher resolution approximations, we may study the behaviour of the error, for which there are typically so-called 'a priori' error bounds that describe the rate at which the error should decrease.

Our approach to this involves selecting an appropriate analytical solution for the velocity, pressure, and oxygen concentration fields (\mathbf{u} , p, c, respectively), then setting the forcing function equal to the residual of the PDE with these solutions. In order to test the discretisations in both space and time, we separately increase the resolution and study the corresponding convergence rates in the L^2 -norm.

We specifically select analytical solutions on domain Ω :

$$u_1 := -\cos(t)(y\cos(y) + \sin(y))\exp(x),$$
 (3.27a)

$$u_2 := \cos(t)y\sin(y)\exp(x), \qquad (3.27b)$$

$$p := \cos(t)2\exp(x)\sin(y), \qquad (3.27c)$$

$$c := \cos(t) \exp(x - y), \qquad (3.27d)$$

where $\mathbf{u} \equiv (u_1, u_2)^{\mathsf{T}}$, and boundary conditions are appropriately selected. We then select forcing functions \mathbf{f}_{f} and f_c such that these analytical solutions solve the PDEs. Between each approximate and exact solution, we calculate $\|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_h\|_{L^2}$, $\|p - p_h\|_{L^2}$, and $\|c - c_h\|_{L^2}$, where the L^2 -norm over Ω is defined as

$$\|u\|_{L^2} := \sqrt{\int_{\Omega} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}}.\tag{3.28}$$

For simplicity, in these tests we set all problem coefficients for Equations (2.1) and (2.6) to unity, the final time T = 1, the time-step $\Delta t := 0.01$, and $\Omega := [0, 1]^2$.

For the numerical methods presented here, we expect spatial convergence rates in the L^2 -norm between an exact and approximate solution of $\mathcal{O}(h^{p+1})$ [83], where h is related to element widths and p is the (fixed) polynomial degree of the space, and temporal convergence rates of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta t)$ due to the first-order time-stepping scheme. For the solution spaces we have chosen in Equation (3.3) with r = 2 and s = 1, we therefore expect

$$||\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_h||_{L^2} = \mathcal{O}(h^3) + \mathcal{O}(\Delta t), \qquad (3.29a)$$

$$||p - p_h||_{L^2} = \mathcal{O}(h^2) + \mathcal{O}(\Delta t), \qquad (3.29b)$$

$$||c - c_h||_{L^2} = \mathcal{O}(h^2) + \mathcal{O}(\Delta t).$$
 (3.29c)



Figure 3.2: Visualisations of the convergence rates of the tests outlined in §3.3. Graphs show (a) spatial convergence, and (b) temporal convergence of the velocity, pressure, and oxygen concentration fields.

Clearly, spatial or temporal errors may dominate depending upon the chosen discretisation parameters, so we select a small Δt when investigating spatial convergence, and select a small h when investigating temporal convergence.

We use N_{DoF} to denote the number of degrees of freedom associated with the Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation, which in 2D with fixed polynomial degrees is related to the mesh width by

$$N_{\rm DoF} \propto h^{-2}$$
.

Figures 3.2(a) and 3.2(b) respectively present the convergence rates under spatial and temporal refinement, which agree with the expected rates from Equation (3.29).

We will now present further numerical experiments on physical problems. For the remainder of the thesis, we will set $\mathbf{f}_{\rm f} \equiv \mathbf{0}$ and $f_{\rm c} \equiv 0$, except in Chapter 6 where we again use MMS.

3.4 Blood flow numerical experiments

One of the key contributions of this thesis is employing the Navier-Stokes-Darcy (NSD) equation for modelling maternal blood flow on a 2D whole-organ placenta geometry. §3.4.1 will therefore present this model alongside two other common choices in the literature, highlighting the difference in behaviour between each model. §3.4.2 will then present only the NSD flow model on a placenta geometry with vessels placed asymmetrically, which will be used as the basis of the investigations in Chapters 5 and 6.

3.4.1 Model comparison

We select model parameters from Tables 2.1 and 2.2 and use the discretisations from §3.2 to approximate solutions to the NSD model, as well as the two other models discussed in §2.2.2 and §2.2.3. For simplicity, we consider only the *steady-state* versions $\left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \equiv \mathbf{0}\right)$ all three flow models, and assume that vessels in the placenta geometry are located only on the basal plate and appear symmetrically. We approximate solutions on both the placentone and placenta geometries. A side-by-side comparison is shown for the 2D placentone and 2D placenta geometries in Figures 3.3 and 3.4, respectively.

Focussing firstly on the simulation using NSD on a placentone presented in Figure 3.3(a), the flow is symmetric about the artery, forming two small recirculation zones in the central cavity (CC). The flow then decelerates as it passes from the CC to the IVS, with some of the flow decelerating even further as it passes higher up into the IVS. The flow then accelerates again when exiting through one of the two basal plate veins. It is worth mentioning that the colours corresponding to the velocity magnitude here are given on a logarithmic scale, rather than a linear scale. This is because the flows presented here decelerate very quickly after leaving the artery, due to the low permeability of the IVS (see Table 2.2 and §2.2). By plotting on a logarithmic scale, we can more clearly see the behaviour of the fluid in all regions of the domain. To demonstrate this, the same simulation from Figure 3.3(a) is plotted again on a linear scale in Figure 3.5, where almost all the flow appears close to zero outside of the artery. We notice that by visualising on a logarithmic scale, we can see some discontinuities near the boundaries, visible on the edges of the underlying mesh triangulation; these discontinuities are relatively small at $\mathcal{O}(1 \times 10^{-5}) \mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ and are due to the weak imposition of boundary conditions by the numerical method (see \$3.2.1 for further details).

Turning our attention to the other two simulations presented in Figure 3.3, we see that all three models demonstrate largely the same behaviour, whereby high-speed flow is concentrated in the central-cavity, artery, and veins. However, one notable difference between the S-B simulation in Figure 3.3(b) and the others is that there are no recirculations in the CC. Another notable difference is visible in Figure 3.3(c), showing a simulation NS-NSD, where the blood velocity decelerates quickly when crossing the CC-IVS interface, which is unlike the simulations for NSD and S-B, respectively shown in Figures 3.4(a) and 3.4(b). The difference with NSD is due to the chosen transition width, τ , from Table 2.1 for the smooth transition function in NSD, which allows flow to decelerate more smoothly between porous and free flow. The reason for differences with S-B is due to the fluid inside the CC decelerating much more gradually in the case of S-B. A related observation is that the recirculation zones for NSD appear further from the basal plate than for NSD, which again is due to the chosen smooth transition width for NSD. Appendix B further



Figure 3.3: Velocity plot on placentone geometry (§2.1.1) presenting the results of §3.4.1 for the three velocity models: NSD from equation (2.1), S-B from equation (2.4), and NS-NSD from equation (2.5). Plots show a logarithmically-scaled velocity colouring and streamlines shown in black for (a) NSD, (b) S-B, and (c) NS-NSD. All models apply boundary conditions and problem parameters presented in §2.2.1.



Figure 3.4: Velocity plot on placenta geometry (§2.1.2) presenting the results of §3.4.1 for the three velocity models: NSD from equation (2.1), S-B from equation (2.4), and NS-NSD from equation (2.5). Plots show a logarithmically-scaled velocity colouring and streamlines shown in black for (a) NSD, (b) S-B, and (c) NS-NSD. All models apply boundary conditions and problem parameters presented in §2.2.1.



Figure 3.5: Velocity plot for NSD from Equation (2.1) on placentone geometry, with linearlyscaled velocity colouring and streamlines shown in white. Boundary conditions and problem parameters presented in §2.2.1.

investigates the differences in flow between the three models on a placentone.

Figure 3.4 presents the simulations for the three velocity models on a placenta geometry. The overall behaviour is similar to that described above in the placentone geometry, except flow may now exit through one of the newly introduced marginal sinus veins, or through basal plate veins located in other placentones. There are only a small number of streamlines that cross septal walls in these numerical experiments, which is due to the symmetry of the placement of vessels in this particular problem. In the next subsection, §3.4.2 will present a flow on a geometry with asymmetrically-placed veins to see what impact this has on the flow field.

This section has shown that IVS flow is very similar for all three velocity models, with differences between some of the models in the central cavity region; in particular, the S-B model failed to capture some of the high-speed flow features present in the cavity of the other two models due to the relatively high Reynolds number at the artery mouth $(Re \approx 60)$. We select NSD as our blood flow model for the remainder of this thesis as (i) it is advantageous for the DGFEMs we employ (due to not requiring interface conditions at the porous interface), (ii) gives a physiologically sensible transition region between 'free' and porous flow, and (iii) avoids non-physical boundary layers that may occur when coupling two fluid PDEs [125]. It is worth noting that this model also adds flexibility for future model development beyond this thesis, where regions apart from the central cavity and vessels could be specified with a lower resistance to flow due to the absence of fetal tree material.

3.4.2 Asymmetric flow

We now compute the solution on the placenta geometry where we have included all basal plate arteries in the centre of each placentone, but have included only one basal plate vein per placentone to encourage an asymmetric flow pattern in the placenta (as such asymmetries would be typical in a physical placenta). We place basal plate veins in the widest placentones with 8 mm between their centres and the side walls, and place veins in other placentones proportionally according to the width of each placentone. Note that the larger marginal sinus veins are included here, but not any septal wall veins. We again select model parameters from Tables 2.1 and 2.2 and use the discretisations from §3.2 to approximate solutions to the steady-state NSD model. The flow field is shown in Figure 3.6, where the velocity magnitude is shown on a logarithmic colour scale, and streamlines are shown in black.

In this simulation, we see much faster flow in many areas of the domain than that of the simulation where veins have been placed symmetrically about the artery (shown in Figure 3.4(a)). Most notably, we see a much higher proportion of blood flowing over the



Figure 3.6: Velocity plot of NSD from Equation (2.1) on the placenta geometry, with only one basal plate vein per placentone, as described in §3.4.2. Shows logarithmically-scaled velocity colouring and streamlines shown in black.

septal walls. Related to this, there is roughly an order of magnitude faster flow near the chorionic plate (i.e., the top of the domain) as blood traverses the placenta in order to exit either through another placentone's basal plate vein or through one of the two marginal sinus veins.

Despite this faster flow over the septal walls, we recall that the speed of flow is logarithmically coloured here, meaning that the flow over the walls is more than two orders of magnitude slower than the inlet speed. Although cross-placentone flow may be an important mechanism of placenta functionality, the faster regions of flow remain concentrated near the spiral artery mouth. Interestingly, this fast flow region is larger than the region shown in the symmetric simulation (Figure 3.4(a)), stretching in a dome-like shape over the area between each basal plate artery and vein pair. This is giving the blood an opportunity to 'short-circuit', where flow almost immediately exits the placenta, potentially advecting high concentrations of oxygen with it.

The simulation presented in this section demonstrates an order of magnitude faster flow near the chorionic plate when veins are placed asymmetrically. Whilst several mathematical studies have assumed symmetric placement of veins, this is physiologically unlikely, with large variations in numbers of veins and their placement between different placentas (see discussion in Chapter 1). The simulation presented here will be used as the basis of investigations in Chapters 5 and 6, where we will respectively investigate MRI signals and placental contractions. The next section presents the corresponding oxygen concentration field to this asymmetric velocity field.

3.5 Oxygen transport numerical experiments

Here, we present a basic numerical experiment to demonstrate the behaviour of the steadystate oxygen transport model, advected by blood flow according to the NSD flow model in Equation (2.1). Figure 3.7 shows oxygen concentration on the placenta geometry, where the basal plate veins have been placed asymmetrically as presented in §3.4.2, and model



Figure 3.7: Oxygen concentration plot for the reaction-advection-diffusion equation from Equation (2.6), with one vein per placentone as described in §3.5. The colour scale varies between 0 (no concentration) and 1 (maximum concentration). Under- and over-shoots in the approximate solution are respectively coloured in black and grey.

parameters are selected from Table 2.2 according to common choices in the literature.

We see that the oxygen penetrates the IVS radially from each artery in high concentration ($c \approx 1$), following the streamlines of the underlying flow from Figure 3.6 through the IVS, and ultimately exiting through any one of the basal plate or marginal sinus veins. The oxygen concentration above most placentones lowers to $c \approx 0$ towards the chorionic plate, with the gradient at which concentration lowers toward the chorionic plate differing greatly from placentone-to-placentone. In the left-most placentone, very high concentrations of oxygen reach the chorionic plate, which is then transported out a marginal sinus vein, also in high concentration. In fact, most of the exiting blood through all of the veins contains a high oxygen concentration. This is physiologically surprising, as this is oxygen that could have been uptaken by the villous tree given the right conditions, but instead exits the placenta and returns to the maternal circulation. We will investigate oxygen uptake further in Chapter 4.

The oxygen concentration is notably low above the central septal wall, likely due to the symmetry in the vessel placement in the two centre-most placentones. Differing from previous studies that consider oxygen transport on placentones, the flow in this placenta geometry can transport oxygen over the septal walls, and does so most notably above the outer-most septal walls. In these cases, oxygen is advected to neighbouring placentones, ultimately exiting through a basal plate vein or marginal sinus vein. Interestingly, the oxygen in these cases decreases far more than those that exit through closer veins; this is due to the longer transit time of the oxygen, which allows more oxygen to be uptaken by the villous tree, as the blood is drawn over longer distances at relatively slow speed before exiting. We also see in these cases a very small region of low oxygen concentration trapped between two regions of higher concentration; this is due to the streamlines of the underlying flow, which do not cross, and have here advected oxygen of low concentration from near the chorionic or basal plates.

An advantage of using DGFEM in approximating of the blood flow field is the reduction in spurious oscillations, which are typically present in flow fields such as this with continuous finite element methods. However, the discontinuous oxygen concentration field instead results in small, contained numerical artefacts in the oxygen concentration field. In particular, numerical artefacts may be present in areas where there are steep gradients in the oxygen concentration field. For this problem, there is an overshoot above c = 1in the right-most placentone originating from a recirculation zone. A convergence study verified that these artefacts reduce in amplitude under mesh refinement, and have minimal impact on any resulting quantities computed from the oxygen concentration field (i.e., the measures computed later in Chapter 4).

Overall, most of the high oxygen concentration is confined to placentones here, which is due to the number and positioning of the arteries and veins. Later in the thesis, Chapter 4 will investigate how the number and placement of vessels affects the oxygen concentration field in more depth.

3.6 Time-dependent blood flow and oxygen transport experiments

We have so far presented only steady-state numerical experiments corresponding to flow at peak systole. We will now present some numerical experiments that are time-dependent, and use the time-dependent versions of the discretisations of both the blood flow and oxygen transport models that were presented in §3.2 on the 2D placenta geometry. We once again select parameters from Tables 2.1 and 2.2 and place veins asymmetrically as presented in §3.4.2.

We follow work by Carson et al. [126] and apply a pulsatile boundary condition on the inlet arteries, where we use the profile given in Figure 4(H) of [126] to give the amplitude, which is representative of in vivo pulsatile flow. We used WebPlotDigitizer¹ to read in the amplitude data A(t) from [126], and shifted and scaled the data such that t = 0 corresponds to the first peak and $U(0) = 0.35 \text{ m s}^{-1}$; we then assumed periodicity between the first and second peaks to give amplitudes for all t. We run the simulation for $t \in [0, T_N]$, where $T_N = 3.34$ and corresponds to five cardiac cycles. A(t) is illustrated in Figure 3.8, which corresponds to the amplitude of the Poiseuille flow on all six artery inlets. This involves applying modified boundary conditions to the flow to

$$\mathbf{g}_{\rm f,D} = -A(t) \frac{R^2 - r^2}{R^2} \mathbf{n} \text{ on } \Gamma_{\rm in},$$
 (3.30a)

 $\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f,N}} = \mathbf{0} \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_{\mathrm{out}}, \qquad (3.30\mathrm{b})$

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f},\mathrm{D}} = \mathbf{0} \qquad \qquad \mathrm{on} \ \Gamma \setminus (\Gamma_{\mathrm{in}} \cup \Gamma_{\mathrm{out}}), \qquad (3.30\mathrm{c})$$

where **n** is the unit outward-pointing normal on Γ_{in} , $r(\mathbf{x})$ is the distance from a point **x** to the centre of Γ_{in} , R is the artery radius, and A(t) is the amplitude of the Poiseuille inlet

¹https://apps.automeris.io/wpd/



Figure 3.8: Amplitude of the Poiseuille flow in §3.6 that uses data from Figure 4(H) of [126]. The profile presented here has been scaled such that the amplitude ranges between $A = 0.12 \,\mathrm{m\,s^{-1}}$ and $A = 0.35 \,\mathrm{m\,s^{-1}}$, and spans $t \in [0, T_N]$, which corresponds to five cardiac cycles with $T_N = 3.34$. Five green vertical lines correspond to times t = 0, t = 0.500, t = 0.667, t = 2.002, and t = 3.336, and correspond to the five snapshots in time of the flow and oxygen concentration fields visualised in Figures 3.9(a)-3.9(e) and 3.10(a)-3.10(e).

flow. The procedure we employ is to generate solutions of both the blood flow and oxygen concentration by first solving their steady-state equations, and then feeding this as an initial condition into the time-dependent equations. In this simulation, basal plate veins have been placed asymmetrically as presented in §3.4.2, model parameters are selected from Table 2.2, and we select $\Delta t = 0.03336$ s (i.e., 100 time-steps for $t \in [0, 3.336]$ s).

We will consider only five snapshots in time in the body of this thesis for ease of presentation. Videos visualising these fields through time at every time-step are available here². Figures 3.9 and 3.10 respectively present snapshots of blood flow and oxygen concentration fields at the five discrete snapshots in time. Note that each snapshot is indicated in Figure 3.8 with green vertical lines. Panel (a) of Figures 3.9 and 3.10 give the initial steady-state fields of the flow and oxygen concentration, respectively; we remark that these are identical to the fields presented in Figures 3.6 and 3.7, respectively. Panel (b) gives the fields at the first local minimum of the amplitude profile. Panels (c), (d), and (e) respectively give the fields at the second, fourth and sixth (and final) local maxima of the amplitude profile. We remark that the precise trajectories of each of the streamlines differs between each snapshot due to the flow field changing through time.

It is not surprising that Figures 3.9(a) and 3.9(c)-3.9(e) are very similar, given that they all correspond to peaks in amplitude of the inlet velocity. However, a notable feature

²Velocity field: https://r.blakey.family/phd-video-oiv; oxygen concentration field: https://r.blakey.family/phd-video-oit.

that changes between these snapshots is that the recirculation zones in all the placentones have disappeared by $t = T_N$, as shown in Figure 3.9(e). This is likely due to numerical dissipation of the time discretisation, which 'smooths out' the flow as time progresses. Figure 3.9(b) is a little different to the others, due to the reduced inlet speed here; overall, the flow field exhibits very similar behaviour, but the flow is slower in most areas of the domain.

The most intriguing feature of these results is that, although the speed of the flow noticeably changes with lower amplitude in Figure 3.9(b), there is almost no perceivable change in the oxygen concentration field across all time-steps. This is primarily due to $|\mathbf{u}| \ll 1 \times 10^{-1} \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ everywhere except in the central cavity, arteries, and veins; we therefore only expect changes in c in these areas of relatively fast flow on this timescale. However, almost all of the placentones have $c \approx 1$ uniformly in these fast flow regions. An exception in this particular simulation is in the furthest-right placentone, where there is a small recirculation zone of low concentration beside the artery mouth, which arises from the initial condition. As time progresses, the evolution of the velocity field moves the recirculation zone, therefore advecting with non-zero speed the low concentrations of oxygen in this recirculation zone into the IVS and towards the marginal sinus. We highlight that this behaviour is due to the initial condition of this particular problem, and is unlikely to be relevant to more general situations with a similar setup.

In summary, applying a pulsatile inlet flow that follows the cardiac cycle has very little effect on flow and oxygen concentration in the simulation we have presented. Whilst there may be other situations where pulsatile inlet flow has a more discernable effect on oxygen transport, most of the remaining simulations in this thesis will consider only steady-state flow and transport at peak systole, except for Chapter 6 where time dependence is imposed through boundary motion.

We will now conclude this chapter with a summary of what has been presented and how these discretisations will be used throughout the remainder of the thesis.

3.7 Summary

In Chapter 3, we have introduced a DGFEM discretisation of the models of maternal blood flow and oxygen transport from Chapter 2, including a convergence study and some basic numerical experiments on the steady-state versions of these models, which included a comparison between our choice of blood flow model with two related choices. We also briefly presented a numerical experiment of the time-dependent version of NSD and the oxygen-transport model.

§3.1 began by introducing the finite element spaces in which the approximate solutions







3.5e-3.5e-3.5e-





Figure 3.10: Visualisation of the oxygen concentration field (Equation (2.6)) with a pulsatile inflow condition in §3.6 at times (a) t = 0, (b) t = 0.500, (c) t = 0.667, (d) t = 2.002, and (e) t = 3.336. Colours are linearly scaled. A video visualising all time-steps can be viewed here: https://r.blakey.family/phd-video-oit

are sought. §3.2 then introduced the full equation discretisations, where spatial derivatives have been discretised using a DGFEM, and temporal derivatives have been discretised using a backward Euler finite difference approximation. We chose a Lax-Friedrichs flux to approximate the advective terms on element faces, which is a form of upwind flux.

Next, §3.3 used the method of manufactured solution (MMS) to investigate the convergence rates of the time-dependent versions of the blood flow and oxygen transport models. We found that we achieved optimal spatial and temporal convergence rates for the finite element spaces and time discretisation method we have used. However, a limitation of our time discretisation is that it is only first-order accurate, which in practice limits us to a choice of small time-step. Whilst backward Euler is unconditionally stable, an obvious improvement in terms of accuracy would be to employ a time discretisation scheme from, e.g., the Runge-Kutta family, where higher-order discretisations are available.

We then performed several blood flow numerical experiments. Firstly, §3.4 presented example blood flows on both the placentone and placenta geometries for NSD and the two related velocity models for the parameters outlined in Tables 2.1 and 2.2. We showed that NSD displays roughly the same behaviour in the IVS of the other two alternative velocity models, with some notable differences in the CC, and the advantage that it gives a physiologically sensible transition region between 'free' and porous flow. We also presented a numerical experiment on the placenta geometry where veins are placed asymmetrically in §3.4.2. In this example, we found that high-speed flow remained close to the basal plate, but increased flow speed by an order of magnitude in the region closest to the chorionic plate. This asymmetric experiment is important, as it introduces asymmetries that would be typical in a physical placenta; this experiment therefore forms the basis of the investigations in Chapters 5 and 6.

Next, §3.5 presented the distribution of oxygen concentration on the asymmetric placenta geometry, where the underlying advective flow is governed by NSD. Overall, the oxygen concentration perfuses radially from the spiral artery, which agrees with the results of Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12]. Interestingly, oxygen was found to exit the placenta in high concentration; this is oxygen that could be uptaken by the villous tree given the right conditions, and will be investigated further in Chapter 4.

Finally, §3.6 presented a time-dependent blood flow and oxygen numerical experiment, where the time-dependence was driven by a pulsatile inflow arising from the cardiac cycle. We found that the pulsatile inflow had very little effect on the oxygen concentration field, due to the high concentration of oxygen near the spiral artery. The analyses of Chapters 4 and 5 will consider only steady-state flow, but Chapter 6 will introduce time-dependent flow that is imposed through boundary motion.

An obvious extension to the work in this thesis would be to consider maternal flow in 3D, rather than the 2D description we have adopted. Other studies do consider maternal flow in 3D (e.g., [12, 54]), but rely on several strong assumptions, such as symmetry

of vessels or simplifications to the geometry. This is not the case for the asymmetric results presented here in 2D, with the symmetry assumptions relaxed further in Chapter 4. Considering flow in 2D in this thesis also allows for a more feasible computational study than an equivalent 3D study. As far as we are aware, there is no published work that tackles 3D maternal flow in such a general computational framework. However, work such as Crowson et al. [1] is likely to be an exciting development, where an organ-scale 3D geometry of the placenta is used to determine how structural variations affect placental function.

The following three chapters of this thesis now develop in three different ways: Chapter 4 will vary structural parameters to study effects on placental efficiency; Chapter 5 will artificially recreate MRI data for direct comparison between simulated and physical placental flow fields; and Chapter 6 will introduce a preliminary contraction model of the utero-placental pump.

Chapter 4 Effects of placental structure on placental efficiency

One of the main functions of the placenta is to deliver oxygen and nutrients to the developing fetus, with impaired delivery being characteristic of diseases such as fetal growth restriction (FGR) or pre-eclampsia (PE) [5, 14, 20, 30, 40]. In this chapter, we will use the blood flow and oxygen transport models from Chapter 2 and numerical methods from Chapter 3 to study changes in the flow and oxygen concentration fields due to structural variations in the placenta. We will primarily investigate changes to these fields via seven different proxy quantities that capture the main features of the flow and oxygen transport fields.

In Chapter 1, we commented on the difficulties in determining the number of vessels in the placenta. Several papers in the literature include measurements or estimates of the number of spiral arteries in the placenta, of which there are thought to be between 30 and 150 [6, 9, 12]. Information on the number of veins is scarcer: according to Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12], the placenta may contain between 50 and 200 veins in total. The wide range of numbers of arteries and veins suggests either a high variation in individual placentas or a lack of understanding. It is therefore important to understand how the numbers of arteries and veins, and the ratio between them, affects the placenta.

As well as the number of vessels (where we refer to 'vessels' as arteries and veins collectively), there is also uncertainty in their position. Most mathematical studies on vessels thus far have been limited to, for example, symmetric placement of basal plate veins [12], or to study of the shape of arteries [14, 32]. Mekler et al. [54] in 2022 took this a step further, investigating the effects of the number and asymmetric placement of basal plate veins; they found that higher numbers of veins placed symmetrically overall reduced oxygen concentration throughout the domain, which is likely related to the short-circuiting behaviour originally reported by Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12], where flow exits

through veins soon after entering the placenta. We expand upon the work of Mekler et al. [54] in §4.2 by considering variations in the number and placement of arteries and veins across a 2D slice of a placenta.

In addition to the number and position of vessels, there are of course many other structural changes that have an impact on placental function. An example of this is the diameter of the spiral arteries, which is thought to play a role in diseased placentas. In healthy placentas, blood enters through a narrow artery of approximately 0.5 mm that widens to 2–3 mm, allowing upstream flow at approximately 1 m s^{-1} to slow to approximately 0.1 m s^{-1} ; however in diseased cases, the failure to widen can result in flow at 1 m s^{-1} to directly enter the placenta, causing damage to the villous tree material [14].

Another example of an impactful structural change is the density of the villous tree structure, which has been investigated mathematically. Serov et al. [40] used a stream-tube model of the villi to find an optimal villous tree density; in order to maximise oxygen uptake, they found a careful balance was required between the effects of reduced flow rates but increased uptake area from dense villous tree structure, and the effects of fast flow with a reduced uptake area from a coarse villous tree structure.

Therefore, in addition to studying variations in the number and placement of vessels in §4.2, we will also consider variations of seven other parameters in §4.3: artery width, vein width, septal wall heights, oxygen diffusivity, oxygen uptake rate, permeability of the villous tree, and inlet blood speed.

Firstly, in §4.1, we will define seven quantities to be used as a proxy for measuring placental efficiency. Secondly, in §4.2, we will study how the number and positions of vessels affect placental efficiency; in particular, we will relax the assumption that arteries and veins are placed symmetrically in each placentone in specific positions. Thirdly, in §4.3, we will study the dependence of placental efficiency due to changes in seven other parameters described above. Finally, we will conclude in §4.4 with an overview of the results and remarks on the physical consequences.

4.1 Measures of placental efficiency

To investigate the effects of changes to placental structure and flow parameters on placental function, we introduce seven measures of placental efficiency. Each of these measures gives a single scalar value that characterises the flow and oxygen concentration fields; we use these measures on an ensemble of simulations to infer, for example, how the number of arteries may affect the amount of oxygen uptaken by the villous tree, or how the permeability of the villous tree affects the amount of slow flow in the placenta.

The first gives a measure of blood flow speed by taking the integral average of the

velocity magnitude over a given domain Ω :

$$\bar{v}(\Omega) := \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{u}| \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x},\tag{4.1}$$

where **u** is the velocity of the blood flow, and $|\Omega| := \int_{\Omega} d\mathbf{x}$. The second measures the fraction of 'slow flow' in the domain, i.e., the area fraction in which the flow speed is below a threshold, $V \text{ m s}^{-1}$:

$$v_{\text{slow}}(V) := \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{1}(|\mathbf{u}| < V) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \tag{4.2}$$

where $\mathbb{1}(|\mathbf{u}| < V)$ denotes the indicator function¹. The third measures the flux of blood through a given surface:

$$v_{\text{flux}}(S) := \frac{1}{|S|} \int_{S} \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, \mathrm{d}S,\tag{4.3}$$

where $|S| := \int_S dS$, and when $S \subseteq \partial \Omega$, **n** denotes the unit normal in the outward-facing direction; when S lies in the interior of Ω , we take **n** to be the unit normal in the increasing x-direction (pointing to the right in Figure 2.2(a)). By taking the boundary between neighbouring placentones, where the six placentones are labelled $\{\Omega_1, \Omega_2, ..., \Omega_6\}$, we compute our fourth measure, which we will refer to as the 'cross-flow flux':

$$v_{\text{cross}} := \sum_{i=1}^{5} |v_{\text{flux}}(\Omega_i \cap \Omega_{i+1})|.$$

$$(4.4)$$

The next two measures are related to the oxygen c transported by the blood flow. To measure the amount of oxygen uptaken by the entire villous tree, we define:

$$\bar{c} := \frac{R}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \Psi c \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x},\tag{4.5}$$

where R is the uptake rate of the villous tree from Table 2.2, and Ψ defines the smooth transition region described in §2.2. We also introduce a measure of the oxygen flux through a given surface:

$$c_{\text{flux}}(S) := \frac{1}{|S|} \int_{S} c \, (\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \, \mathrm{d}S.$$
(4.6)

The final measure is to do with the energy flux of the flow. Quantities related to energy fluxes have been useful in informing clinical care of the heart. Patients with heart defects have benefitted from procedures that overall minimises the energy flux loss, thereby ensuring efficient cardiac output [127, 128]. We therefore apply a measure to study the

¹The indicator function is defined at a point as $\mathbb{1}(|\mathbf{u}| < V) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |\mathbf{u}| < V, \\ 0 & \text{if } |\mathbf{u}| \ge V. \end{cases}$

kinetic energy flux in the context of the placenta, and is given through a surface by

$$E_{\text{kinetic}}(S) := \int_{S} \frac{1}{2} \rho |\mathbf{u}|^2 (\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \, \mathrm{d}S.$$
(4.7)

Previous studies have indicated that structural changes to the placenta play a role in the development of disease. The choice of these seven measures provide a low-dimensional view of the flow and oxygen transport fields, and therefore help us easily quantify important flow and oxygenation characteristics.

For the remainder of this chapter, we investigate the dependence of the measures described above on placental structure via ensembles of blood flow and oxygen transport simulations in which the structural features are varied uniformly-at-random (i.e., both randomly and uniformly). In §4.2 we study how variations in the numbers and positions of vessels affect these measures, whilst in §4.3 we study how variations in seven other model parameters affect the measures. §4.4 ends the chapter with a summary of results.

4.2 Variation of number and position of vessels

Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12], and more recently Mekler et al. [54], studied the effect that basal plate vein position has on nutrient uptake within a single placentone by varying the distance from the artery to neighbouring veins; they found that a careful balance was required between uptake rate and distance between the artery and veins in order to permit deep perfusion of nutrients, and that veins too close to arteries can provide a 'short circuit' for blood from the artery to the vein [12, 54]. Literature modelling the maternal blood flow in placentones has thus far generally taken a 1:2 ratio of artery-to-veins placed symmetrically about the inlet artery [8, 12, 52], or have placed veins exclusively on the basal plate at specific distances from the artery [54]. To overcome some of these restrictions, we will relax the assumption that basal plate vessels must be placed symmetrically and in specific locations, and we will also include veins on septal walls. We will therefore use the placenta geometry from §2.1.2 with various numbers of arteries, basal plate veins, and septal wall veins; we will also vary the positions of all of these vessels. We will, however, assume that the marginal sinus veins are always present for simplicity.

Throughout §4.2, we will fix all parameter values from Tables 2.1 and 2.2, and instead vary both the number and position of the arteries and veins. We vary uniformly-at-random the number and position of all arteries and veins, up to a maximum of $N_{\rm A} = 6$ arteries (one per placentone) and $N_{\rm V} = 27$ veins (2 per placentone, 3 per wall), where for simplicity we retain the 2 larger marginal sinus veins in all simulations. The positions of arteries and veins are constrained to avoid overlap, and so that the central cavity associated with every given artery does not intersect with the chorionic plate and septal walls. Figure



Figure 2.2(a) (repeated): Diagram illustrating our 2D placenta geometry repeated from §2.1.2.

2.2(a) (repeated here from §2.1.2) shows a sketch of an example domain illustrating the ways in which various arteries and veins may appear. The proceeding results are obtained from an ensemble of $N_{\rm sim} = 1000$ realisations² of the computational domain as described in Algorithm 4.1, where $\mathcal{U}(a, b)$ denotes the discrete uniform distribution, and L, T, R respectively denote a 'left', 'top', and 'right' position; $L, T, R \in \{0, 1\}$ and are used in the tuples on line 4 of Algorithm 4.1 to denote chosen left and right veins on the basal plate of each placentone, and chosen left, top, and right veins on each septal wall. A '0' denotes a vein that is omitted, and a '1' denotes a vein that is present.

Figures 4.1–4.5 present the main results of §4.2 for all seven efficiency measures, which we will discuss in depth throughout the remainder of §4.2. We highlight that each individual graph presents data for the *same* ensemble of simulations, but are visualised in several different ways.

4.2.1 Effects on $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$ and \bar{c}

We first discuss the influence of these structural variations on flow and oxygen uptake, as measured by $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\text{IVS}})$ and \bar{c} (Equations (4.1) and (4.5)). We note that we have selected Ω_{IVS} in which to calculate \bar{v} , as flow in the central cavity can be much faster [8]. Figure 4.1

²An additional 100 simulations are run specifically for $N_{\rm A} = 6$ and $N_{\rm V} = 27$ to ensure that there is a sufficiently large sample size for when we consider subsets of the data.

Algorithm 4.1: Algorithm to generate $N_{\rm sim}$ simulations with varying numbers and positions of vessels.

1 for $n = 1$ to N_{sim} do	
2	Sample $N_{\rm A} \sim \mathcal{U}(1,6)$
3	Sample $N_{\rm V} \sim \mathcal{U}(0, 27)$
4	Uniformly-at-random select:
	• Number of arteries $n_{\mathbf{a}}^i \in \{0, 1\}$ per placentone
	• Number of basal plate veins $n_{bp}^i = (L, R); L, R \in \{0, 1\}$ per placentone
	• Number of septal wall veins $n_{sw}^j = (L, T, R); L, T, R \in \{0, 1\}$ per wall
	subject to $\sum_{i=1}^{6} n_{a}^{i} = N_{A}$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{6} n_{bp}^{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{5} n_{sw}^{j} = N_{V}$
5	for $i = 1$ to 6 placentones do
	Place $n_{\rm a}^{\circ}$ at continuously uniformly random positions along basal plate, such
	that:
	• There is room for left and right basal plate veins, if they exist
	• There is room for the central cavity
6	Place $n_{\rm bp}^i$ at continuously uniformly random positions in the remaining
	space
	end
7	for $j = 1$ to 5 walls do
	Place n_{sw}^i at continuously uniformly random positions along the left side,
	top, and right side of septal walls
	end
8	Generate mesh \mathcal{I}_h with selected vessels and positions
9	Compute \mathbf{u}_h and c_h from simulation, and compute all seven measures of
	placental efficiency

summarises the results from all $N_{\rm sim}$ simulations. Figure 4.1(a) shows the median values of $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$ and \bar{c} obtained from our ensemble, plotted as a dashed blue line as a function of $N_{\rm A}$, $N_{\rm V}$, and the ratio $N_{\rm V}/N_{\rm A}$. The shaded region surrounding the median corresponds to the area between the 25th and 75th percentile of the data (i.e., the interquartile range). Individual outlier points are plotted outside this region. Orange lines denote subsets of the data, as indicated in the inset legends. We re-emphasise that the positions of the vessels are random and do not correlate to the choice of the number of vessels on the horizontal axes. The coloured crosses indicate specific realisations, for which we visualise the corresponding velocity and oxygen concentration fields in Figure 4.1(b). These specific realisations are chosen in large part to demonstrate extreme choices in the number of vessels.

Upon studying Figure 4.1(a), we firstly note that the coloured crosses (indicating the four chosen realisations) sometimes fall outside the shaded areas; these particular simulations were chosen to demonstrate the relatively high variability in the data presented here. Secondly, there are some clear correlations between the number of arteries and both $\bar{v}(\Omega_{IVS})$ and \bar{c} ; according to the results presented here, placentas with $N_A = 6$ maximise both the average speed of the blood flow and the uptake of oxygen. Conversely, the maximal values of $\bar{v}(\Omega_{IVS})$ for the number of veins is when $N_V = 0$, which is because marginal sinuses are always available here as a route of venous drainage and will draw the blood flow across the domain.

As can be seen in the corresponding four visualisations of the velocity fields in Figure 4.1(b), the flow is, in general, much slower when $N_{\rm V}$ is higher; this is because, when there are more veins, fluid has the opportunity to 'short-circuit' and exit through nearby veins, rather than be drawn across the placenta. This is illustrated when comparing the red- and green-boxed simulations in Figure 4.1(b), where in the former the fluid speed is at least an order of magnitude slower than the latter in many parts of the domain. The maximal values of \bar{c} are again when $N_{\rm A} = 6$ or $N_{\rm V} = 0$, but the effect of the veins is less powerful here. Instead, it is the number of arteries that has the greatest effect on \bar{c} , although there is a clear plateau as $N_{\rm A}$ approaches 6; this is further shown in the second column, where the variability for varying $N_{\rm V}$ is very large, which is due to the number of arteries in each simulation dominating in the value of \bar{c} . Interestingly, for $N_{\rm V}/N_{\rm A}$, there is a much less variable relationship for both $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$ and \bar{c} for a given simulation. The maximal values for both \bar{v} and \bar{c} are obtained when $N_{\rm V}/N_{\rm A} = 0$.

The orange lines plot a subset of the data so that we can more clearly see the effects of varying $N_{\rm A}$ and $N_{\rm V}$ separately. The values of $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$ and \bar{c} for varying $N_{\rm A}$ and fixed $N_{\rm V} = 27$ in the first column are plotted in orange and are clearly less variable than when any $N_{\rm V}$ is considered in blue, and shows that having more veins overall decreases both









Figure 4.1: (a) Graphs that show how $\bar{v}(\Omega_{IVS})$ and \bar{c} vary according to the number of vessels. From left to right, each column has grouped the data from all N_{sim} simulations according to N_A , N_V , and N_V/N_A . In each panel, the blue dotted line corresponds to the median, and the surrounding blue shaded region corresponds to the area between the 25th and 75th percentile of the data. Individual outlier points are plotted outside this region. Orange lines visualise a subset of the data, as indicated by the inset legends. (b) Four selected simulations out of N_{sim} , visualising the velocity field (top) and the oxygen concentration field (bottom); the numbers of arteries N_A and veins N_V are indicated. The coloured crosses in (a) correspond to the coloured boxes surrounding the simulations in (b). The colour scales are small in subfigure (b), but range as before: $|\mathbf{u}| \in [3.5 \times 10^{-6}, 3.5 \times 10^{-1}]$ and $c \in [0, 1]$. $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\text{IVS}})$ and \bar{c} ; this supports the idea that more veins may lead to more short-circuiting behaviour and oxygen leaving the placenta in relatively high concentration [12, 52]. Indeed, this is also the case when considering the second column, where N_{V} is varied. Fixing now $N_{\text{A}} = 6$ and considering variations in N_{V} shown in orange in the second column, we see that high numbers of arteries overall increases $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\text{IVS}})$ and \bar{c} , which is sensible when considering the increased flux of blood and oxygen entering the placenta.

Existing MRI studies have measured the mean flow speed in vivo to be between $0.4 \,\mathrm{mm \, s^{-1}}$ and $0.94 \,\mathrm{mm \, s^{-1}}$ [8, 20, 40]; this range corresponds to the data shown for $N_{\rm A} = 1$ and $N_{\rm A} = 2$, but $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$ is in general higher for other numbers of vessels. The faster mean speeds measured in our simulations could be due to the study of 2D flow in this thesis, or because a large number of arteries in this setting is unphysical. Furthermore, the MRI study by Dellschaft et al. [20] found that diseased placentas in general had a faster mean speed of $0.7 \,\mathrm{mm \, s^{-1}}$, as opposed to $0.4 \,\mathrm{mm \, s^{-1}}$ for healthy placentas. From this, our results suggest that placentas with a large number of arteries or small number of veins may be characteristic of placental disease; however, an interesting contradiction arises here, as these are the cases where oxygen uptake is maximised in our results, which in itself suggests that these are the best-performing placentas.

In summary, these results show that increasing $N_{\rm A}$ increases both $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$ and \bar{c} , with the effect most pronounced for \bar{c} , and reducing $N_{\rm V}$ increases both $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$ and \bar{c} , with the effect most pronounced for $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$. Plotting $\bar{v}(\Omega_{\rm IVS})$ and \bar{c} against the ratio $N_{\rm V}/N_{\rm A}$ gave a smaller interquartile range, and overall for higher $N_{\rm V}/N_{\rm A}$ gave decreasing values of the two measures.

4.2.2 Effects on v_{slow}

For a given simulation, we define four velocity thresholds under which to define 'slow velocity':

- $V_{\text{threshold}} = \bar{v}(\Omega_{\text{IVS}}) \text{ m s}^{-1}$: average speed of this simulation over Ω_{IVS} .
- $V_{\text{threshold}} = \bar{v}(\Omega) \text{ m s}^{-1}$: average speed of this simulation over Ω .
- $V_{\text{threshold}} = 0.0005 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$: threshold taken by definition of slow velocity in Dellschaft et al. [20].
- $V_{\text{threshold}} = 0.0026 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$: threshold equals $\bar{v}(\Omega)$ calculated from the placenta simulation in §3.4.1.

We emphasise that the first two of these thresholds relate to the average speed of the given simulation, whereas the last two of these choices are fixed across all simulations.



Figure 4.2: Graphs that show how v_{slow} varies with changes in the number of arteries and veins. The first column plots these measures for varying the number of arteries from 1 to 6, the second column plots these measures for varying the number of veins from 0 to 27, and the third column plots these measures for the ratio between the number of veins and the number of arteries. In each panel, the dotted lines correspond to the median, and the surrounding shaded regions correspond to the area between the 25th and 75th percentile of the data, with individual outlier points plotted outside these regions. The legend above the plots indicates the choice of $V_{threshold}$.

We chose the threshold $V_{\text{threshold}} = 0.0005 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ as it has been previously categorised as a threshold for 'slow flow' in the literature; Dellschaft et al. [20] found that MRI scans of the placenta contained regularly spaced regions of relatively fast-moving blood $(|\mathbf{u}| > 0.001 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}})$ interspersed with regions of slow-moving blood $(|\mathbf{u}| < 0.0005 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}})$; they were able to identify regions of fast-moving blood to be close to spiral arteries, with the slow regions likely occurring in the surrounding IVS.

The final choice of threshold, $V_{\text{threshold}} = 0.0026 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$, was chosen by computing $\bar{v}(\Omega)$ on the symmetric placenta simulation of NSD presented in §3.4.1. We chose to compare against this simulation because of its similarity to the position and number of vessels that have previously been used in the mathematical modelling literature [8, 12].

Inspecting Figure 4.2, these first two thresholds show that, regardless of the number and positions of vessels, the percentage of flow slower than the average speed remains roughly constant at approximately 30%; this is not immediately obvious by the flow simulations we've investigated so far.

There is, however, a slight separation between $v_{\text{slow}}(V_{\text{threshold}})$ for $V_{\text{threshold}} = 0.0005 \,\text{m s}^{-1}$ and $0.0026 \,\text{m s}^{-1}$, with the former decreasing more rapidly with increasing N_{A} . Although there is a separation in these values of v_{slow} , the overall trends are the same, with v_{slow} decreasing for larger N_{A} and increasing for larger N_{V} ; these results in general agree with those presented in §4.2.1. Dellschaft et al. [20] found that diseased PE placentas generally had a lower proportion of slow-moving flow than healthy placentas; from the results presented here, this could suggest that placentas with either a small number of arteries or a large number of veins could be characteristic of PE placentas. However, a disparity arises here, as MRI scan slices of healthy placentas gave approximately 57% of slow-moving blood below this threshold [20], which is much higher than any of the values presented here. As previously suggested, this could be due to the 2D study of flow here.

4.2.3 Effects on venous drainage

We now investigate the exit routes by the blood and the oxygen by considering v_{flux} and c_{flux} for basal plate, septal wall, and marginal sinus veins. For those results presented in Figure 4.3, we compute $\frac{v_{\text{flux}}(S)}{v_{\text{flux}}(\Gamma_{\text{in}})}$

and

$$\frac{c_{\rm flux}(S)}{c_{\rm flux}(\Gamma_{\rm in})}$$

for three different choices of S: namely, we take these to be $S \subseteq \Gamma_{\text{out}}$ according to whether veins are placed on the basal plate ($\Gamma_{\text{out,bp}}$), septal wall ($\Gamma_{\text{out,sw}}$), or marginal sinus ($\Gamma_{\text{out,ms}}$).

We see little influence on route of exit for varying $N_{\rm A}$. Instead, and unsurprisingly, the route of exit is strongly dependent upon the number of veins $N_{\rm V}$. Fluid is conserved here, so we remark that

$$\frac{v_{\text{flux}}(\Gamma_{\text{out,bp}})}{v_{\text{flux}}(\Gamma_{\text{in}})} + \frac{v_{\text{flux}}(\Gamma_{\text{out,sw}})}{v_{\text{flux}}(\Gamma_{\text{in}})} + \frac{v_{\text{flux}}(\Gamma_{\text{out,ms}})}{v_{\text{flux}}(\Gamma_{\text{in}})} = 1.$$

Therefore, as expected, we clearly see 100% of the fluid exits through the marginal sinuses when $N_{\rm V} = 0$.

On the other hand, the oxygen flux exits the placenta at a lower concentration than how it entered, due to some of the oxygen being uptaken by the villous tree. For $N_{\rm V} = 0$, approximately 85% of the entering oxygen is exiting through the marginal sinus veins. Although not clearly illustrated here, calculating the sum of the blue, orange, and green curves (i.e., calculating $c_{\rm flux}(\Gamma_{\rm out})/c_{\rm flux}(\Gamma_{\rm in})$) gives values between 60% and 90% for all choices of numbers of vessels. This is a notably high concentration, considering that this is oxygen that could have been uptaken by the villous tree to be delivered to the fetus, which is arguably the placenta's most important function that we consider.

As $N_{\rm V}$ increases, the routes of exit for flow and oxygen slowly shift towards the basal plate and septal wall veins, for which there appears to be a slight preference for septal wall veins; however, this effect could be occurring simply because there are more septal wall veins through which blood can exit.

We note that all three columns contain a relatively large amount of variability, especially in the third column for varying N_V/N_A ; this suggests that v_{flux} and c_{flux} are more sensitive


Figure 4.3: Graphs that show how v_{flux} and c_{flux} vary with changes in the number of arteries and veins. The first column plots these measures for varying the number of arteries from 1 to 6, the second column plots these measures for varying the number of veins from 0 to 27, and the third column plots these measures for the ratio between the number of veins and the number of arteries. In each panel, the dotted lines correspond to the median, and the surrounding shaded regions correspond to the area between the 25th and 75th percentile of the data, with individual outlier points plotted outside these regions. The legend above the plots indicates the choice of S.



Figure 4.4: Graphs that show how v_{cross} varies with changes in the number of arteries and veins. The first column plots these measures for varying the number of arteries from 1 to 6, the second column plots these measures for varying the number of veins from 0 to 27, and the third column plots these measures for the ratio between the number of veins and the number of arteries. In each panel, the dotted lines correspond to the median, and the surrounding shaded regions correspond to the area between the 25th and 75th percentile of the data, with individual outlier points plotted outside these regions. Blue data points correspond to all N_{sim} simulations, whereas orange data points are some subset of this data.

to something apart from the number of vessels, such as the position of the vessels. The third column shows more variability than the other two columns due to how $N_{\rm A}$ and $N_{\rm V}$ were sampled, meaning that there is a reduced number of simulations for higher numbers of $N_{\rm V}/N_{\rm A}$.

4.2.4 Effects on cross-placentone flow

We now discuss the effects on vessel variations on $v_{\rm cross}$ in Figure 4.4. This is an interesting feature to study because previous mathematical studies have mostly focussed on only single placentones [8, 12], whereas the study here focusses on a placenta with six placentones, which permits blood to move over the top of the septal walls.

Increasing $N_{\rm A}$ has an interesting influence on $v_{\rm cross}$ in that the median plotted in blue is non-monotonic, with the maximum median value attained at roughly $N_{\rm A} = 4$. The orange curve for $N_{\rm V} = 27$ makes this even clearer, with almost no cross-flow flux at all when $N_{\rm V} = 27$ and $N_{\rm A} = 6$; this suggests that high $v_{\rm cross}$ benefits from more arteries (giving overall more flow) and strongly asymmetric artery placement (roughly speaking, when $N_{\rm A} \neq 6$). That said, both the number of outlier points and the shaded blue area drastically increase in size for higher $N_{\rm A}$, showing that the variability is also increasing here; this is due to variations in $N_{\rm V}$ dominating the value of $v_{\rm cross}$.

Turning our attention to the second and third columns we learn that, like the effects on venous drainage, $N_{\rm V}$ has by far the most influence on cross-placentone flux here. When $N_{\rm V}$ is small, there is a high amount of variability in where those veins are positioned, which



Figure 4.5: Graph that shows how $E_{kinetic}$ varies with changes in the number of arteries and veins. The first column plots these measures for varying the number of arteries from 1 to 6, the second column plots these measures for varying the number of veins from 0 to 27, and the third column plots these measures for the ratio between the number of veins and the number of arteries. In each panel, the dotted lines correspond to the median, and the surrounding shaded regions correspond to the area between the 25th and 75th percentile of the data, with individual outlier points plotted outside these regions. Blue data points correspond to all N_{sim} simulations, whereas orange data points are some subset of this data.

in extreme cases could be placed far from arteries. In these cases, assuming a negligible amount of drainage through the marginal sinus veins, blood would be drawn over several septal walls to exit through those veins. In contrast, when $N_{\rm V}$ is high, there is a high likelihood that veins are close to arteries, allowing blood to easily exit through nearby veins. This further reinforces the idea of short-circuiting being commonly available when $N_{\rm V}$ is high.

4.2.5 Effects on kinetic energy flux

We finally discuss the effects of vessel variations on E_{kinetic} in Figure 4.5. We will specifically study the energy flux loss ratio (EFLR), which is calculated by

$$\frac{E_{\text{kinetic}}(\Gamma_{\text{in}}) - E_{\text{kinetic}}(\Gamma_{\text{out}})}{E_{\text{kinetic}}(\Gamma_{\text{in}})}.$$

This gives a measure of how kinetic energy is lost as the blood passes through the villous tree.

The most straightforward relationship is the one for varying $N_{\rm A}$ in the first column; we see that for increasing $N_{\rm A}$, there is a relatively small decrease in the energy measure shown in blue, with an even smaller decrease visible when fixing $N_{\rm V} = 27$ in orange. For the data points for any choice of $N_{\rm V}$ in blue, there is a higher variability as $N_{\rm A}$ increases, which is due to simulations with small $N_{\rm V}$ having a large effect there; this is especially evident through the fact that there is not a high variability for $N_{\rm V} = 27$ and there is a much larger change in behaviour for lower numbers of veins, as previously discussed.

Focussing now on the second column for varying $N_{\rm V}$, we see that there is non-monotonic behaviour for increasing $N_{\rm V}$: the energy briefly decreases from $N_{\rm V} = 0$ to low $N_{\rm V}$, but then increases up to a plateau for a larger number of veins. The visualisation for $N_{\rm A} = 6$ in orange exaggerates this behaviour, which has an even sharper decrease in value for smaller numbers of veins. This is interesting behaviour, as it suggests that there is a unique situation present in the flow when $N_{\rm V}$ is small that overall expels more kinetic energy between entering and exiting the placenta.

We will now assume that the number and position of all vessels are fixed, and instead consider variations in seven different parameters.

4.3 Variation of seven other parameters

Similar to §4.2, we will vary structural parameters to investigate their effects on the seven chosen measures of efficiency. Specifically, we will separately investigate the effects due to variations in artery mouth widths (r_a) , vein widths (r_v) , septal wall heights (h), oxygen diffusivity (D), oxygen uptake rate (R), maximum permeability of the IVS (k), and inlet blood flow speed (U). Note that the number and position of the vessels remain fixed in this study and are positioned in the same way as the simulations presented in §3.4.1 (i.e., 1 artery and 2 basal plate veins per placentone). This is a constraint that may affect our results, but was chosen because of its similarity to the position and number of vessels that have previously been used in the mathematical modelling literature [8, 12].

We vary the artery mouth widths from $2r_a = 0.5 \text{ mm}$ (no widening of artery) to $2r_a = 3 \text{ mm}$ [14]; we recall from Table 2.1 that the nominal value for the artery width used elsewhere in this thesis is $2r_a = 2.4 \text{ mm}$. Similarly, we vary the vein widths from $2r_v = 1 \text{ mm}$ and $2r_v = 3 \text{ mm}$, where we recall that the nominal width is $2r_v = 1.5 \text{ mm}$. We take the septal wall heights to vary at fractions of $h/h_0 = 1/3$ and $h/h_0 = 2$ times their original heights from Table 2.1³. For the oxygen diffusivity and oxygen uptake rate, we vary these from 0.1 and 5 times their nominal values; this involves varying between $D = 1.667 \times 10^{-10} \text{ mm}^2/\text{s}$ and $D = 8.335 \times 10^{-9} \text{ mm}^2/\text{s}$, and $R = 1.667 \times 10^{-3} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $R = 8.335 \times 10^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$. We follow work by Lecarpentier et al. [8] and choose to vary the maximum permeability between $k = 1 \times 10^{-10} \text{ m}^2$ and $k = 1 \times 10^{-6} \text{ m}^2$. Finally, we follow the work of references [12, 14, 16] and choose to vary the inlet blood speed between $U = 0.1 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ and $U = 1 \text{ m s}^{-1}$, where we recall that the nominal speed is $U = 0.35 \text{ m s}^{-1}$.

The algorithm for generating these simulations is much more straightforward than in §4.2, as we choose to keep the numbers and positions of vessels as they are presented

 $^{^{3}}$ This involves the small and tall walls respectively varying 2.30–13.80 mm and 4.69–28.14 mm.

in §2.1.2. Specifically, the variations in each of these parameters are chosen uniformly on the ranges described above and simulations run with these chosen parameters⁴. We run $N_{\rm sim} = 1000$ simulations for *each* of these seven parameter variations (7000 total simulations). Figures 4.6 and 4.7 present the main results of §4.3 for all seven efficiency measures, which we will discuss throughout the remainder of §4.3; we highlight that the simulations presented in each of the seven columns are a *different* ensemble of simulations, in contrast to the results presented in §4.2. We make clear that the choice of seven *parameters* and seven *efficiency measures* is a coincidence.

The most striking feature of Figures 4.6 and 4.7 is that almost all the efficiency measures change very little due to variations in each of the seven parameters compared to the vessel variations. We split the discussion into two parts: §4.3.1 will discuss the results of Figure 4.6, and §4.3.2 will discuss the results of Figure 4.7.

4.3.1 Effects due to geometrical variations

Here, we focus on the results of Figures 4.6(a) and 4.6(b), which in each column separately considers variations in artery width, vein width, and septal wall height for all seven efficiency measures.

In the first column, artery width variations have by far the least impact on the efficiency measures out of these three parameters. We note that the variations we have performed here vary all six artery widths simultaneously, and change only the artery mouth width, not the artery width at the base on Γ_{in} ; we are therefore not affecting the flux of blood entering through the arteries, instead affecting only the speed at which it exits into the central cavity. However, this is still unexpected, as other studies have suggested that small artery mouth widths would substantially increase flow rates and decrease overall oxygen uptake [14].

In the second column, we vary the vein widths. We remind the reader that in this particular setup, there are no septal wall veins, and we specifically perform variations in the basal plate vein widths along their entire lengths, which therefore affects the size of both the mouth and base of these veins. The third row of Figure 4.6(a) and the second row of Figure 4.6(b) show in the second column that smaller vein widths lead to more flow to exit out of the marginal sinus, with correspondingly higher concentrations of oxygen. This behaviour is due to a slight preference for the flow to exit through the much wider (3 mm) marginal sinus veins when the basal plate veins are small. It therefore makes sense that for small vein widths that v_{cross} is also elevated, as flow will be drawn across the domain in this case. A final related feature is present in the kinetic EFLR (energy flux

⁴Due to the behaviour of the permeability, we select the permeabilities logarithmically uniformly, i.e., $k \sim 10^X, X \sim \mathcal{U}(-10, -6)$.



Figure 4.6: Graphs that show how each of the seven measures of placental efficiency from §4.1 vary with changes in three different structural parameters. The seven rows are labelled the y-axis, utilising each of the efficiency measures once. In each panel, the dotted lines correspond to the median, and the surrounding shaded regions correspond to the area between the 25th and 75th percentile of the data, with individual outlier points plotted outside these regions. In panels that contain a legend, each colour indicates a different quantity computed on the vertical axis. The first column plots these measures for varying spiral artery mouth width, the second column plots these measures for varying vein width, and the third column plots these measures for different proportions of original wall height. (a) Presents the results including the first four efficiency measures: \bar{v} , v_{slow} , v_{flux} , and v_{cross} . (continued on next page)



Figure 4.6: (continued) (b) Presents the results including the next three efficiency measures: \bar{c} , c_{flux} , and $E_{kinetic}$.

loss ratio), which is lowered for smaller vein widths. This is again due to the preference for the marginal sinus veins, and mirrors the results discussed in §4.2 when the marginal sinus vein drainage was preferred.

We recall that the variations to septal wall heights are ratios (h/h_0) between 1/3 and 2 times their nominal heights (h_0) , which are chosen at one of two sizes: one taller height to represent wall heights between lobes, and another smaller height to represent wall heights between lobules (see Figure 2.2(a) and accompanying discussion in §2.1.2). Like artery width, septal wall heights have very little impact on the seven measures of placental efficiency, with the only notable effect that v_{cross} decreases for increasing septal wall height. This makes physical sense, as for taller wall heights, there will be a smaller gap between the walls and the chorionic plate for flow to pass through, which could therefore decrease the overall flux of blood crossing between placentones. However, it is not obvious that this would have such a small influence on the other efficiency measures. The small influence is due to the relatively low-speed flow passing over the walls, which have previously been visualised with logarithmically-scaled colours.

Overall, these parameter variations had a much smaller effect on the efficiency measures compared to the vessel variations presented in §4.2. Surprisingly, the only parameter variation that had a discernable effect was the vein widths, which is due to the larger marginal sinus veins being preferred. It was unexpected that artery widths influenced the measures very little, given that studies have previously suggested that non-widening arteries are likely to have a significant effect on placental function [14]. We will give a discussion on this feature in §4.4. We also found that variations in the wall height had little effect on the measures; although $v_{\rm cross}$ decreased slightly for increasing wall height, there was no other obvious disruption to the flow and oxygen concentration fields, due to the relatively low-speed flow.

Next, we will consider the results of Figure 4.7.

4.3.2 Effects due to changes to the villous tree, oxygen diffusivity, and inlet blood speed

Here, we focus on the results of Figures 4.7(a) and 4.7(b), which in each column separately considers variations in oxygen diffusivity, oxygen uptake rate, maximum permeability of the villous tree, and the inlet blood flow speed for all seven efficiency measures. We remark that panels containing flow markers for variations in the oxygen concentration field are hidden, as they are not affected by the variations; this is because changes in D and R only affect c, not **u**.

The first column of Figures 4.7(a) and 4.7(b) considers variations in the oxygen diffusivity, which has the smallest effect on the efficiency measures. This suggests that



Figure 4.7: Graphs that show how each of the seven measures of placental efficiency from §4.1 vary with changes in four different flow and structural parameters. The seven rows are labelled the y-axis, utilising each of the efficiency measures once. In each panel, the dotted lines correspond to the median, and the surrounding shaded regions correspond to the area between the 25th and 75th percentile of the data, with individual outlier points plotted outside these regions. In panels that contain a legend, each colour indicates a different quantity computed on the vertical axis. The first column plots these measures for varying oxygen uptake rate, the third column plots these measures for varying oxygen uptake rate, the third column plots these measures for varying inlet blood speed. Note that panels containing flow markers are hidden for variations in the oxygen concentration model. (a) Presents the results including the first four efficiency measures: \bar{v} , v_{slow} , v_{flux} , and v_{cross} . (continued on next page)



Figure 4.7: (continued) (b) Presents the results including the next three efficiency measures: \bar{c} , c_{flux} , and $E_{kinetic}$.

the transport of oxygen here is not diffusion-limited and is instead limited by some other factor in this parameter regime.

We now concentrate on the oxygen uptake rate, shown in the second column of Figures 4.7(a) and 4.7(b). The first row of Figure 4.7(b) measures \bar{c} and shows a direct increase for increasing oxygen uptake rate, which suggests that the oxygen uptake here is limited by the speed at which the villous tree can absorb oxygen; however, this curve starts to flatten for higher uptake rates, suggesting that for higher uptake rates that there is another limiting factor in uptake in play (for example, instead limited by advection). Related to this, increasing oxygen uptake rate also causes a direct reduction in the oxygen concentration exiting the placenta, as shown in the second row of Figure 4.7(b); this is not surprising and is of course advantageous to placental function.

The third column of Figures 4.7(a) and 4.7(b) considers variations of k, which is the maximum permeability of the villous tree; we recall that the effective resistance to flow is controlled by Ψ_k^{μ} in Equation (2.1). When the resistance to flow is lower (i.e., $k \approx 10^{-6}$), \bar{v} increases due to higher-speed flow penetrating deeper into the IVS; $v_{\rm cross}$ and $v_{\rm flux}(\Gamma_{\rm out,ms})/v_{\rm flux}(\Gamma_{\rm in})$ both also increase here, due to the deeper penetration of blood, which makes it easier for blood to cross septal walls to then exit through the marginal sinus veins rather than through the basal plate veins. It is not surprising that $v_{\rm slow}$ decreases in this regime, with an increase in oxygen exiting through the marginal sinus veins that matches the increase in flow. We also see a small increase in oxygen uptake, which is due to oxygen being transported deeper into the IVS, into regions where there typically is very little oxygen for the villous tree to uptake. The kinetic EFLR remains roughly constant, except for a slight increase when resistance to flow is lower (i.e., $k \approx 10^{-6}$); this is because the fluid experiences more kinetic energy loss when resistance to flow is higher.

Finally, we consider the blood inlet speed, shown in the fourth column of Figures 4.7(a) and 4.7(b). \bar{v} directly increases for higher U, whilst \bar{c} decreases; these phenomena have been reported in the literature, with the reduction in oxygen uptake thought to be due to faster circulation times in which the villous tree has a reduced opportunity in which to uptake oxygen [14]. Related to this, there is a corresponding increase in $c_{\rm flux}(\Gamma_{\rm out,bp})$ for faster inflow; it is not immediately obvious that the oxygen flux through $\Gamma_{\rm out,ms}$ remains roughly constant for all values of U, although it is clear that is it related to the behaviour of $v_{\rm flux}(\Gamma_{\rm out,ms})$. Changes in U don't have a considerable impact on $v_{\rm slow}$, $v_{\rm flux}$, and $E_{\rm kinetic}$. However, $v_{\rm cross}$ displays a very interesting feature: whilst there is a roughly linear relationship for most choices of U, the values of $v_{\rm cross}$ illustrated at $U = 0.9 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ do not continue this pattern. In fact, the data itself is partitioned into $v_{\rm cross} \in [6.0 \times 10^{-4}, 7.1 \times 10^{-4}]$ and $v_{\rm cross} \in [9.2 \times 10^{-4}, 10.1 \times 10^{-4}]$.

To further investigate the behaviour of $v_{\rm cross}$ for varying U, we visualise the velocity field for one simulation in each of the two groups. Figure 4.8(a) shows a simulation with $U = 0.8866 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ and has $v_{\rm cross} = 6.0 \times 10^{-4}$, and 4.8(b) shows a simulation with $U = 0.8850 \,\mathrm{m\,s^{-1}}$ and has $v_{\rm cross} = 10.1 \times 10^{-4}$. We note that these simulations have been selected due to their similar values of U but contrasting values of $v_{\rm cross}$. Figures 4.8(c) and 4.8(d) respectively show a zoomed view of the right-most placentone for these two simulations, where we can see the jets of blood have a preference for either the left or right side of the central cavity, likely due to a bifurcation in the underlying PDE; related to this, we also see fewer streamlines cross the right-most wall in Figure 4.8(a) than in Figure 4.8(b), which is why $v_{\rm cross}$ is elevated in the latter simulation. This feature will be summarised and discussed further in §4.4.

Apart from the variations in number and location of vessels, this section has found that variations in k and U have the greatest impact on the efficiency measures.

4.4 Summary

Throughout Chapter 4, we have investigated the effects of various structural variations on placental function, as measured by seven chosen measures of placental efficiency. The value of the computational approach taken in this thesis is realised here, as this allowed us to explore these variations comprehensively across a large ensemble of realisations. §4.2 focussed specifically on variations in the number and positions of vessels, where numbers and positions of vessels were varied uniformly-at-random over 1000 realisations, and §4.3 independently varied seven other parameters over 7000 realisations.

Existing work on the positioning of basal plate veins has been conducted by Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12], but this was restricted to a placentone with two symmetricallyplaced basal plate veins. Others, such as Mekler et al. [54] investigated the effects of many basal plate veins and their symmetry, but these were again limited to a single placentone and assumed the spiral artery was placed centrally. This thesis has considered a physically-relevant 2D placenta geometry for the first time, and has therefore allowed for a more physiologically relevant study of the influence of structural parameters than previous studies. Our results found the same 'short-circuiting' behaviour reported by these previous studies, where blood exits through nearby veins and overall lowers oxygen uptake [12, 54]. Whilst the results of this thesis are restricted to 2D, the computational demand is much lower than an equivalent 3D study.

In general, the results presented in §4.2 showed high variability in the values of the efficiency measures outside the interquartile range when comparing these against the varying numbers of arteries and veins, but showed a much lower variability when compared against the ratio of veins-to-arteries; this suggests that the ratio may be more important in determining flow and transport behaviour. Three of the seven parameters varied in §4.3 had very little effect on the seven placental efficiency measures; these were variations in the artery mouth width, septal wall height, and oxygen diffusivity. This was surprising in



Figure 4.8: Velocity plot with a linear velocity magnitude colour scaling for simulations with (a) $U = 0.8866 \text{ m s}^{-1}$, and (b) $U = 0.8850 \text{ m s}^{-1}$. (c) and (d) respectively show zoomed in views of the right-most placentones shown in (a) and (b).

the case of the artery width, given that studies have suggested that small artery widths are related to diseased placentas, where flow enters the placenta at an order of magnitude faster [14]; however, we note that the mechanism through which placental function is decreased could be due to damage to villous tree structure from the high-speed flow, rather than the behaviour that the small artery width directly influences. The other four choices of parameters — namely vein width, oxygen uptake rate, permeability of the villous tree, and inlet blood flow speed — had much more of an influence on our efficiency measures.

We found that when there was a large number of veins, the flow was on average slower, due to the flow short-circuiting and exiting through nearby veins; this mirrors behaviour presented by Chernyavsky, Jensen, and Leach [12] and Mekler et al. [54]. Dellschaft et al. reported that diseased placentas generally had much less slow-moving blood, which from our results suggests that placentas with either a small number of arteries or large number of veins could be characteristic of disease. The fraction of slow flow in our simulations was two times lower than that reported in vivo by Dellschaft et al. [20], which could be due to the relatively large number of vessels to domain size in the 2D flow presented here, and highlights one of the restrictions of our 2D study.

We found that the number of arteries, the IVS permeability, the inlet blood flow speed, and (unsurprisingly) the oxygen uptake rate had the biggest influence on oxygen uptake. For the variations in the number of arteries, we found that the uptake rate is most affected due to each artery introducing a higher flux of flow and oxygen. For the variations in permeability, we instead found that higher speed flow penetrated deeper into the placenta, allowing a larger surface area for oxygen uptake. The results of Serov et al. [40] found an optimal density of the villous tree to enable the highest oxygen uptake, which balances resistive flow and uptake effects. However, our results found no such optimal value, instead finding that a more permeable villous tree gave the highest uptake. A reason for this is, unlike Serov et al. [40], we did not simultaneously investigate changes to the uptake rate due to increased villous surface area, which is likely the driver of an optimal villous density. Additionally, we found that higher inlet blood flow speeds decreased oxygen uptake, which supports the work of Burton et al. [14].

We also studied venous drainage routes, finding that flow had a slight preference for septal wall veins over basal plate veins for all choices of number of vessels; however, we remarked that this could simply be due to the higher number of septal wall veins available for exit (15 septal wall veins, as opposed to 12 basal plate veins). Interestingly, we found oxygen leaving the placenta at a high concentration (approximately 85% of what entered) in almost all the variation studies. This is oxygen that could have been uptaken by the villous tree to be delivered to the fetus, but instead exits the placenta and returns to the maternal circulation.

The approach of this chapter was to consider several thousand realisations of flow and oxygen concentration fields. On this scale, we cannot make useful comparisons by visualising every individual flow and oxygen transport field, and therefore we turned to seven lower-dimensional measures, where each measure was chosen such that the main features of the fields are captured. However, there are several other choices of measure that would have given us further insight into flow and oxygen transport behaviour. For example, measures characterising vessel position or outlet routes via particle tracking would likely have been of value in this chapter's analysis, as these are features that our measures do not capture and are likely important to blood flow and oxygen transport. Furthermore, studies of the heart have used energy measures that incorporate the fluid pressure (e.g., [127, 128]), which likely would have been relevant to our study of variations involving the villous tree.

Three venous drainage aspects we did not investigate were (i) the position of veins, (ii) the relative importance of septal wall veins and basal plate veins, and (iii) the impact of removal of marginal sinuses. Therefore, an interesting piece of future work could be to either vary the number of septal wall veins separately from basal plate veins (so that we understand their sole influence), or to study the effect of septal wall vein position more carefully; for example, the green- and red-boxed simulations from Figure 4.1(b) appear to show a large flux of blood being drawn to septal wall veins that occur higher up on the septal walls. A further simplification during §4.2 is that we varied the position of the vessels simultaneously to the number of vessels; an obvious next step would be to consider these effects separately.

The number and position of vessels are an assumption that may affect results, especially in §4.3 where vessels were placed symmetrically. For simplicity, we parameterised our 2D placenta geometry such that there were at most one artery per placentone, two basal plate veins per placentone, three septal wall veins per septal wall, and two permanently retained larger marginal sinus veins; in reality, there may be no such restrictions, and could have an effect on the results presented here.

We compared some of our results to previous experimental data of mean placenta speed and slow flow percentage. Overall, we found that our simulated flow speeds were faster than what is reported in the literature, and that our slow flow percentage was roughly twice as small as what is reported by Dellschaft et al. [20]. This disparity could be due to the 2D study of flow in this thesis, or due to unphysical parameter regimes chosen for the variations.

A unique aspect we studied in comparison to other studies is the flux of blood passing between placentones, which other studies have necessarily neglected due to considering only placentone geometries. We found that the amount of blood passing over septal walls (termed 'cross-flow flux' here) on average had a non-monotonic relationship with the number of arteries. Our results indicated that there needs to be a careful balance between more arteries driving an overall larger volume of blood, and asymmetric placement of arteries to encourage flow to exit through non-adjacent veins. However, we did also find that there was a much larger variation in cross-flow flux for varying numbers of arteries, likely due to effects from the number of veins. Variations in the number of veins were much more impactful, giving much higher cross-flow flux for lower numbers of veins; higher numbers of veins likely created opportunities for entering arterial flow to short-circuit and easily exit through nearby veins. Study of the cross-flow flux for varying inlet blood flow speed highlighted an interesting bifurcation phenomenon, where the jets of blood entering the peripheral placentones would prefer either the left or right side of the central cavity, even when the values of U were relatively similar. Bifurcations of the steady 2D Navier-Stokes equations have been documented by Cliffe et al. [129], where they obtained a critical Reynolds number at which a bifurcation occurs of Re ≈ 40.6 in the context of a widening channel domain that expands with a 3-to-1 ratio; whilst the widening spiral artery of the placenta and widening channel domains are different, the Reynolds number at the base of the spiral artery mouth in our aforementioned simulations was Re ≈ 110 , so it is reasonable that these phenomena are related.

One key observation of this chapter is that, of the parameter variations we have considered in this chapter, variations in the number of vessels are the most impactful on flow and oxygen concentration behaviour. Additionally, oxygen uptake is arguably the most important function of the placenta that we consider here; overall, our results found that low numbers of arteries, high numbers of veins, low permeability of the villous tree, and high-speed inlet blood flow reduce oxygen uptake, which may be characteristic of placental diseases such as PE and FGR.

The following chapter will take this thesis in a different direction to this chapter, instead investigating how we may compute numerical MRI signals from a computed velocity field. This allows us to directly compare MRI signals from real-world placentas with our computed MRI signals of our simulations of maternal blood flow.

Chapter 5 Numerical MRI

This chapter presents a method for numerical MRI (or synthetic MRI), where MRI signals are computed numerically for some underpinning flow field. Specifically, we will use either a manufactured simple flow field, or a simulated velocity field using the blood flow model introduced in §2.2, to compute the evolution of the nuclear magnetisation of particles following this velocity field — from which a single measurement of the MRI signal is taken at the so-called echo time. This approach provides a means of comparing our computational flow fields with in vivo placental flow data obtained from MRI scans.

In §5.1, we will introduce some preliminaries on how MRI scanners make their measurements. Next, §5.2 will present an algorithm for computing the MRI signals, which involves tracking the displacement of many particles that accumulate so-called magnetic spin due to an applied magnetic field, and measuring these spins at the so-called echo time. §5.3 will give some simple examples of MRI behaviour on some simple test flow fields at the voxel-level, before §5.4 presents MRI signals computed from our placental flow simulations. §5.5 will fit the data to an empirical model of MRI signal attenuation. §5.6 ties the chapter together, presenting results comparing MRI behaviour on in vivo placental scans and numerical MRI data from computational flow fields. §5.7 concludes the chapter with a summary of the presented results.

5.1 MRI preliminaries

We will ultimately compare in silico placental MRI data with in vivo placental MRI data, but first we present an overview of how MRI scanners make their measurements and how we can replicate this numerically. An important characteristic of motion-sensitising MRI is its lack of uniqueness in specifying the underlying velocity field. In fact, there are many velocity fields that may give the same MRI measurements. This phenomenon is discussed further in §5.3. This non-uniqueness property clearly causes complications when inferring underlying velocity fields from in vivo MRI data; the approach of this chapter is a first step to interpreting MRI data as flows by instead numerically calculating MRI signals from computational flow fields, and then comparing these numerical MRI signals directly with in vivo MRI signal data. The remainder of this section gives a description of the details presented in Chapter 9 of Bernstein, King, and Zhou [85] on motion-sensitising gradients.

An MRI image domain is made up of many non-overlapping voxels covering the area of interest. Voxels are rectangular cuboids, within which MRI makes its measurements¹. Within each voxel, there are a number of hydrogen particles, each of which has a magnetic spin ϕ associated with it. These individual particles are themselves sometimes referred to as *spins*. The nuclear magnetisation of individual particles can be written as $M = e^{-i\phi}$. It is the magnitude of the collective nuclear magnetisation within each voxel that MRI measures, often referred to as the signal and denoted by S.

A magnetic gradient is applied over the entire domain, where in this particular setup the magnetic field varies linearly from one side of the domain to the other. The size of this gradient is usually denoted by G or q. Magnetic gradients of a selection of strengths are applied through so-called *pulse profiles*, where the choice of pulse profile significantly changes the resulting MRI images. Typically, these pulse profiles are applied in succession three times: once for each of the coordinate directions. There are two main choices that make up the resulting magnetic gradient pulse profile: waveform and pulse sequence. Waveforms describe the shape of lobes in the sequence², where each period of non-zero magnetic gradient strength is referred to as a 'lobe': these lobes may be, for example, sinusoidal or rectangular. Pulse sequences describe the ordering and timing of the application of lobes. Figure 5.1 is reproduced from [85] and shows 3 different waveforms for the same pulse sequence for a magnetic gradient G in a single direction. We note that the first row in this figure shows a radio frequency (RF) pulse; RF pulses are used in combination with magnetic gradients here to initially align magnetic spins in the same direction in an effect called *refocusing*, and also to aid in the collection of signals. The remainder of this chapter does not explicitly talk about RF signals, as they are not important for our application, but we acknowledge that they are important in real MRI scanners.

We will focus on pulsed-gradient spin echo (PGSE) motion-sensitising gradients, with a rectangular waveform, which use magnetic gradients to detect motion of hydrogen particles in tissues. Following Nguyen et al. [95], we start by introducing a time profile, which is

¹For simplicity, this thesis only considers MRI measurements in 2D; we will continue to use the word 'voxels', rather than 'pixels', to describe the 2D squares used in this thesis nevertheless.

 $^{^{2}}$ In this context, 'lobes' refer to the form of the gradient pulse, not placental lobes.



Figure 5.1: Figure 9.4 from [85], showing 3 commonly used diffusion-gradient waveforms in gradient-echo pulse sequences, in combination with an RF sequence.

given by

$$f(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & t \in [t_1, t_1 + \delta], \\ -1, & t \in [t_1 + \Delta, t_1 + \Delta + \delta], \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where t = 0 corresponds to the spins being reset to $\phi = 0$, t_1 is the starting time of the first gradient pulse, and δ and Δ respectively describe the length of the lobes and length between the first lobe starting and the second lobe starting. Measurements of the signal are then taken at the chosen echo time $t_E > t_1 + \Delta + \delta$. The evolution of G between t = 0 and $t = t_E$ ms is referred to as a *sequence*. For this application, we fix $t_1 = 3.2$ ms, $\delta = 15.9$ ms, $\Delta = 30.9$ ms, and $t_E = 53$ ms [20]. f(t) is illustrated in Figure 5.2(a). From this, we can construct our magnetic gradient as

$$\mathbf{G}(t) := g \left[f(t - T_x) \hat{\mathbf{x}} + f(t - T_y) \hat{\mathbf{y}} + f(t - T_z) \hat{\mathbf{z}} \right],$$
(5.2)

where g is constant and controls the amplitude of \mathbf{G} , $\hat{\cdot}$ denotes the unit vectors in the coordinate directions, and T_x, T_y, T_z denote the starting times of each sequence for the x-, y-, and z-directions, respectively. The sequences are applied sequentially, as illustrated in Figure 5.2(b).

The so-called *b*-value parameterises the magnetic gradient strength, related to $\mathbf{G}(t)$ through the following [85]:

$$b = (2\gamma)^2 \int_0^{t_E} \|\mathbf{k}(t)\|^2 \, \mathrm{d}t,$$
(5.3)



Figure 5.2: (a) Sketch of the time profile given in Equation (5.1) between t = 0 and $t = t_E$. (b) Magnetic gradients applied sequentially in the 3 coordinate directions, for which the magnitude of the magnetic gradients is illustrated here. For each sequence, the spin is initialised $\phi = 0$ at $t = T_x, T_y, T_z$, and measurements are taken at $t = T_x + t_E$, $t = T_y + t_E$, and $t = T_z + t_E$.

where \mathbf{k} is defined by

$$\mathbf{k}(t) = \frac{\gamma^2}{2\pi} \int_0^t \mathbf{G}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s, \tag{5.4}$$

and γ is the gyromagnetic ratio [85], fixed as $\gamma = 42.57 \times 2\pi \times 10^6$ rad s⁻¹ T⁻¹ for our application [20]. Using Equations (5.1) and (5.2), Le Bihan [130] states that this relation may be simplified to

$$b = \gamma^2 g^2 \delta^2 (\Delta - \delta/3), \tag{5.5}$$

where we assume that the sequences are non-overlapping (i.e., $T_x + t_E < T_y$ and $T_y + t_E < T_z$).

An isochromat is an ensemble of individual particles on a scale smaller than voxels, whose individual magnetic spins ϕ are assumed to evolve in the same way [131]. Depending upon the strength of the magnetic field at an isochromat's location, the magnetic spin may evolve differently. The evolution of the *j*th isochromat's spin is given by

$$\phi_j(t) = \gamma \int_0^t \mathbf{G}(\tau) \cdot \mathbf{r}_j(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau, \qquad (5.6)$$

where \mathbf{r}_j is the displacement of the *j*th isochromat, given as $\mathbf{r}_j(t) = \mathbf{x}_j(t) - \mathbf{x}_j(0)$, and $\mathbf{x}_j(t)$ is the position of the *j*th isochromat at time *t* (see [85]). We note here that this corresponds to integrating the Bloch-Torrey equation in Equation (1.6) with $\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{0}$ (i.e., the Bloch equation [85]); this simplification is made due to the stronger effects of so-called pseudo-diffusion present in studies of blood flow [97, 98].

The MRI signal itself is measured at the echo time, t_E . For a magnetic gradient applied only in one axis direction, the complex nuclear magnetisation at time t for the jth

isochromat is given by [85] to be

$$M_{i}(t) := e^{-i\phi_{j}(t)}.$$
(5.7)

The total nuclear magnetisation in a voxel at time t is then given by

$$\bar{M}(t) := \sum_{j=1}^{N_x} M_j(t), \tag{5.8}$$

and the corresponding signal at the echo time is given by

$$S_x := \left| \bar{M}(T_x + t_{\rm E}) \right|,\tag{5.9}$$

where the sum is over all N_x isochromats in a given voxel. Similar expressions follow for S_y and S_z ; for clarity, we have

$$S_y := \left| \bar{M}(T_y + t_{\rm E}) \right|, \qquad (5.10)$$

$$S_z := \left| \bar{M} (T_z + t_{\rm E}) \right|. \tag{5.11}$$

The total signal in a given voxel is then computed as

$$S := S_x + S_y + S_z. \tag{5.12}$$

Our approach here focusses on motion-sensitising MRI, where the dependence of S upon b can help reveal flow characteristics. We will now introduce an algorithm for computing S for a given b, where particles are advected by an underlying velocity field.

5.2 Algorithm for computing numerical MRI signals

For all the simulations presented throughout the remainder of Chapter 5, we take voxels of size $2.5 \text{ mm} \times 2.5 \text{ mm}$ spanning the entire domain of interest. We then distribute the initial positions of many isochromats such that there are 20×20 equally-spaced isochromats in each voxel, where the *j*th isochromat's initial position is denoted by \mathbf{x}_{j}^{0} . Given the initial positions of each isochromat, we evolve the position of each isochromat according to the following:

$$\mathbf{x}_j^{n+1} = \mathbf{x}_j^n + \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_j^0) \ \Delta t, \tag{5.13}$$

for time points t^n between t = 0 and $t = t_E$: $\{t^n := n\Delta t \mid 0 \le n \le N_t\}$. Note that we fix **u** at t = 0 for computational simplicity. We discretise spin evolution from Equation (5.6)

in a similar way:

$$\phi_j^{n+1} = \phi_j^n + \gamma \operatorname{\mathbf{G}}(T_d + t^{n+1}) \cdot (\mathbf{x}_j^{n+1} - \mathbf{x}_j^0) \ \Delta t, \qquad (5.14)$$

where T_d is replaced by one of T_x, T_y, T_z depending upon the coordinate direction in which the spins are being measured.

Algorithm 5.1 gives the general algorithm for computing S, which is calculated over every voxel and many choices of b. In specific terms for our application, we start by selecting the set of isochromat positions that lie in the given voxel. We next obtain a steady-state velocity field; §5.3 will use some simple manufactured flow fields, whereas §5.4 will use a placental velocity field obtained from Chapters 2 and 3. For each b, we calculate $\mathbf{G}(t)$ given in Equation (5.2), where g is calculated through Equation (5.5), and b is chosen as 5001 equally-spaced values between $b = 0 \text{ s/mm}^2$ and $b = 500 \text{ s/mm}^2$. For simplicity, we take 531 equally-spaced time points between t = 0 and $t = t_E \equiv 53 \text{ ms}$. In each voxel, a value of S is computed for every value of b; calculations for each S can therefore be done independently, which allows for easy parallel execution if desired. We note that this procedure may advect isochromats outside the voxel in which they are being measured; this isn't significant due to the short timescales and slow velocities involved.

Algorithm 5.1: Numerically generates a signal S, given: a set of initial positions for each isochromat, a steady-state velocity field, a gradient sequence, and a set of discretised time points. This algorithm is used in each voxel for every choice of b.

input : $\{\bar{\mathbf{x}}_i\}$: Set of sampled initial positions for each of the N_x isochromats. $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x})$: Steady velocity field. $\mathbf{G}(t)$: Gradient sequence for a particular field strength, b. $\{t^n\}$: Set of N_t time-steps, each separated by Δt . 1 foreach $d \in \{x, y, z\}$ (dimension) do Initialise spins for all isochromats: $\{\phi_i^0\} \leftarrow \{0\}$ $\mathbf{2}$ Initialise positions for all isochromats: $\{\mathbf{x}_{i}^{0}\} \leftarrow \{\bar{\mathbf{x}}_{j}\}$ 3 for n = 0 to $N_t - 1$ (time-steps) do $\mathbf{4}$ for j = 1 to N_x (isochromats) do 5 $\mathbf{x}_{j}^{n+1} \leftarrow \mathbf{x}_{j}^{n} + \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_{j}^{0}) \Delta t$ $\phi_{j}^{n+1} \leftarrow \phi_{j}^{n} + \gamma \ \mathbf{G}(T_{d} + t^{n+1}) \cdot (\mathbf{x}_{j}^{n+1} - \mathbf{x}_{j}^{0}) \Delta t$ 6 7 end 8 end 9 $S_d \leftarrow \left| \sum_{j=1}^{N_x} \exp\left(-i\phi_j^{N_t}\right) \right|$ 10 11 end 12 $S \leftarrow S_x + S_y + S_z$ output:S

We will now use some simple manufactured flows to understand the dependence of

MRI signal (S) upon magnetic field strength (b) through S-vs-b graphs. Graphs such as these are useful to study, as different patterns can provide insight into the underlying sub-voxel flow field.

5.3 MRI for simple manufactured flows

Here, we will present a series of carefully designed example cases aimed at understanding the behaviour of MRI signals over different 2D velocity fields. For simplicity, each example is defined on the domain $\Omega := [0, 1]^2 \text{m}^2$, with a single voxel spanning the entire domain. We choose 5001 equally-spaced *b*-values ranging $0-500 \text{ s/mm}^2$, with a 20×20 grid of isochromats that are initially equally-spaced over Ω . Some of these examples will then be referred to when discussing the results of §5.4.

5.3.1 Shear flow

In the following three examples, we have a velocity field describing shear flow, given by

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} U_1 \ \hat{\mathbf{y}} & \text{if } x < 0.5, \\ U_2 \ \hat{\mathbf{y}} & \text{if } x \ge 0.5, \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

where U_1 and U_2 are scaling constants, and $\hat{\mathbf{y}}$ is the unit normal vector in the *y*-direction. The following subsubsections consider three different choices of U_1 and U_2 and the effect these have on S.

5.3.1.1 Example 1

We initially select $U_1 = 0.005 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ and $U_2 = 0.01 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$. This velocity field is visualised in Figure 5.3(a).

We denote S, S_x , and S_y at b = 0 respectively by S_0 , $S_{x,0}$, and $S_{y,0}$, and denote the normalised signals by

$$\bar{S} := S/S_0, \tag{5.16a}$$

$$\bar{S}_x := S_x / S_{x,0},\tag{5.16b}$$

$$\bar{S}_y := S_y / S_{y,0}.$$
 (5.16c)

We note that $S = S_x + S_y$ here, since there is no z-component to the signal in the 2D

simulations presented in this thesis; we also note that $\bar{S}, \bar{S}_x, \bar{S}_y \in [0, 1]$. Figure 5.3(b) presents these normalised signals against b, where we see that \bar{S} oscillates between 0.5 and 1, with a decreasing frequency as b increases.

To understand why the oscillations are confined between 0.5 and 1, let's consider Equation (5.12), which states that the total signal S for this 2D example is composed of signals from both the x- and y-directions (for simplicity, we set $S_z \equiv 0$ for the 2D flows in this thesis). The blue and green lines in Figure 5.3(b) respectively show the x- and y-components of the normalised signal (\bar{S}_x and \bar{S}_y) plotted against b. In the case of this artificially-created 2D velocity field, there is no movement in the x-direction, and therefore isochromats experience no variation in magnetic field strength, consequently giving no signal loss for S_x (i.e, $S_x \equiv 1$). We note that full signal will always be retained at b = 0($\bar{S}_{x,0} = 1$ and $\bar{S}_{y,0} = 1$), and in the most extreme case \bar{S}_y will lose all signal ($\bar{S}_y = 0$) for some b > 0. This therefore gives $\bar{S} = 1$ when $\bar{S}_y = 1$, and $\bar{S} = 0.5$ when $\bar{S}_y = 0$.

To understand the frequency decrease, we recall Equation (5.6), which shows that ϕ depends upon the integral of **G**; in turn, Equation (5.5) indicates that *b* depends quadratically on *g*, meaning that the frequency decrease is quadratic in *b*. Figure 5.3(c) instead plots *S* against *g*, for which we see that the frequency is constant for increasing *g*.

Figure 5.3(b) shows that \bar{S}_y oscillates between 0 and 1, and at minima the derivative is discontinuous. This effect where signal is recovered quickly from S = 0 is sometimes known as a *rebound* or *rebounding*. The non-unity values of \bar{S}_y can be explained by visualising the nuclear magnetisation using Equation (5.8). Figure 5.3(d) shows the different values of $\bar{M}(T_y+t_E)$ for different choices of b, where the colour of the arrow varies from lightest green $(b = 0 \text{ s/mm}^2)$ to darkest green $(b = 2 \text{ s/mm}^2)$; we choose to only visualise $\bar{M}(T_y + t_E)$ here because there is no signal loss for $\bar{M}(T_x + t_E)$; this shows how S_y decreases with increasing b in this range. Although not illustrated, at approximately $b = 10.5 \text{ s/mm}^2$, the magnitude of $\bar{M}(T_y + t_E)$ (i.e., S_y) is approximately zero, giving a minimum in Figure 5.3(b), for which the derivative is discontinuous as $\bar{M}(T_y + t_E)$ passes through the origin.

We recall from Equation (5.8) that $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ is computed from the sum of several unit magnitude complex numbers which encode the spins for each individual isochromat; Figure 5.3(e) visualises the set of all isochromats in the voxel for $b = 2 \text{ s/mm}^2$ denoted by $\{M_j(T_y + t_E)\}$, with $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ also shown. We highlight that the most important feature of this test case is that the isochromats are clustered into two groups, corresponding to the two choices of fluid speed on either side of the domain; this is due to Equation (5.6) and the dependence of spin ϕ upon the displacement \mathbf{r} , which will accumulate at one of two rates.



Figure 5.3: The shear flow example from §5.3.1.1 with $U_1 = 0.005 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ and $U_2 = 0.01 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$, showing visualisations of (a) the velocity field for each isochromat, (b) S against b, (c) S against g, (d) $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ for different choices of b, and (e) individual isochromat values of $\{M_j(T_y + t_E)\}$ for $b = 2 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$.

5.3.1.2 Example 2

We will now give another example of a shear flow velocity field, which is visualised in Figure 5.4(a), this time with $U_1 = 0.0025 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ and $U_2 = -0.0025 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$. Figure 5.4(b) shows the *S*-vs-*b* graph for this example. Interestingly, this graph is identical to the one shown in Figure 5.3(b). Figure 5.4(c) shows the values of $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ from $b = 0 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$ (lightest green) to $b = 2 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$ (darkest green), which shows that the argument of the complex number $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ (i.e., ϕ) is unchanging, whilst the magnitude of $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ (i.e., *S*) does change — and does so in precisely the same way as the previous example. Lastly, Figure 5.4(d) shows each individual isochromat's spin for $b = 2 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$, which are again clustered into two groups that are separated by the same phase as the previous example.

Crucially, this second test is an example of the non-uniqueness of MRI signals when measuring two different flow fields; the important message here is that is it the difference in relative speed between the groups that causes gives the behaviour in S: since the difference between the two velocity scalings are equal in both examples ($|U_2 - U_1| = 0.005 \text{ m s}^{-1}$), they exhibit exactly the same signal curve against b. This is shown succinctly by Equation (5.6), which shows that the evolution of ϕ depends upon the displacement of the isochromats, each of which displace with velocity $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}^0)$.

5.3.1.3 Example 3

One final example of shear flow is to take $U_1 = 0.01 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ and $U_2 = 0.01 \text{ m s}^{-1}$, which we note gives a constant flow. This velocity field is visualised in Figure 5.5(a). The *S*-vs-*b* graph is shown in Figure 5.5(b), which attains full signal for all choices of *b*. Because $U_2 - U_1 = 0$ here, Figure 5.5(d) shows that there is no signal loss for all *b*. Although Figure 5.5(c) shows the angle of $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ changing for different *b*, all the isochromats remain in a single group, therefore giving $\overline{S} = 1$.

5.3.2 Rotational flow

For the next example of velocity field, we introduce a rotational flow, given by

$$\mathbf{u}(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} -U_1 y/L \\ U_2 x/L \end{pmatrix},\tag{5.17}$$



Figure 5.4: The shear flow example from §5.3.1.2 with $U_1 = 0.0025 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ and $U_2 = -0.0025 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$, showing visualisations of (a) the velocity field for each isochromat, (b) S against b, (c) $\bar{M}(T_y + t_E)$ for different choices of b, and (d) individual isochromat values of $\{M_j(T_y + t_E)\}$ for $b = 2 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$.



Figure 5.5: The shear flow example from §5.3.1.3 with $U_1 = 0.01 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ and $U_2 = 0.01 \text{ m s}^{-1}$, showing a visualisation of (a) the velocity field for each isochromat, (b) S against b, (c) $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ for different choices of b, and (d) individual isochromat values of $\{M_j(T_y + t_E)\}$ for $b = 2 \text{ s/mm}^2$.

where L = 1 m is the length of the domain. For simplicity, we select $U_1 = 0.01 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ and $U_2 = 0.01 \text{ m s}^{-1}$, which gives the velocity field illustrated in Figure 5.6(a).

The S-vs-b graph is shown in Figure 5.6(b); similar to the previous examples, we observe oscillations with decreasing frequency as b increases (or equivalently constant frequency as g increases). Figure 5.6(c) also shows a familiar pattern for each b to those shown in the shear flow examples. Figure 5.6(d) plots the individual spins for each isochromat for $b = 2 \text{ s/mm}^2$, which, unlike the previous examples, cluster into 20 values associated with the number of isochromats lying in the y-direction. $b = 9.4 \text{ s/mm}^2$ corresponds to the first local minimum of $\bar{S} \approx 0$ in Figure 5.6(b), which is where the isochromats become equally-separated and therefore give a signal of $\bar{S} = 0$. Figure 5.6(e) shows the individual spins distributed equally for $b = 9.4 \text{ s/mm}^2$.

We note that the amplitude of the oscillations decreases as b increases in Figure 5.6(b). In previous examples, full signal ($\bar{S} = 1$) was regained through an effect known as *refocusing* — where spins coincide at b > 0. Refocusing does not happen to the same extent here due to the spins clustering into 20 values (due to the number of sample points), rather than just 2. For $b = 19.3 \text{ s/mm}^2$, Figure 5.6(b) shows a local maximum of $\bar{S} \approx 0.22$. Figure 5.6(f) plots the individual spins again for this choice of b, which shows 14 different phases in which isochromats cluster into, with 6 of those phases in the lower right showing two isochromats overlapping (indicated by the darker gray arrow opacity). The lowering amplitude of \bar{S} is therefore due to a weakening refocusing effect, where fewer isochromats overlap with the same phase, resulting in a gradually smaller value of \bar{S} .

5.3.3 Accelerating flow

In this final simple flow example, we have a velocity profile describing accelerating flow, given by

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) = U e^{X(x-L)} \hat{\mathbf{x}},\tag{5.18}$$

where U is a scaling for the velocity, X is a scaling for the position, L is the length of the domain, and $\mathbf{x} \equiv (x, y)^{\intercal}$. For simplicity, we select $U = -0.01 \text{ m s}^{-1}$, $X = 2.3026 \text{ m}^{-1}$, and L = 1 m; we note that this choice of parameters yields a negatively accelerating flow (i.e., a decelerating flow) and is compressible (i.e., $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} \neq 0$). Figure 5.7(a) visualises this velocity field.

Figure 5.7(b) shows the corresponding S-vs-b graph, where we note that $\bar{S}_y \equiv 1$ because there is no flow in the y-direction, which is unlike the previous flow examples. We notice that \bar{S}_x has oscillations, but none of these dephase enough to give $\bar{S}_x = 0$, unlike the previous examples we have considered. Interestingly, the amplitude of the oscillations increases for increasing b, although the general trend of \bar{S}_x decreases in value.



Figure 5.6: The rotational flow example from §5.3.2 with $U_1 = 0.01 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ and $U_2 = 0.01 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$, showing visualisations of (a) the velocity field for each isochromat, (b) S against b, and (c) $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ for different choices of b. (d), (e), and (f) respectively show individual isochromat values of $\{M_j(T_y + t_E)\}$ for $b = 2 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$, $b = 9.4 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$, and $b = 19.3 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$.

Figure 5.7(c) shows $\overline{M}(T_x + t_E)$ between $b = 0 \text{ s/mm}^2$ (lightest blue) and $b = 2 \text{ s/mm}^2$ (darkest blue). In this chosen range of b, $\overline{M}(T_x + t_E)$ is quite similar to $\overline{M}(T_y + t_E)$ for the rotational flow presented in Figure 5.6(d). However, as Figure 5.7(b) shows, the values of \overline{S}_x for higher b are quite different due to $\overline{M}(T_x + t_E)$ not passing through the origin. Figure 5.7(d) shows the individual spins of each isochromat, which, unlike the previous examples, are not evenly spaced around $\overline{M}(T_x + t_E)$; instead, there are a higher density of isochromat spins ϕ closer to zero. Carefully considering the rotational example in only the *y*-direction, we note that the isochromats have a linear variation in the velocity field, which leads to an equal distribution of spin accumulation rates; however, the accelerating flow instead has an exponential variation in the velocity field, which produces a higher density of slower-moving isochromats near x = 0 m (that displace a smaller amount than faster-moving isochromats near x = 1 m), which in turn makes these isochromats accumulate less spin (see Equation (5.6)).

5.3.4 Summary of simple manufactured flows

These simple examples have given us an understanding of how local flow fields affect MRI signal, S, according to variations in the magnetic field strength, b. We inspected, in detail, the behaviour of individual isochromats under different velocity fields and their dependence upon the underlying velocity field, and what overall effect this has on a voxel's measured MRI signal.

We found that almost all of our flow examples gave some sort of oscillatory behaviour in S for increasing b, with the notable exception being constant flow, where maximum signal is always retained. In particular, we found several oscillating signals that recovered sharply from S = 0, which are known as rebounds. We also found that the frequency of the aforementioned oscillations in S decreased quadratically in b, due to the relationship between b and **G**.

We also gave an example of two different shearing flow velocity fields that produced exactly the same MRI signals, thus demonstrating non-uniqueness in S-vs-b patterns in specifying the underlying velocity field. The rotational flow example gave an amplitude reduction in the S oscillations, which was due to a weakening refocussing effect; this was where only some of the individual isochromat phases coincided at local maxima, and therefore gave a lower overall signal. The accelerating flow example gave an interesting S-vs-b graph, where the signal overall reduced, but actually increased in amplitude for b > 50. From this point onward, we will use S in place of \overline{S} to simplify the notation when it is clear that S is normalised.

We will now calculate MRI signals on a flow field computed from our model of placental blood flow.



Figure 5.7: The accelerating flow example from §5.3.3 with $U = -0.01 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ and $X = \ln(10)$, showing (a) a visualisation of the velocity field for each isochromat, (b) S against b, (c) $\overline{M}(T_x + t_E)$ for different choices of b, and (d) individual isochromat values of $\{M_j(T_x + t_E)\}$ for $b = 2 \,\mathrm{s/mm^2}$.



Figure 5.8: (a) S for $b = 1 \text{ s/mm}^2$ on a real MRI scan, showing the placenta and attached fetus, with (b) showing a zoomed in view on the red box. Two highlighted voxels are coloured in blue and green for later discussion. Data provided via private correspondence with George Hutchinson^a and Penny Gowland^b.

 a george.hutchinson1@nottingham.ac.uk b penny.gowland@nottingham.ac.uk

5.4 MRI for placental flows

This section will briefly provide visualisations of real and simulated MRI data, which will be explored in greater depth in §5.6.

The 'standard' MRI pictures that are usually used in a medical setting are a 3D stack of 2D images in x-y space showing S in each voxel for a fixed b (i.e., for a fixed choice of magnetic field strength). An example MRI image for $b = 1 \text{ s/mm}^2$ on a single z-slice of a real placenta and surrounding area is shown in Figure 5.8(a). These pictures are often referred to as 'signal maps'. Signal maps allow for study of changing S-value over a 3D stack of 2D x-y slices, whereas the S-vs-b graphs allow for study of changing S-value over different magnetic field strengths b. Although we will not explore signal maps in any great depth, we introduce them here to visualise placental structure for later discussion. Figure 5.8(b) shows a zoomed-in view of Figure 5.8(a), with two voxels marked in blue and green for later discussion.

We will now use the mathematical model of the blood flow field from Chapter 2, with the numerical methods from Chapter 3 to simulate blood flow in the placenta, and then use the algorithm from 5.2 to compute S in each voxel for many choices of b. We will specifically choose the problem setup from 3.4.2, where basal plate veins have been placed asymmetrically. The flow field from this simulation is shown in Figure 3.6, which is

repeated here for convenience.

The voxels used by Dellschaft et al. [20] are $2.5 \text{ mm} \times 2.5 \text{ mm} \times 6 \text{ mm}$ in size; for the simulations that we perform here, we therefore take our 2D 'voxels' (or equivalently 'pixels') as $2.5 \text{ mm} \times 2.5 \text{ mm}$ in size. The grid of voxels spans the entire simulation domain Ω , which for the sizes involved here corresponds to 91 voxels in the *x*-direction and 19 voxels in the *y*-direction. Figure 5.9(a) shows the outline of the placenta geometry with voxels of size $2.5 \text{ mm} \times 2.5 \text{ mm}$ overlaid on top, with a simplified visualisation of the velocity field of Figure 3.6 shown through logarithmically-scaled arrows that are computed using the mean velocity in each voxel; for clarity, the mean velocity in each voxel in this visualisation is calculated as

$$\bar{\mathbf{u}} = \frac{1}{400} \sum_{j=1}^{400} \mathbf{u}_j,\tag{5.19}$$

where \mathbf{u}_j is the velocity of the *j*th isochromat. The direction of the arrows point in the direction of $\bar{\mathbf{u}}$, and the length of the arrows are proportional to

$$\log\left(\frac{|\bar{\mathbf{u}}|}{10^{-5}}\right),$$

with a threshold below $|\bar{\mathbf{u}}| = 10^{-5} \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$, where the arrows are given zero length.

The local flow in the blue and green highlighted voxels of Figure 5.9(a) are respectively shown in Figures 5.9(b) and 5.9(c), which are visualised for all 400 isochromats in these voxels; we note that on this occasion the arrows are coloured and scaled *linearly*. In brief, the local flow field of the blue voxel is one that is roughly moving from the bottom-right corner to the left side, decelerating slightly as it moves across the domain. The local flow field of the green voxel shows high-speed flow entering from the bottom-right corner and spreading out to exit through the left and top sides; we note that the flow decelerates as it does so, with a faster rate of deceleration for the flow that exits on the left side. We note that the colour bars are not consistent between these plots, with the flow in the green voxel travelling approximately an order of magnitude faster.

We will now briefly introduce a typical fitting technique for MRI data.

5.5 Fitting an empirical signal model

It is standard practice in the MRI literature to use the so-called 'IVIM model' (Intra-Voxel Incoherent Motion) to fit the relationship between S and b [20, 98]. The IVIM model is an empirical bi-exponential curve with two decay rates denoted by D and D^* . For blood, these diffusion rates are typically separated by an order of magnitude [98]: $10D \approx D^*$. The IVIM model assumes that isochromats are partitioned into two disjoint groups, where



Figure 5.9: Figure 3.6 shows the simulated placenta velocity field from §3.4.2, where black streamlines are plotted, and the colour scale is logarithmic. (a) shows the same simulated placenta velocity field with voxels overlaid; the visualisation here plots the mean velocity among isochromats in each voxel, with logarithmic arrow lengths; two coloured voxels are indicated for later discussion. (b) and (c) give the local velocity field for each isochromat in the indicated coloured voxels from (a); note that these colours and arrows are scaled linearly, and the colour bar ranges differ between these plots.

 f_{IVIM} denotes the fraction of isochromats that *only* decay with rate D^* . The IVIM model can be written as:

$$S = S_0((1 - f_{\rm IVIM})\exp(-bD) + f_{\rm IVIM}\exp(-bD^*)),$$
(5.20)

where all four parameters $(S_0, f_{IVIM}, D, \text{ and } D^*)$ are fitted to given data points (b, S). An application of the IVIM model in this context is to infer local flow from existing signal data [98].

A physical interpretation of D and D^* is often adopted, designating D as molecular diffusion, and D^* as so-called pseudo-diffusion [98]. In the context of modelling placental MRI signal data, pseudo-diffusion is thought to correspond to 'turbulent' or shearing movement in the placenta [20].

We will now take the IVIM model of Equation (5.20) to fit to data from both real and simulated MRI data. There are many ways in which to fit the data, but we chose to follow the approach of Le Bihan [98]; this involves fitting using a least-squares regression method, where initial guesses for D^* and D are first calculated from two separate mono-exponential decays of the form

$$S = S_0 \exp(-bD^*) \quad \text{or} \quad S = S_0 \exp(-bD),$$

the former for S data associated with $b \in [0, 110] \text{ s/mm}^2$, and the latter for S data associated with $b \in [110, 500] \text{ s/mm}^2$.

Figure 5.10(a) visualises the value of $f_{\rm IVIM}$ over each voxel in our simulated placental flow, with Figure 3.6 repeated above for comparison. These pictures are often referred to as 'IVIM maps'. Figure 5.10(a) shows most notably that areas of high $f_{\rm IVIM}$ are associated with areas of high-speed flow in the IVS, but not areas of high-speed flow in other areas such as arteries or veins.

Next, Figures 5.10(b) and 5.10(c) show the IVIM map for the real placental imaging data in Figures 5.8(a) and 5.8(b), respectively, which are again repeated here for comparison. Figure 5.10(c) shows a large area of high $f_{\rm IVIM}$ surrounding the blue and green highlighted voxels; notably, Figure 5.10(c) does not show a high value of $f_{\rm IVIM}$ in the area below these voxels, where 5.8(b) shows a protruding area of high S. Drawing parallels from the distribution of $f_{\rm IVIM}$ in the simulated flow, we therefore expect that the protruding area corresponds to a spiral artery, with flow in the area of high $f_{\rm IVIM}$ corresponding to high-speed flow in the IVS. This reaffirms the arguments made by Dellschaft et al. [20].

Fitting the S-vs-b data to the empirical IVIM model has allowed us to determine areas of high-speed flow in the IVS, with the IVIM map presented in Figure 5.10(c) key in locating the spiral artery in the real MRI data. We will now make comparison between simulated placental flow and real MRI data, along with comparisons to specific examples


Figure 3.6 (repeated)





Figure 5.8(b) (repeated)

Figure 5.8(a) (repeated)



Figure 5.10: Figure 3.6 visualises the blood flow field from §3.4.2, and (a) shows the corresponding IVIM map. Figure 5.8(a) (repeated) shows S for $b = 1 \text{ s/mm}^2$ on a real MRI scan, showing the placenta and attached fetus, with Figure 5.8(b) (repeated) showing a zoomed in view on the red box; panels (b) and (c) respectively show the corresponding IVIM maps, with the same blue and green voxels highlighted.

of the manufactured accelerating flow.

5.6 Comparison of signals

We will now turn our attention to the S-vs-b graphs for both the simulated placenta and real MRI scan data, and present the main results of this chapter. The corresponding S-vs-b graphs for the blue and green voxels of the *simulated placental flow* are respectively given in Figures 5.11(a) and 5.11(b). The locations of these two chosen voxels are important: the blue voxel lies in the transition region between the central cavity and IVS, relatively far from the spiral artery; the green voxel lies within the central cavity, close to the spiral artery mouth.

In §5.5, we found that the voxels surrounding the protruding area of high S contained high values of f_{IVIM} ; this, combined with the proximity to the edge of the placenta, gave us confidence that these voxels are likely close to a spiral artery. We have chosen the blue and green highlighted voxels of the *real MRI data* in Figure 5.8(b) carefully, such that the placement mirrors the positioning of the coloured voxels for the simulated flow. The S-vs-b graphs for the blue and green voxels of the *real MRI data* are given respectively in Figures 5.11(c) and 5.11(d). We remark that there is a relatively low resolution in bwhen compared to previous examples we have presented, due to limitations in the imaging process; this data uses 19 selected b-values³. We also remark that this data, unlike the simulated flow, is susceptible to noise contamination because it is real data from a physical MRI scanner.

We first make a comparison between the blue voxels for the simulated flow and real MRI data, for which the S-vs-b graphs are respectively given in Figures 5.11(a) and 5.11(c). Although correspondence is not perfect here, we can see some clearly similar features; namely, in both graphs the signals decrease rapidly up to $b \approx 100 \text{ s/mm}^2$, which then briefly increase to a peak at $b \approx 200 \text{ s/mm}^2$, before decreasing again up to $b \approx 500 \text{ s/mm}^2$. For this particular local flow field on the simulated placental flow, \bar{S} , \bar{S}_x , and \bar{S}_y are all very similar to each other. By visual inspection, we notice that these S-vs-b graphs for the blue voxels are quite similar to the graphs presented for the accelerating flow in §5.3.3. In fact, by appropriately selecting values of U and X in Equation (5.18), we can obtain a very similar graph here. We select $U = -0.005 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ and X = 0.75, for which S-vs-b graph is given in Figure 5.11(e). Again, this S-vs-b graph for the manufactured flow decays up to $b \approx 100 \text{ s/mm}^2$, rebounding, and then decaying towards $b \approx 500 \text{ s/mm}^2$. To be clear, we have not fitted for the choices of U and X in this example; instead, we selected a choice of

³The data provided to us by George Hutchinson (george.hutchinson1@nottingham.ac.uk) and Penny Gowland (penny.gowland@nottingham.ac.uk) uses $b \in \{0, 1, 3, 9, 18, 32, 54, 88, 110, 147, 180, 200, 230, 270, 300, 350, 400, 450, 500\}$ s/mm².



Figure 5.11: Presents six S-vs-b graphs on simulated placental flow, real MRI scan data, and manufactured flow data. (a) and (b) respectively present the S-vs-b graphs for the blue and green voxels indicated in the simulated placental flow in Figure 3.6. (c) and (d) respectively present the S-vs-b graphs for the blue and green voxels indicated in the real MRI scan data in Figure 5.8(b). (e) and (f) present two choices of the accelerating flow from §5.3.3, with the parameters respectively chosen as $U = -0.005 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$, X = 0.75, and $U = -0.01 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$, X = 1.

the parameters that exhibited approximately the same behaviour.

Next, we compare the green voxels for the simulated flow and real MRI data, respectively given in Figures 5.11(b) and 5.11(d). We also select a different accelerating flow with $U = -0.01 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ and X = 1, for which the S-vs-b graph is shown in Figure 5.11(f). The agreement between these three graphs is less clear than the comparison made for the blue voxels; however, all of these graphs do contain the same initial fast decay in signal for low b, and then oscillate with lowering frequency as b increases. Again, we make it clear that we did not fit for U and X here.

Through our analysis of the manufactured flows in §5.3, we found that smaller differences in flow speed across the voxel would result in lower frequency oscillations. This feature is present here, demonstrated by the local flow fields and S-vs-b graphs presented for each of the blue and green voxels here. We also found that for rotational and accelerating flow (of which, both flows share characteristics of the local flow fields presented for the simulated placental flow in Figures 5.9(b) and 5.9(c)) had an overall decaying pattern in S as b increased.

Although there are obvious limitations to inferring flows by using their S-vs-b graphs — for example, due to their non-uniqueness in specifying the underlying flow field — we have carefully selected voxels in the simulated flow and real MRI data such that they are positioned close to spiral arteries. Therefore, provided the blood flow model is adequate in capturing flow features, a natural interpretation is that the local flows in these two selected voxels from the MRI data are likely to be decelerating, and specifically are likely to be similar to the local flows presented in Figures 5.9(b) and 5.9(c).

Whilst the IVIM model has been used in previous studies to identify regions of fast flow in the placenta (e.g., [20]), this interpretation lacks directional information and fails to capture the rebound behaviour present in the S-vs-b graphs presented here. The method presented here gives an alternative interpretation of flow apart from that given by the IVIM model, which incorporates local flow behaviour provided by our mathematical model of maternal blood flow.

5.7 Summary

At the beginning of this chapter, we introduced the basic physics underpinning signal measurement of motion-sensitising gradients in MRI scanning, focussing on a typical waveform and pulse sequence for this application. We introduced an algorithm for numerically calculating measured signals, S, in each voxel for a given velocity field and magnetic gradient strength. For computational simplicity, we made the simplification that particles follow the velocity field from their initial position; future work could therefore consider particle trajectories along the streamlines of the flow.

We then calculated S on some simple manufactured velocity fields of shearing, rotational, and accelerating flow; this allowed us to understand the relationship between S and b in detail with these simple velocity fields, and is one of the main contributions of this chapter. In particular, we characterised how so-called 'rebounds' in signal occur through rephasing of isochromat spins. We also highlighted that there is a non-uniqueness issue with MRI, whereby multiple velocity fields may give the same S-vs-b graph.

We next used the velocity field from the problem presented in §3.4.2, where flow is asymmetric due to basal plate vein locations, reflecting the asymmetries that would ordinarily occur in a real placenta. We then overlaid a grid of voxels spanning our placenta domain and inspected the local velocity fields for two selected voxels.

The empirical IVIM [98] was then introduced, from which we fitted simulated placental flow and in vivo data to the IVIM model. The fit parameters allowed us to locate a likely location for a spiral artery in the real MRI data.

We finally computed MRI signals, S, in each voxel for each choice of magnetic field strength, b, on our simulated placental flow field; we used the resulting graphs on two carefully selected voxels to make comparisons both to the simple manufactured flows and to in vivo data provided by our collaborators, finding notable similarities in the S-vs-bgraphs, which allowed us to infer local flow fields from the real MRI data.

The voxels for comparison were chosen manually here, and therefore future work could consider an automated method for locating comparable voxels between simulated and real MRI data. Alternatively, future work could instead compute MRI signals from a simulated 3D placental flow field that uses the same physiological geometry as the real MRI data, allowing for a direct comparison between voxels.

One of the main roles of the placenta is to deliver oxygen to the fetus, which is not considered in this particular chapter; however, certain blood flow features (such as the distribution of slow flow) are characteristic of placental dysfunction and could be investigated further using the techniques described here. Although we used motionsensitising MRI gradients, other specialised gradients exist and have been applied for measuring oxygen in blood in the placenta [20].

Crucially, the work presented here provides an alternative method for interpreting signals from real MRI data, both through comparisons to the simulated flow data and the simple manufactured flows. The majority of the presented methods are unspecific to the placenta and could be reapplied to MRI of other organs such as the brain.

Chapter 6 Utero-placental pump

In 2020, Dellschaft et al. [20] were the first to report the so-called 'utero-placental pump' phenomenon. The utero-placental pump is a type of placental contraction that involves only the placenta, and is therefore unlike previously documented Braxton-Hicks that involves contractions of the entire uterus [36].

Here, we will outline a preliminary model of the utero-placental pump, utilising the same blood flow model, oxygen transport model, and placenta geometry from Chapter 2. We impose boundary motion as a first step to understand how shape change during the utero-placental pump influences oxygen transport, rather than model the mechanism of the contractions. This work uses a prescribed so-called 'domain velocity', which specifies how the domain should evolve; we will use the domain velocity through methods known as moving mesh methods, which specify how the discretisation handles the domain movement. As far as we are aware, this is the first model of maternal blood flow that considers the utero-placental pump, and lays the computational framework for understanding oxygen transport and placental disease during these contractions.

In §6.1, we will begin by introducing a modified DGFEM scheme that is valid for time-dependent domains $\Omega(t)$. §6.2 will then present some basic numerical experiments that show optimal convergence rates under spatial mesh and time-step refinement, and show how NSD (Navier-Stokes-Darcy) behaves with solid boundary movement. §6.3 will provide the main results of this chapter, with domain movement applied to the asymmetric placenta problem originally presented in §3.4.2. §6.4 will conclude with an overview of the results and future work.

6.1 DGFEM discretisations

We will first derive finite element methods for moving domains, where each point in the domain evolves according to domain velocity $\mathbf{w}(\mathbf{x}, t)$. We start by taking a general scalar time-dependent PDE problem: find u such that

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \mathcal{L}u,\tag{6.1}$$

where \mathcal{L} is some spatial differential operator. As is typical for deriving finite element methods, we multiply Equation (6.1) by an appropriate test function and integrate to give:

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \int_{\Omega} (\mathcal{L}u) v \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(6.2)

We next state the Reynolds Transport Theorem from Aris [132].

Theorem 6.1. Let $\Omega(t)$ be a time-dependent closed domain for $t \in [0, T]$, with points moving continuously according to domain velocity $\mathbf{w}(\mathbf{x}, t) \equiv \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}}{\mathrm{d}t}$ in $\Omega(t)$, and $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{x}, t)$ be any scalar function. Then

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega(t)} \mathcal{F} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \int_{\Omega(t)} \frac{\partial \mathcal{F}}{\partial t} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \int_{\partial\Omega(t)} \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \,\mathrm{d}s, \tag{6.3}$$

where $\mathbf{n}(t)$ denotes the outward unit normal to $\Omega(t)$, and $\partial \Omega(t)$ is the closed surface forming the boundary of $\Omega(t)$.

Proof. Proof can be found in Aris [132].

Using Equation (6.3) with $\mathcal{F} = uv$ in combination with the product rule, the LHS of Equation (6.2) can be written as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega(t)} uv \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \int_{\Omega(t)} u \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \int_{\partial\Omega(t)} uv(\mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}) \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} v \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(6.4)

We next state the divergence theorem from Matthews [133].

Theorem 6.2. Let \mathcal{G} be a continuously differentiable vector field defined in Ω . Then

$$\int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \int_{\partial \Omega} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, \mathrm{d}s, \tag{6.5}$$

where **n** denotes the outward unit normal to Ω , and $\partial \Omega$ is the closed surface forming the boundary of Ω .

Proof. Proof can be found in Matthews [133].

Using Equation (6.5) with $\mathcal{G} = uv\mathbf{w}$ in combination with the product rule, Equation (6.4) can be written as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega(t)} uv \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \int_{\Omega(t)} \left(u \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + u(\mathbf{w} \cdot \nabla v) + \nabla \cdot (u\mathbf{w})v \right) \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}v \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \tag{6.6}$$

We assume that the test functions move with the domain velocity, which is a valid assumption for simplex meshes with flat faces [134]:

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + \mathbf{w} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} v = 0$$

This allows us to write Equation (6.6) as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega(t)} uv \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \int_{\Omega(t)} \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot (u\mathbf{w})v \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}v \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(6.7)

For the equivalent vector problem, i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} = \mathcal{L}\mathbf{u},\tag{6.8}$$

with test functions \mathbf{v} , this relation is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega(t)} \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \int_{\Omega(t)} [\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot (\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathbf{w})] \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(6.9)

6.1.1 Navier-Stokes-Darcy discretisation

We recall that the NSD equations describing the blood flow in Chapter 2 were given by

$$\rho \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} + \Psi \frac{\mu}{k} \mathbf{u} + \rho (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} - \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \nabla p = \mathbf{f}_{\mathrm{f}} \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad (2.1 \text{a repeated})$$

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega.$$
 (2.1b repeated)

The weak formulation for this problem is given by: find \mathbf{u}, p in some appropriate space such that

$$\underbrace{\widetilde{L}_{f}(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v})}_{f} + \underbrace{\widetilde{A}_{f}(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v})}_{f} + \underbrace{\widetilde{C}_{f}(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v})}_{f} + \underbrace{\widetilde{M}_{f}(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v})}_{f} + \underbrace{\widetilde{B}_{f}(\mathbf{v},p)}_{f} - \underbrace{\widetilde{B}_{f}(\mathbf{u},q)}_{forcing and boundary conditions} = \underbrace{\widetilde{F}_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D},\mathbf{g}_{f,N}}(\mathbf{v}) - G_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D}}(q)}_{f,0}, \quad (6.11)$$

for all \mathbf{v}, q in some appropriate space. We recall the following two definitions:

$$C_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) := -\rho \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathbf{u}) : \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{h} \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \rho \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \int_{F} \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{+}, \mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}, \mathbf{n}) \cdot \mathbf{v}^{+} \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$-\rho \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}} \int_{F} \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{+}, \mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}, \mathbf{n}) \cdot \mathbf{v}^{-} \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad (3.8 \text{ repeated})$$

$$L_{\rm f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) := \rho \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \qquad (3.14 \text{ repeated})$$

Substituting Equation (6.9) into (3.14) we find

$$L_{\rm f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) = \rho \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega(t)} \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \rho \int_{\Omega(t)} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot (\mathbf{u} \otimes \mathbf{w}) \right] \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \tag{6.12}$$

Since Equation (6.11) contains a linear combination of $C_{\rm f}$ and $L_{\rm f}$, we combine the final term of the bilinear form in Equation (6.12) into the advection bilinear form of Equation (3.8) to obtain the following modified bilinear forms:

$$\bar{C}_{f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}; \mathbf{w}) := -\rho \int_{\Omega(t)} (\mathbf{u} \otimes [\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{w}]) : \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{h} \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \rho \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \int_{F} \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{f}(\mathbf{u}^{+}, \mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}, \mathbf{n}; \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{v}^{+} \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$-\rho \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}} \int_{F} \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{f}(\mathbf{u}^{+}, \mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}, \mathbf{n}; \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{v}^{-} \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad (6.13)$$

$$\bar{L}_{f}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}) := \rho \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega(t)} \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \tag{6.14}$$

where **n** is the unit outward-pointing normal, \mathbf{u}_{Γ} is defined in §3.2.1, and $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is a modified Lax-Friedrichs flux for $F \in \mathcal{F}$ given by

$$\bar{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{+},\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n};\mathbf{w})|_{F} := \frac{1}{2}((\mathbf{u}^{+}\otimes[\mathbf{u}^{+}-\mathbf{w}])\cdot\mathbf{n} + (\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}\otimes[\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}-\mathbf{w}])\cdot\mathbf{n} + \alpha(\mathbf{u}^{+}-\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma})), (6.15)$$

with

$$\alpha = \max(|2\mathbf{u}^+ \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}|, |2\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma} \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}|, |\mathbf{u}^+ \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}|, |\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma} \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}|).$$
(6.16)

A derivation of α is outlined in Appendix C. We emphasise that the additional outer product term involved in Equation (6.9) is 'absorbed' by the inclusion of **w** in Equation (6.13).

We have a choice over the way in which mesh points are updated between each discretised mesh $\mathcal{T}_h^n \to \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1}$. For simplicity, we choose a *forward* Euler approximation

here, meaning we update each node in the mesh from \mathcal{T}_h^n to \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1} with

$$\mathbf{x}^{n+1} = \mathbf{x}^n + \Delta t \ \mathbf{w}(\mathbf{x}^n, t^n). \tag{6.17}$$

We denote the continuous piecewise linear spatial interpolant between mesh nodes of the domain velocity on \mathcal{T}_{h}^{n+1} as $\mathcal{I}^{n+1}\mathbf{w}$. We note that \mathbf{w} is used piecewise through time to update node positions, and $\mathcal{I}^{n+1}\mathbf{w}$ denotes the domain velocity that will appear in the weak formulation.

Similar to Chapter 3, we will use a finite difference method for discretising the time derivative. We choose to use a *backward* Euler approximation to approximate this LHS. For our problem, this equates to the problem: find \mathbf{u}, p in some appropriate space such that

$$\rho \int_{\Omega^{n+1}} \frac{(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}) \cdot \mathbf{v}^{n+1}}{\Delta t} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \rho \int_{\Omega^n} \frac{(\mathbf{u}^n) \cdot \mathbf{v}^n}{\Delta t} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = A_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{v}^{n+1}) + \bar{C}_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{v}^{n+1}; \mathcal{I}^{n+1}\mathbf{w}) \\ + M_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, \mathbf{v}^{n+1}) + B_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}, p^{n+1}) - B_{\mathrm{f}}(\mathbf{u}^{n+1}, q^{n+1}) = F_{\mathrm{f},\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f},\mathrm{D}},\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f},\mathrm{N}}}(\mathbf{v}^{n+1}) - G_{\mathrm{f},\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f},\mathrm{D}}}(q^{n+1}),$$

for all \mathbf{v}, q in some appropriate space, where $\Omega^n \equiv \Omega(t^n)$ for notational simplicity, and we note that terms on the RHS are evaluated at time level t^{n+1} . Here, \mathbf{u}^{n+1} and \mathbf{u}^n are respectively the approximations of the velocity on the current and previous mesh, p^{n+1} is the approximation of the pressure on the current mesh, \mathbf{v}^{n+1} and \mathbf{v}^n are respectively the velocity test functions on the current and previous mesh, and q^{n+1} is the pressure test function on the current mesh. We define a modified bilinear form to use the time discretisation:

$$\bar{E}_{\rm f}(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v};\Omega) := \frac{\rho}{\Delta t} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(6.18)

The discretisation of the Navier-Stokes-Darcy equations given in Equation (2.1) on a moving domain is therefore given by: find $(\mathbf{u}_h^{n+1}, p_h^{n+1}) \in \mathbf{V}_h(\Omega^{n+1}, \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1}) \times Q_h(\Omega^{n+1}, \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1})$ such that

$$\underbrace{\overline{E}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n+1};\Omega^{n+1}) - \overline{E}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n},\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n};\Omega^{n})}_{\text{reaction}} + \underbrace{A_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n+1})}_{\text{freq}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n+1})} + \underbrace{\overline{C}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n+1};\mathcal{I}^{n+1}\mathbf{w})}_{\text{forcing and boundary conditions}} + \underbrace{\overline{M}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n+1})}_{\text{freq}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n+1})} + \underbrace{\overline{B}_{f}(\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n+1},p_{h}^{n+1})}_{\text{freq}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},q_{h}^{n+1})} - \underbrace{\overline{B}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},q_{h}^{n+1})}_{\text{freq}(\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},q_{h}^{n+1})} = \underbrace{\overline{F}_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D},\mathbf{g}_{f,N}}(\mathbf{v}_{h}^{n+1}) - \overline{G}_{f,\mathbf{g}_{f,D}}(q_{h}^{n+1})}_{(6.19)},$$

for all $(\mathbf{v}_h^{n+1}, \mathbf{v}_h^n, q_h^{n+1}) \in \mathbf{V}_h(\Omega^{n+1}, \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1}) \times \mathbf{V}_h(\Omega^n, \mathcal{T}_h^n) \times Q_h(\Omega^{n+1}, \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1})$, given the approximation of the velocity at the previous time-step, $\mathbf{u}_h^n \in \mathbf{V}_h(\Omega^n, \mathcal{T}_h^n)$.

6.1.2 Reaction-advection-diffusion discretisation

We recall that the reaction-advection-diffusion equation in Chapter 2 was given by

$$\frac{\partial c}{\partial t} - D\nabla^2 c + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot (\mathbf{u}c) + \Psi R \ c = f_c \ \text{in } \Omega, \qquad (2.6 \text{ repeated})$$

for which the weak formulation is given by: find c such that

$$\underbrace{\widetilde{L_{c}(c,\eta)}}_{c(c,\eta)} + \underbrace{\widetilde{A_{c}(c,\eta)}}_{c(c,\eta)} + \underbrace{\widetilde{C_{c}(c,\eta;\mathbf{u})}}_{c(c,\eta;\mathbf{u})} + \underbrace{\widetilde{M_{c}(c,\eta)}}_{c(c,\eta)} = \underbrace{\widetilde{F_{c,g_{c,D},g_{c,N}}(\eta)}}_{F_{c,g_{c,D},g_{c,N}}(\eta)},$$
(6.20)

for all η in some appropriate space, given **u**, which is an approximation to Equation (2.1) (Navier-Stokes-Darcy). We recall the definition of the bilinear form for discretising the time term:

$$L_{\rm c}(c,\eta) := \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial c}{\partial t} \ \eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \tag{3.23 repeated}$$

Substituting Equation (6.7) into Equation (3.23) we find that

$$L_{c}(c,\eta) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega(t)} c \ \eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} - \int_{\Omega(t)} \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot (c\mathbf{w})\eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(6.21)

Similar to the discretisation of the fluid problem on a moving mesh in §6.1.1, we will combine the additional mesh advection term into a modified advection bilinear form. The modified advection and time bilinear forms are respectively given by

$$\bar{C}_{c}(c,\eta;\mathbf{u},\mathbf{w}) := -\int_{\Omega} c \ [\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{w}] \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{h} \eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \int_{F} \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{c}(c^{+},c_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n};\mathbf{w})\eta^{+} \ \mathrm{d}s
- \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}} \int_{F} \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{c}(c^{+},c_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n};\mathbf{w})\eta^{-} \ \mathrm{d}s,$$
(6.22)
$$\bar{L} \ (c,w) = -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}} \int_{C} c \ w \ \mathrm{d}w$$

$$\bar{L}_{c}(c,\eta) := \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\Omega} c \ \eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x},\tag{6.23}$$

where **n** denotes the outward-pointing unit normal on a face, c_{Γ} is defined in Equation (3.19) (see §3.2.2), and $\bar{\mathcal{H}}_c$ is a modified Lax-Friedrichs flux for the oxygen concentration problem given on $F \in \mathcal{F}$ by

$$\bar{\mathcal{H}}_{c}(c^{+},c_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n};\mathbf{w})|_{F} := \frac{1}{2}(([\mathbf{u}^{+}-\mathbf{w}]\cdot\mathbf{n})c^{+} + ([\mathbf{u}^{-}-\mathbf{w}]\cdot\mathbf{n})c_{\Gamma} + \alpha(c^{+}-c_{\Gamma})), \quad (6.24)$$

with $\alpha := |\{\!\!\{\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{w}\}\!\} \cdot \mathbf{n}|.$

From this, we also introduce a modified bilinear form to utilise a backward Euler

approximation for the oxygen concentration problem:

$$\bar{E}_{c}(c,\eta;\Omega) := \frac{1}{\Delta t} \int_{\Omega} c \ \eta \ \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(6.25)

The discretisation of the reaction-advection-diffusion given in Equation (2.6) on a moving domain is therefore given by: find $c_h^{n+1} \in C_h(\Omega^{n+1}, \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1})$ such that

$$\underbrace{\overline{E}_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h}^{n+1};\Omega^{n+1}) - \overline{E}_{c}(c_{h}^{n},\eta_{h}^{n};\Omega^{n})}_{+ \overline{A}_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h}^{n+1})} + \underbrace{\overline{C}_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h}^{n+1};\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathcal{I}^{n+1}\mathbf{w})}_{\mathbf{f}_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h}^{n+1})} = \underbrace{\overline{C}_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h}^{n+1};\mathbf{u}_{h}^{n+1},\mathcal{I}^{n+1}\mathbf{w})}_{\mathbf{f}_{c}(c_{h}^{n+1},\eta_{h}^{n+1})}$$

for all $\eta_h^{n+1}, \eta_h^n \in C_h(\Omega^{n+1}, \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1}) \times C_h(\Omega^n, \mathcal{T}_h^n)$, given \mathbf{u}_h^{n+1} and $c_h^n, n \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$, where \mathbf{u}_h^{n+1} is the approximation arising from Equation (6.19) on Ω^{n+1} . We recall that $\mathcal{I}^{n+1}\mathbf{w}$ is the continuous piecewise linear interpolant between mesh nodes of the domain velocity on \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1} .

Algorithm 6.1 provides a simple moving domain algorithm which may be employed to generate a sequence of meshes $\{\mathcal{T}_h^n\}_{n=1}^N$, given \mathcal{T}_h^0 . In essence, this algorithm is simply updating mesh nodes with the forward Euler update given in Equation (6.17) before computing \mathbf{u}_h^{n+1} and c_h^{n+1} .

Algorithm 6.1: Algorithm for generating blood flow and oxygen concentration solutions on a moving mesh with domain velocity $\mathbf{w}(\mathbf{x}, t)$.

- 1 Obtain an initial condition u_h^0 , e.g., by solving *steady-state* NSD on an initial mesh \mathcal{T}_h^0 .
- **2** for n = 0 to N 1 do
- **3** Copy mesh data structure $\mathcal{T}_h^{n+1} \leftarrow \mathcal{T}_h^n$
- 4 foreach node in mesh, $\mathbf{x}^{n+1} \in \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1}$ do
- 5 Set mesh node positions: $\mathbf{x}^{n+1} = \mathbf{x}^n + \Delta t \ \mathbf{w}(\mathbf{x}^n, t^n)$
- 6 end
- **7** Compute \mathbf{u}_h^{n+1} using the discretisation of Equation (6.19) on mesh \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1} .
- 8 Compute c_h^{n+1} using the discretisation of Equation (6.26) with advection velocity \mathbf{u}_h^{n+1} on mesh \mathcal{T}_h^{n+1} .
- 9 end

6.2 Numerical experiments

In this section, we will present numerical experiments of the blood flow model with a moving mesh. §6.2.1 will first apply boundary conditions independently of the mesh movement, where we show that our discretisation converges optimally under mesh refinement with a prescribed mesh velocity. §6.2.2 will then consider a simple example where the boundary conditions are dependent upon the mesh velocity, and therefore influence flow dynamics.

According to Nobile and Formaggia [134], the Discrete Geometric Conservation Law (DGCL) states that the moving mesh formulation must produce the exact solution of a uniform flow field on moving meshes; this specifically refers to the situation where the boundary conditions are independent of the mesh movement. We remark here that under constant and linearly-varying mesh velocities, we were able to verify that our implementation reproduced exact solutions of uniform flow.

6.2.1 Convergence tests

Similarly to §3.3, we will briefly test our code that implements the moving mesh numerical methods using the method of manufactured solutions (MMS), showing that we obtain convergence rates through mesh and time-step refinement.

We again select the analytical solutions introduced in §3.3, which are

$$u_{1} := -\cos(t)(y\cos(y) + \sin(y))\exp(x), \qquad (3.27a \text{ repeated})$$

$$u_{2} := \cos(t)y\sin(y)\exp(x), \qquad (3.27b \text{ repeated})$$

$$p := \cos(t)2\exp(x)\sin(y), \qquad (3.27c \text{ repeated})$$

$$c := \cos(t)\exp(x - y), \qquad (3.27d \text{ repeated})$$

where $\mathbf{u} \equiv (u_1, u_2)^{\intercal}$, and boundary conditions are appropriately selected. We then select forcing functions $\mathbf{f}_{\rm f}$ and $f_{\rm c}$ such that the analytical solutions solve the PDEs. We must now also select a mesh velocity, which we choose from Étienne, Garon, and Pelletier [135]

as

$$w_1 := t(1 - x^2)(y + 1)/32,$$
 (6.28a)

$$w_2 := t(1 - y^2)(x + t(1 - x^2)/32 + 1)/32, \tag{6.28b}$$

where $\mathbf{w} \equiv (w_1, w_2)^{\intercal}$. We note that the boundary conditions are independent of the mesh



Figure 6.1: Visualisations of the convergence rates of the tests outlined in §6.2.1. Graphs show (a) spatial convergence, and (b) temporal convergence of the velocity, pressure, and oxygen concentration fields under a moving mesh.

movement here. We again expect errors to take the form

$$||\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_h||_{L^2} = \mathcal{O}(h^3) + \mathcal{O}(\Delta t), \qquad (3.29a \text{ repeated})$$
$$||p - p_h||_{L^2} = \mathcal{O}(h^2) + \mathcal{O}(\Delta t), \qquad (3.29b \text{ repeated})$$

$$||c - c_h||_{L^2} = \mathcal{O}(h^2) + \mathcal{O}(\Delta t).$$
(3.29c repeated)

For simplicity, in these tests we set all problem coefficients for Equations (2.1) and (2.6) to unity, and initially set $\Omega^0 := [0, 1]^2$. Figures 6.1(a) and 6.1(b) respectively present the convergence rates under spatial and temporal refinement, which agree with the expected rates from Equation (3.29), and are very similar to the convergence rates presented in §3.3.

6.2.2 Boundary motion

We now present an example of flow where part of the moving boundary has a no-slip boundary condition applied, which therefore influences flow dynamics. The flow problem we solve is again the Navier-Stokes-Darcy equations of Equation (2.1), initially on the unit square domain $\Omega^0 = [0, 1]^2$, where we for simplicity set $\mu = \rho = k = 1$, and set the smooth transition function $\Psi \equiv 1$ everywhere. Differing from the previous moving mesh numerical experiments, we apply a no-slip Dirichlet condition on the left and right sides of the domain, which for this moving domain problem is written $\mathbf{g}_D = \mathbf{w}$; we retain a free-flow Neumann condition of $\mathbf{g}_N = \mathbf{0}$ on the top and bottom of the domain. This choice of boundary conditions on the initial domain is visualised in Figures 6.2(a).

We begin the simulation with an initial condition of $\mathbf{u}_h^0 \equiv \mathbf{0}$ and run between times



Figure 6.2: Visualisation of the boundary conditions applied to the problem described in §6.2.2, which applies a zero Neumann condition on the top and bottom sides of the domain, and a no-slip Dirichlet condition on the left and right sides. Ω is shown at times (a) t = 0, and (b) t = 0.5 for the domain velocity detailed in Equation (6.30) and §6.2.2.

 $t \in [0, 1]$, with time-step size $\Delta t = 0.01$. We select the domain velocity $\mathbf{w} \equiv (w_1, w_2)^{\mathsf{T}}$ as

$$w_1 = W(x - x_c) \sin\left(\frac{2\pi t - T_0}{T}\right),\tag{6.30a}$$

$$w_2 = W(y - y_c) \sin\left(\frac{2\pi t - T_0}{T}\right), \qquad (6.30b)$$

where we select $x_c = y_c = 0.5$, $T_0 = 0$, T = 1, and W = 1 here. This domain velocity corresponds to smooth expansion and contraction about centre $(x_c, y_c) = (0.5, 0.5)$ for $t \in [0, 1]$, with a minimal domain area of Ω at t = 0 and t = 1, and a maximal area at t = 0.5. Furthermore, we note that this gives a maximal rate of expansion at t = 0.25 and maximal rate of deflation at t = 0.75. The maximum domain size at t = 0.5 is visualised in Figure 6.2(b).

Figures 6.3(a)–6.3(d) respectively visualise the flow at times t = 0.02, t = 0.25, t = 0.52, and t = 0.75. A video visualising the velocity field through time at every time-step is available here¹. At t = 0.02, Figure 6.3(a) shows the flow drawn through the top and bottom sides and aligning in the direction of the domain velocity on the boundary, which is at that moment pointing outward from the centre of the square domain. The domain velocity then accelerates up to a maximum domain velocity at t = 0.25, as illustrated in Figure 6.3(b), which shows high-speed blood concentrated in the centre of the top

¹https://r.blakey.family/phd-video-mmv-square

and bottom sides, and also in the four corners of the domain. The domain velocity then decelerates as the area reaches its maximum size at t = 0.5; Figure 6.3(c) shows the velocity field at t = 0.52, just after the maximum area is reached, where we note the reversal in the streamline directions as the domain begins to contract and eject flow out of the top and bottom sides. Finally, Figure 6.3(d) shows the domain at t = 0.75 at the most rapid point of contraction, which unsurprisingly looks very similar to the flow at t = 0.25 except for a reversal in flow direction.

In order to model flow in a contracting placenta, we will now apply the numerical methods from §6.1 to NSD with placental flow parameters and the asymmetric placenta problem from §3.4.2.

6.3 Preliminary utero-placental pump motion

The utero-placental pump (or placental contraction) is a newly discovered phenomenon, first reported by Dellschaft et al. [20] in 2020. This phenomenon is distinct from other types of contractions, as it involves contractions of the placenta, rather than contractions such as Braxton-Hicks contractions, which instead involve contractions of the entire uterus [36]. Dellschaft et al. [20] reported that the placenta was observed over 10-minute intervals to periodically reduce by up to 40% in volume, resulting in the periodic ejection of blood from the IVS. The mechanism of these contractions is not yet known, but it is thought that these contractions may be related to previous reports of contracting villous trees [20, 34]. One theory of the evolutionary role of these contractions is that they assist maternal circulation by ejecting stagnant deoxygenated blood so that it may be replaced by freshly oxygenated blood; however, this is yet to be shown experimentally [20].

In this section, we will prescribe a simple domain velocity that is inspired by MRI scan data. Using this domain velocity, we will then compute the resulting flow and oxygen concentration fields using the moving mesh discretisation presented in §6.1.

6.3.1 Selection of domain velocity

We begin by using the data from Gowland et al. [136], which is reproduced in Figure 6.4(a) and shows various quantities calculated from MRI scan data during a placental contraction. We choose to focus specifically on the volume change during the period of fastest volume reduction, which is indicated in the black box. The volume change data here is calculated by tracing the placenta outline of a 3D stack of 2D MRI scan images, and is measured against the initial placental volume calculated at time t = 0.



Figure 6.3: Visualisations of flow for four instances in time for the problem in §6.2.2. (a)-(d) respectively show flow at t = 0.02, t = 0.25, t = 0.52, t = 0.75. Linear colour scaling is shown for $|\mathbf{u}| \in [0, 1]$ with black or white streamlines shown on top. Axes are shown surrounding the domain, showing the domain of size $\Omega = [0, 1]^2$ at $t \approx 0$ and $\Omega \approx [-0.2, 1.2]^2$ at $t \approx 0.5$.







Figure 6.4: (a) Graph taken from Gowland et al. [136] and overlaid with a black box to indicate the region we are interested in modelling in this thesis. Specifically, this is the placental volume change during the period of fastest volume reduction of a placental contraction between approximately 15 and 16 minutes. (b) A simpler visualisation of (a) on the region of interest. §6.3.1 describes the simplifications we make of assuming a linear decrease in volume during the period of fastest volume decrease (indicated by the red dotted line), and an appropriate area decrease for an equivalent 2D area change for this 3D volume change (indicated by the green cross). We then assume that the areas and volumes increase at the same rate, back to their original sizes at t = 17.9 minutes. Grey vertical lines indicate the snapshots at which Figures 6.5 and 6.6 are visualised.

For ease of presentation, we plot again the volume change data points in this region of interest in Figure 6.4(b), plotted using blue lines. This shows the largest volume change of -33.8% at t = 16.1 minutes. Prior to this, there is a roughly linear decrease in volume from t = 14.8 minutes. Extrapolating the straight line passing through both of these points (red dotted line), we find the point at which this line meets the horizontal axis to be at t = 14.3 minutes (red dot). We make the assumption that the volume increase after a placental contraction is at the same rate as the volume decrease. We therefore model the contraction behaviour between $T_0 := 14.3$ and $T_N := 17.9$ minutes, with maximum volume at times T_0 and T_N minutes, and a minimum volume at $\frac{T_0+T_N}{2} = 16.1$ minutes.

A complication with using this data is that it concerns a 3D volume. We therefore need to calculate an analogous 2D area change to an equivalent 3D volume. Denoting percentage change in a 2D area by Δ_2 , and percentage change in 3D volume by Δ_3 , we assume for simplicity that the relationship between a 2D area change and 3D volume change is given through the following relationship:

$$(1+\Delta_2)^{\frac{1}{2}} = (1+\Delta_3)^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$
(6.31)

In our case, $\Delta_3 = -33.8\%$ at the smallest measured volume, which through Equation (6.31) gives a 2D area change of $\Delta_2 = -24.0\%$, which is indicated in Figure 6.4(b) with a green cross.

Next, we prescribe a domain velocity. For simplicity, we assume that the placenta contracts uniformly in both directions and follows a sinusoidal speed through time. We therefore select the domain velocity $\mathbf{w} \equiv (w_1, w_2)^{\intercal}$ from §6.2.2:

$$w_1 = W(x - x_c) \sin\left(\frac{2\pi t - T_0}{T}\right), \qquad (6.30a \text{ repeated})$$

$$w_2 = W(y - y_c) \sin\left(\frac{2\pi t - T_0}{T}\right), \qquad (6.30b \text{ repeated})$$

where (x_c, y_c) is selected as a centre of inflation within the 2D placenta, $T_0 = 14.3$ and $T = T_N - T_0 = 3.6$ minutes, and W is chosen appropriately such that at time $\frac{T_0+T_N}{2}$ minutes there is a 2D area change of $\Delta_2 = -24.0\%$; here, this corresponds to $W = -8.04 \times 10^{-5} \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$.

To summarise, we have used MRI scan data of placental volume change during a placental contraction to inform a domain velocity for use in our mathematical model. Specifically, we made a simplification to only consider the period of fastest volume decrease in this data, and calculated an equivalent area change for our 2D geometry from this 3D data. We then selected a simple form of domain velocity that gives an equivalent maximum area reduction on our 2D placenta geometry between $T_0 = 14.3$ and $T_N = 17.9$ minutes.

We will now introduce the problem we aim to address.

6.3.2 Problem setup

Using the domain velocity from §6.3.1, we will now specify the moving boundary problem we intend to compute approximations to.

For the flow problem, we consider a small modification to the boundary conditions to those presented in §2.2.1. We recall boundary conditions are applied in the form

$$(\mu \nabla \mathbf{u} - p\mathbf{I}) \cdot \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{g}_{f,N} \text{ on } \Gamma_{out},$$
$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{g}_{f,D} \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{out},$$

and we select these boundary condition functions such that there is a zero Neumann condition on outflow, a parabolic inflow velocity profile, and no velocity slip elsewhere. We additionally choose the amplitude of this parabolic inflow such that the flux of incoming blood is constant through time. We note that, in order to impose no-slip boundary conditions on solid walls, the velocity must take the value of the domain velocity \mathbf{w} at the boundary. The modified boundary conditions for this moving boundary problem are given by

$$\mathbf{g}_{\rm f,D} = -A(t) \frac{R(t)^2 - r^2}{R(t)^2} \mathbf{n} \text{ on } \Gamma_{\rm in},$$
 (6.34a)

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f,N}} = \mathbf{0} \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_{\mathrm{out}}, \qquad (6.34\mathrm{b})$$

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{f},\mathrm{D}} = \mathbf{w} \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Gamma \setminus (\Gamma_{\mathrm{in}} \cup \Gamma_{\mathrm{out}}), \qquad (6.34\mathrm{c})$$

where **n** is the unit outward-pointing normal on Γ_{in} , $r(\mathbf{x})$ is the distance from a point **x** to the centre of Γ_{in} , R(t) is the artery radius, $A(t) := U \frac{R(0)}{R(t)}$ is the modified amplitude of the Poiseuille flow to retain constant inlet flux, and U is the peak flow speed given in Table 2.2.

For the oxygen transport problem, we keep the same boundary conditions as those presented in §2.3; namely, boundary conditions are applied of the form

$$c = g_{c,D} \text{ on } \Gamma_{in},$$

 $\nabla c \cdot \mathbf{n} = g_{c,N} \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{in},$

and the boundary condition functions are given as

$$g_{\rm c,D} = 1 \text{ on } \Gamma_{\rm in},$$
 (2.8a repeated)

$$g_{\rm c,N} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma \setminus \Gamma_{\rm in}.$$
 (2.8b repeated)

We will now use the prescribed domain velocity from §6.3.1 and the problem setup presented here, together with the numerical methods from §6.1, to compute the blood flow and oxygen transport fields under this domain movement.

6.3.3 Placenta motion

We take our initial domain Ω^0 to be the 2D placenta domain with dimensions specified in §2.1.2 and asymmetric placement of vessels as presented in §3.4.2. We use the steady-state approximations on Ω^0 as the initial conditions for the time-dependent blood flow and oxygen concentration problems. For these simulations, we have selected a time-step size of $\Delta t = 0.036 \text{ min} = 2.16 \text{ s}$. We note that each time-step is longer than a typical cardiac cycle, and we therefore do not apply any corresponding adjustment to the amplitude to account for pulsatile inlet flow. We chose this relatively large time-step size for simplicity, and because of the relatively slow domain velocity scaling of $W = -8.04 \times 10^{-5} \text{ m s}^{-1}$.

We will consider only five snapshots in time in the body of this thesis for ease of presentation. Videos visualising these fields through time at every time-step are available here². Figures 6.5 and 6.6 provide the main results of this chapter. These figures respectively visualise the blood flow and oxygen transport fields in five snapshots in time, which are indicated in Figure 6.4(b) by grey vertical lines.

Panel (a) of Figures 6.5 and 6.6 give the initial steady-state fields of the flow and oxygen concentration, respectively; we remark that these fields are identical to the fields presented in §3.4.2 and §3.6.

Despite the varying domain size, the blood flow field changes very little from the steady-state solution as time progresses, with only small changes in the slower regions of the domain; an example of a small change in flow is shown in Figure 6.5(b), where previously slow blood near septal walls is advected by the moving boundary at a slightly higher speed.

On the other hand, the oxygen concentration field changes noticeably more, with clear changes in the solution between each of the five snapshots in time. Figure 6.6(b) shows the oxygen concentration field at time $t = T_0 + \frac{T}{4}$, which corresponds to the point of fastest domain decrease due to the sinusoidal domain velocity. Here, we see oxygen advected

 $^{^2}Blood$ flow field: https://r.blakey.family/phd-video-mmv; oxygen transport field: https://r.blakey.family/phd-video-mmt

Time: 14.30 minutes



Figure 6.5: Visualisation of the blood flow field during a contraction at times (a) t = 14.30 min, (b) t = 15.20 min, (c) t = 16.10 min, (d) t = 17.72 min, and (e) t = 17.9 min. Colours are logarithmically scaled, and streamlines at each time-step are shown with black lines. A video visualising all time-steps can be viewed here: https: //r. blakey.family/phd-video-mmv



Figure 6.6: Visualisation of the oxygen concentration field during a contraction at times (a) t = 14.30 min, (b) t = 15.20 min, (c) t = 16.10 min, (d) t = 17.72 min, and (e) t = 17.9 min. Colours are linearly scaled. A video visualising all time-steps can be viewed here: https://r.blakey.family/phd-video-mmt



Figure 6.7: Graphs show how (a) $\bar{v}(\Omega)$ (Equation (4.1)) and (b) \bar{c} (Equation (4.5)) vary throughout a contraction of the problem presented in §6.3. Horizontal dotted lines indicate the value of these measures at time $t = T_0$.

away from the basal plate, leaving small regions on the basal plate where no oxygen is present. It is interesting to see in this snapshot that there is a change near recirculation zones in the central cavities, where high concentrations of oxygen become encircled by lower concentration oxygen. As the oxygen concentration field evolves from Figure 6.6(a)to Figure 6.6(c), the furthest right placentone contains a region to the left of the artery where oxygen concentration reduces over time; this is because oxygen is uptaken by the villous tree here and oxygen is not being replaced. As time progresses and the domain enlarges to Figure 6.6(e), this region is again filled with oxygen.

Overall, the oxygen concentration appears to decrease whilst the domain contracts, and appears to fill more of the domain in higher concentration during the latter domain expansion. To solidify our understanding of this and the effect on flow speed, we measure both the average speed and the uptake by the villous tree at each instant in time. Although each of the two previous chapters are distinct from the work presented here, we restate two of the efficiency measures from Chapter 4, which respectively give instantaneous measures of the speed and amount of oxygen uptaken by the entire villous tree:

$$\bar{v}(\Omega) := \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{u}| \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \qquad (4.1 \text{ repeated})$$
$$\bar{\mathbf{z}} := \frac{R}{|\mathbf{u}|} \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{u}| \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \qquad (4.5 \text{ repeated})$$

$$\bar{c} := \frac{R}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \Psi c \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \qquad (4.5 \text{ repeated})$$

where **u** is the velocity of the blood flow, c is the oxygen concentration field, $|\Omega| := \int_{\Omega} d\mathbf{x}$, R is the uptake rate of the villous tree from Table 2.2, and Ψ defines the smooth transition region described in §2.2. Figures 6.7(a) and 6.7(b) respectively visualise $\bar{v}(\Omega)$ and \bar{c} through our simulation.

The solid blue line in Figure 6.7(a) shows that the average speed of the blood increases when the domain contracts, and decreases again when the domain expands. Interestingly, the peak of $\bar{v}(\Omega)$ corresponds to t = 15.9 min, which is 0.2 min before the domain is at its smallest; as the domain velocity is decelerating toward this minimal domain size, this could be due to inertial effects on the blood which cause an augmented maximum. Likewise, there is a minimum 0.2 min before the maximum domain size is regained at t = 17.9 min.

Figure 6.7(b) shows slightly different behaviour, where the solid orange line shows oxygen uptake is lowest during the period of most rapid contraction and highest during the period of most rapid expansion; these correspond to what we saw when visualising the oxygen concentration field in Figure 6.6(e), where certain areas of the domain appeared to have lower oxygen concentration during the contraction and higher oxygen concentration during the expansion. The most significant feature of this graph is that the oxygen uptake is increased when the placenta returns to its original size at t = 17.9 min, indicated by the solid line being higher than the dotted line. This simulation therefore supports the theory that placental contractions could assist maternal circulation by ejecting stagnant deoxygenated blood and improve oxygen delivery to the fetus [20].

We will now close this chapter with some closing remarks, limitations of our contraction model, and suggested future work.

6.4 Summary

In this chapter, we have introduced a basic model of prescribed boundary motion in order to investigate the effects of the recently-observed 'utero-placental pump' contractions on maternal blood flow and oxygen transport dynamics. These are contractions that involve only the placenta and have been observed over 10-minute intervals to periodically reduce placental volume by up to 40% [20].

In §6.1, we used the Reynolds Transport Theorem to derive modified numerical methods for the flow and oxygen transport problem, which were valid on moving domains, and required minimal modification to the existing semilinear and bilinear forms of the discretisation. We then validated our numerical methods in §6.2 in two different ways: first, we used the method of manufactured solution (MMS) and showed that we obtain optimal spatial and temporal convergence rates under refinement; and secondly, we presented a physical problem where no-slip boundary conditions on an oscillating wall influence flow dynamics, which gave physically sensible flow dynamics.

The main results of the chapter were presented in §6.3, where we used volume information from MRI scan data to inform a domain velocity that represents a domain size change comparable to those found during a 'utero-placental pump' contraction. Our results found that the blood flow field remained largely undisturbed, despite the relatively large domain size change; we noted that this is likely due to the long timescales upon which these contractions take place. We did, however, find that the oxygen concentration field was more visibly influenced by the boundary motion than the velocity field, with overall decreased oxygen uptake during the contracting phase and increased oxygen uptake during the expansion phase. Our simulation showed that contractions of this form do have an impact on oxygen concentration dynamics and oxygen uptake by the villous tree.

For clarity, the model of the utero-placental pump we have presented here is highly simplified and does not consider the physical mechanisms driving the contractions. In particular, we have assumed a simple form for the domain velocity, and used this over a shorter 3.6 min period covering the fastest volume change rate, rather than the full 26 min presented in the data of Gowland et al. [136]. Furthermore, the results of Dellschaft et al. [20] show very little change in the thickness of the placenta between the chorionic and basal plates, with the contraction primarily taking place in the horizontal direction (when viewed in the orientation we have presented in this thesis); future work taking this approach could therefore simulate the entire contraction length and consider domain velocities that cause shape change only in the horizontal direction.

The time-dependent simulations presented in this chapter assume that the villous tree density and oxygen uptake rate remain constant throughout contractions. However, this is physically unlikely, as the smaller domain size would likely result in a denser villous tree structure with reduced permeability and a higher uptake rate (see, for example, Serov et al. $|40\rangle$. Although not presented in this thesis, we ran two additional steady-state simulations to briefly investigate how domain size and uptake rate contribute to the values of \bar{v} and \bar{c} . Firstly, we considered a steady-state simulation where the domain is fixed at time $t = T_0 + \frac{T}{2} \equiv 16.10 \text{ min}$ (i.e., the smallest domain size); we found that \bar{v} increased by approximately 34% whilst \bar{c} reduced by approximately 31% from the values at time $t = T_0$. These changes are more than 2 times larger than the changes induced by the contractions, which indicates that there remains some uninvestigated inertial effects due to the time-dependent contractions. Furthermore, we ran a second simulation on the smaller domain where k and R were linearly increased according to the 24% domain size reduction; this simulation found a further increase of 1% to \bar{v} and an increase of 22% to \bar{c} . Notably in the case of \bar{c} , this enhanced uptake rate on the smaller domain size is insufficient in recovering \bar{c} on the original larger domain size. Clearly, there is more to be investigated with time-dependent permeability and uptake rate. In particular, it is not clear that there exists a linear relationship between the domain size and both the villous tree density and oxygen uptake rate in this context. Therefore, future studies could further consider the effect that villous tree density and shape has on flow dynamics and oxygen uptake during contractions.

The cause of these contractions is currently unknown [20], but it is thought that they may be related to previous reports of contracted villous trees, which are sometimes anchored (i.e., connected) to the basal plate [20, 39]. An interesting extension to this work would be to use the work of Kato, Oyen, and Burton [39] in designing a model of the utero-placental pump that respects the data of Gowland et al. [136]. An alternative modelling approach could reapply one of the works from the existing fluid-structure interaction literature (e.g., [61, 137–140]), where the mechanism of interaction between the maternal blood and surrounding contracting tissue could be modelled; this is rather than imposing a prescribed boundary motion like we have in this thesis.

The evolutionary role of the contractions is unknown, but it has been suggested that they assist maternal circulation by ejecting stagnant deoxygenated blood so that it may be replaced by freshly oxygenated blood [20]. Dellschaft et al. [20] have also suggested the possibility that these contractions may have a role to play in diseased placentas, with the shape of a healthy contracted placenta resembling the shape of a diseased placenta.

We will now conclude this thesis with some conclusions and future work.

Chapter 7 Conclusion

7.1 Thesis summary

In this thesis, we have presented a mathematical model of maternal blood flow and oxygen concentration in the at-term human placenta, using a physiologically informed 2D organscale geometry. One third of stillbirths are related to placental dysfunction, and therefore the overarching motivation for this work has been to better understand the characteristics of diseased placentas, which will ultimately lead to improved pregnancy outcomes in the future.

Modelling of the placenta is complicated by several factors including its development through gestation, its inherent multiscale nature, and the structural variability between placentas. Motivated by several previous studies, we considered maternal blood flow in the at-term human placenta, where we modelled the presence of the fetal villous tree as a rigid porous medium. Maternal blood flow was modelled using the Navier-Stokes-Darcy (NSD) equations, which captured the effects of free flow in areas such as the central cavity (CC) and the effects of porous flow in the intervillous space (IVS), with a physiologically sensible transition region between. We used these equations on a physically relevant geometry representing a 2D slice through a whole placenta, which captured structural features on a larger scale than previous studies; in particular, this geometry included six adjacent placentones that were partially separated by septal walls, as well as septal wall and marginal sinus veins. We then coupled the blood flow to a reaction-advection-diffusion equation that modelled oxygen transport, so that we could study the oxygen uptake by the fetal villous tree. As far as we are aware, this is the first time that a representative 2D whole-organ geometry has been used in the study of maternal flow.

The approach of this thesis has been computational, where we have extensively used discontinuous Galerkin finite element methods (DGFEMs) to discretise spatial derivatives,

which is advantageous in this application due to the method's simple treatment of complicated geometries, stability properties for large parameter variations, and favourable treatment of hyperbolic terms in PDEs. We believe this to be the first time that DGFEMs have been applied to the study of placental haemodynamics. We first used our DGFEM to compare the behaviour of the steady-state NSD flow field with related models currently used in the placental literature; here, flow in the IVS was observed to be similar across all models, with notable differences in behaviour in the CC. We also performed numerical experiments of blood flow and oxygen transport on the 2D placenta geometry with veins placed asymmetrically; we found that flow speed increased by an order of magnitude in the region closest to the chorionic plate, and oxygen concentration perfused radially from the spiral artery. This asymmetric experiment was important due to its physical relevance, and therefore formed the basis of the later MRI and utero-placental pump investigations.

For time-dependent problems, we used a simple first-order backward Euler time-stepping scheme, which allowed us to briefly investigate the effects of pulsatile inflow on flow and oxygen transport; for our particular problem set-up, we found that pulsatile inflow had very little influence on flow and oxygen dynamics. We also derived a moving mesh DGFEM valid on moving domains, which allowed us to study the effects of a placental shape change on flow and oxygen dynamics. We verified our implementation of the numerical methods by achieving optimal spatial and temporal convergence rates in tests using the method of manufactured solution (MMS), and by comparing physical numerical experiments of placental flow with results in the existing placental literature.

Whilst the overarching structure of the human placenta is well documented, contrasting estimates of the number and position of vessels in the experimental literature suggest that there is either a high variation between individual placentas or a lack of understanding. Furthermore, there are a number of conflicting hypotheses on where these vessels are located. This uncertainty has brought about two mathematical studies that have investigated the effect of vein placement on oxygen uptake [12, 54]. We expanded upon this work by considering variations in the number and placement of both arteries and veins across our 2D placenta geometry, in addition to variations in other structural parameters such as the artery diameter and the IVS permeability. We used seven scalar-valued measures as a proxy for characterising the flow and oxygen concentration fields, thereby allowing us to investigate the impact of structural variations on placental function over several thousands of realisations. In summary, our results found the same 'short-circuiting' effects that have been previously reported, that fewer veins drastically increased speeds across the placenta, and that the permeability of the IVS had by far the greatest effect on oxygen uptake. We also compared these results to previous experimental studies, allowing us to infer how structural changes may play a role in placental disease.

This thesis also presented a numerical MRI (or synthetic MRI) method for inferring sub-voxel velocity fields of in vivo placenta data. We introduced the basic physics

underpinning signal measurement of motion-sensitising gradients in MRI scanning, along with an algorithm for computing signals of particles advected by fluid flow. We used this algorithm to compute MRI signals for a selection of simple manufactured flow fields and investigated the behaviour of signals in detail. Using an empirical signal decay model, we were able to identify a likely location for an artery in the in vivo data; the artery position allowed us to use MRI signals of (i) the simple manufactured flow, (ii) the simulated maternal flow, and (iii) the in vivo flow data, to infer a local flow field of the in vivo flow data.

The recently-documented utero-placental pump is a contraction involving only the placenta, where placental volume can reduce by up to 40% over a 10-minute period, resulting in a periodic ejection of blood from the IVS. The mechanism of these contractions is currently unknown, which led us to develop the first preliminary model of this phenomenon, whereby we prescribed boundary motion as a first step to understand how shape change influences oxygen transport; we achieved this using a moving mesh DGFEM and a domain velocity that was inspired by MRI data. Our modelling showed that contractions of this form do have an impact on oxygen concentration dynamics and the oxygen uptake by the villous tree.

To summarise, this thesis extends the existing literature in the following ways: (i) considers maternal flow on a physically relevant 2D whole-organ geometry, (ii) applies DGFEMs to study maternal flow in the placenta, (iii) investigates the effects of structural variations on placental function in great detail, (iv) provides a means of comparing computational flow fields with in vivo MRI data, and (v) develops the first preliminary model of the utero-placental pump as a first step in understanding how this phenomenon influences oxygen transport.

7.2 Future work

7.2.1 Model development

We adopted the incompressible Navier-Stokes-Darcy (NSD) equations for modelling maternal blood flow in the at-term placenta, which captured the effects of both free and porous flow through a spatially-varying permeability field. Our investigations in §3.4.1 found that flow using this model gave similar flow in the IVS to two alternative flow models, with notable differences near the central cavity. The linear Stokes-Brinkman model presented in §2.2.2 may therefore prove sufficient in capturing the main flow features that take place outside the central cavity with a smaller computational cost. On the other hand, whilst simplifications of the model may be of value, the NSD blood flow model is the most general of the presented models, as it permits considerable flexibility in the specification of the spatially-varying permeability field. The choice of permeability field could be further exploited in future studies by, for example, using anatomical images to infer a permeability field that varies in regions of the IVS besides the central cavity and vessels.

We used a reaction-advection-diffusion equation to model the transport of oxygen concentration dissolved in blood, where the advective velocity was taken from the blood flow model described above. This was a simple model which assumes that uptake by the fetal vasculature is proportional to the oxygen concentration in the maternal blood; future work could consider the additional oxygen binding dynamics that have been used by previous authors (e.g., [40, 48]), or consider the transport of other nutrients and waste products in the placenta.

The geometry we considered throughout this thesis was a highly simplified model of true placental structure, constructed by taking a 2D planar cross-section through a 3D spherical cap using approximations of placental dimensions. We made several simplifying assumptions, including that the cross-section intersects perfectly through the centre of all vessels, as well as an assumed shape and size of these vessels. An obvious extension to our work is to consider organ-scale maternal flow on a representative 3D placenta geometry, constructed either through a similar procedure to what is presented in 2D in this thesis, or from in vivo imaging data. Nevertheless, the 2D approach here has been essential in supporting the preliminary work of the University of Nottingham's Wellcome Leap In Utero project, SWiRL.

7.2.2 Numerical methods

We employed a discontinuous Galerkin finite element method (DGFEM) to discretise spatial derivatives, and a simple backward Euler scheme to discretise temporal derivatives. The first-order accuracy of the backward Euler scheme limited us to a choice of relatively small time-step sizes. An obvious improvement would be to select another unconditionally stable scheme such as the trapezoidal rule, backward differentiation formula (BDF), or a scheme from the Runge-Kutta family; these schemes would permit larger time-step sizes and would allow for longer time simulations.

The computational meshes used in this thesis comprised many different size elements, with a coarse mesh deeper into the IVS, and a finer mesh in the vessels and surrounding central cavity; in general, we found a relatively high mesh resolution was required to resolve spurious overshoots in the oxygen concentration problem, with the mesh used for the asymmetrical study in §3.4.2 (and related studies through Chapters 5 and 6) consisting of 2 335 705 mesh elements. A simplification we made was that the computational mesh must remain the same between the blood flow and oxygen concentration discretisations;

future work could relax this assumption, thereby using a coarse mesh for the blood flow approximation and a fine mesh for the oxygen transport approximation, which would ultimately lower the overall computational cost. Furthermore, techniques such as artificial viscosity or adaptivity could also be employed, allowing the use of meshes with fewer elements and thereby further lowering the computational cost.

7.2.3 Effects of placental structural on placental efficiency

The approach of Chapter 4 was to consider several thousands of realisations of flow and oxygen concentration fields, each characterised by seven lower-dimensional measures. There are likely several other choices of measure that would have given us further insight into the flow and oxygen transport behaviour, and therefore a better understanding of placental disease, such as measures characterising vessel position, or outlet routes via particle tracking.

The first part of this chapter considered variations in both the number and position of vessels. These variations were considered simultaneously, and therefore an obvious next step would be to consider these effects separately. In addition, the geometry was parameterised with at most two basal plate veins per placentone, three septal wall veins, and two permanently retained marginal sinus veins. Future work could consider geometries without these restrictions, and also investigate the role that each type of vein has in blood flow and oxygen transport.

The second part of this chapter considered variations in seven other parameters, with fixed numbers and positions of vessels; this was an assumption, and subsequent work could investigate the different choices of vessel placement in combination with these other parameter variations. Our results most notably found that our study of variations in artery width had minimal impact on the measures, despite physiological reports that small artery widths are associated with disease (e.g., [14]). We noted that this was likely due to damage to the villous tree, rather than behaviour that small artery widths directly influence, and therefore future work could consider a model of villous tree damage. Future work could also consider the effects of other likely impactful parameter variations, such as the cavity transition width and artery shape, and their influence on placental disease.

Whilst the results of this thesis are restricted to 2D, the computational demand is much lower than an equivalent 3D study; this comprehensive 2D study has allowed us to focus the more computationally intensive investigations of Crowson et al. [1].

7.2.4 Numerical MRI

Chapter 5 introduced a method for numerical MRI, where signals are computed numerically for some underlying flow field. For computational simplicity, we made the simplification that each particle's velocity remained constant for the duration of the MRI pulse. Future work could therefore consider particle trajectories along the streamlines of the flow.

The approach of this chapter allowed us to infer a local flow field in the MRI data by manually selecting voxels with similar behaviour. However, there are inherent issues in locating comparable voxels between simulated and physical flow data without computing simulated flow fields on the same placental geometry. Future work could compute flow and numerical MRI signals on a comparable 3D geometry, or design an automatic algorithm that selects similar voxels in both the physical MRI and simulated MRI data for comparison.

This thesis only considered motion-sensitising MRI sequences; an interesting extension would therefore be to compute MRI signals using our simulated oxygen concentration field, and compare this to in vivo MRI oxygenation data. Additionally, the majority of the presented methods are unspecific to the placenta, as they only require an underlying flow field. Therefore, future work could reapply these techniques to MRI of other organs such as the brain.

7.2.5 Utero-placental pump

As far as we are aware, Chapter 6 presented the first mathematical model of the uteroplacental pump. For simplicity, we considered a representative volume change using a prescribed domain velocity. Future work taking this approach could investigate the effect of different choices of this domain velocity that better match physiological observations, such as a domain velocity that changes placental shape in only the horizontal direction.

Furthermore, an interesting extension to this work would be to consider the appropriateness of contracting villous trees in describing the utero-placental pump, for instance by reapplying the work of Kato, Oyen, and Burton [39]. Alternatively, other biophysical mechanisms could be investigated which respect the data of Gowland et al. [136].

Appendix A Details on the smooth transition function

To mathematically define an expression for $\Psi(\mathbf{x})$ in §2.2, we first introduce some auxiliary variables. The simple idea here is that we assign $\Psi = 1$ in areas of villous tree and $\Psi = 0$ in areas of no villous tree.

The central cavity is defined by half an ellipse (a semi-ellipse) with a semi-minor axis of a_1 and a semi-major axis of b_1 , where $2a_1 = b_1$ with a_1 denoting the semi-axis that is tangential to the basal plate. We then add two more ellipses at equal distances inside and outside the first ellipse, which acts as a transition region. We introduce a smooth transition function defined as

$$\beta_{s_0, s_1, s_2}(s) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } 0 \le s < s_0, \\ \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\tanh\left(\gamma\left\{\frac{s-s_1}{s_2-s_1}\right\}\right)}{\tanh(\gamma)} + 1 \right], & \text{if } s_0 \le s \le s_2, \\ 1 & \text{if } s_2 < s, \end{cases}$$
(A.1)

where $s_2 - s_0$ gives the transition width, and we assume the relation $s_1 \equiv \frac{s_0+s_2}{2}$. We note that β differs from tanh, as tanh has asymptotes at ± 1 , whereas β has no such asymptotes; β instead attains maximum and minimum values by taking a 'cut-off' value, parameterised by γ , outside which β attains its extrema. We note that the scaling γ is included so that β is continuous everywhere, and is fixed $\gamma = 0.999$. These differences are illustrated in Figure A.1(a).

The ellipses which form the geometry of the smooth transition region at the boundary



Figure A.1: (a) Curve of $\beta(s)$ in relation to s_0 , s_1 , and s_2 . (b) Curve showing a slice of Ψ on a placentone along y = 0 (i.e. on the basal plate) at the bottom of the cavity region, where a_0 , a_1 , and a_2 respectively denote the semi-minor axes of the inner, centre, and outer ellipses.

of the central cavity are defined by

$$r_0(\theta) := \frac{a_0 b_0}{\sqrt{a_0^2 \sin^2(\theta) + b_0^2 \cos^2(\theta)}},$$
(A.2)

$$r_1(\theta) := \frac{a_1 b_1}{\sqrt{a_1^2 \sin^2(\theta) + b_1^2 \cos^2(\theta)}},$$
(A.3)

$$r_2(\theta) := \frac{a_2 b_2}{\sqrt{a_2^2 \sin^2(\theta) + b_2^2 \cos^2(\theta)}},$$
(A.4)

where $\mathbf{x} \equiv (x, y)^{\intercal}$ are 2D Cartesian coordinates, and

$$\theta(\mathbf{x}) := \arctan\left(\frac{y-c_2}{x-c_1}\right),$$
(A.5)

$$r(\mathbf{x}) := \sqrt{(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{c}) \cdot (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{c})}$$
(A.6)

are 2D polar coordinates with r = 0 at $\mathbf{c} \equiv (c_1, c_2)^{\intercal}$ and $\theta = 0$ is tangential to the interface between $\Omega_{\rm CC}$ and $\Omega_{\rm a}$ (pointing in the anticlockwise direction). Here, \mathbf{c} is the point at the centre of where an artery meets the placenta. The transition width, τ , is defined such that $\tau = a_2 - a_0$ and $2\tau = b_2 - b_0$. The transition region in the central cavity is illustrated in Figure A.2(a).

The smooth transition regions in the veins are defined using

$$m(\mathbf{x}) := (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{c}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{n}},$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{n}} := \mathbf{n}/|\mathbf{n}|$, $\mathbf{n} = \mathbf{c} - \mathbf{p}$, and $\mathbf{p} \equiv (p_1, p_2)^{\mathsf{T}}$ is the centre of the large circle that traces out the curve on the basal plate. Here, \mathbf{c} is the point at the centre of where a vein meets the placenta.



Figure A.2: (a) Illustrates the semi-minor and semi-major axes defined in Appendix A for the central cavity transition, including the marked point at the top of the centre of the inlet artery. (b) Illustrates parameters used in defining the smooth transition over the outlet veins.

The coefficient Ψ is then given as

$$\Psi(\mathbf{x}) := \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \mathbf{x} \in \Omega_{\mathrm{a}} \cup \Omega_{\mathrm{CC}}, \\ \beta_{r_0, r_1, r_2}(r(\mathbf{x})), & \text{if } \mathbf{x} \in \Omega_{\mathrm{T}^-} \cup \Omega_{\mathrm{T}^+}, \\ \beta_{y_0, y_1, y_2}(m(\mathbf{x})), & \text{if } \mathbf{x} \in \Omega_{\mathrm{v}}, \\ 1, & \text{if } \mathbf{x} \in \Omega_{\mathrm{IVS}}, \end{cases}$$
(A.7)

where $y_2 - y_0$ is chosen to give a transition region in the veins with $y_1 \equiv \frac{y_0 + y_2}{2}$, which are shown in Figure A.2(b). A slice of $\Psi(\mathbf{x})$ on the placentone geometry along y = 0 is illustrated in Figure A.1(b).
Appendix B Detailed comparison of flow models

This appendix follows the results of §3.4 and discusses them in more detail.

On the 2D placentone simulations presented in Figure 3.3, we immediately notice that the flow for S-B in Figure 3.3(b) is the only flow that does not exhibit recirculations in the central cavity. Figures 3.3(a) and 3.3(c) have mostly similar behaviour. To see in which regions of the domains these models differ, we take differences of the solution on the placentone geometry for each combination of model (i.e. for models i and jrespectively having velocity fields \mathbf{u}_i and \mathbf{u}_i , we compute velocity magnitude using the usual Euclidean norm over Ω : $\|\mathbf{u}_i - \mathbf{u}_j\|_{L^2}$). We will refer to these fields as 'difference fields'. We study the difference fields only on the placentone geometry, as the differences in flow velocity are mostly localised to the arteries. The difference fields between all three velocity models are presented in Figure B.1; note that the difference fields are visualised with a logarithmically-scaled colour scale, so differences may appear exaggerated. The difference fields involving S-B in Figures B.1(a) and B.1(c) are relatively large, especially in the central cavity region, but also in the upper section of the diverged artery. The difference field involving NSD with NS-NSD is shown in Figure B.1(b), which are clearly similar due to NSD and NS-NSD in themselves behaving similarly. We notice that the difference field in the artery is very small, and in fact small just above the artery, but grows larger further away from the artery mouth. Returning to Figure 3.3, we can see the centre of the recirculation zones for NSD sit closer to the artery than those shown for NS-NSD, therefore increasing the value in the difference field in the cavity here; this effect is also likely sensitive to the chosen cavity transition, τ .

To make a quantitative comparison, we also compute the L^2 -norm between each combination of solutions. That is to say, for velocity fields \mathbf{u}_i and \mathbf{u}_j , we compute

$$\|\mathbf{u}_i - \mathbf{u}_j\|_{L^2} := \sqrt{\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u}_i - \mathbf{u}_j) \cdot (\mathbf{u}_i - \mathbf{u}_j) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}}.$$
 (B.1)



Figure 3.3 (repeated): Velocity plot on placentone geometry (§2.1.1) presenting the results of §3.4.1 for the three velocity models: NSD from equation (2.1), S-B from equation (2.4), and NS-NSD from equation (2.5). Plots show a logarithmically-scaled velocity colouring and streamlines shown in black for (a) NSD, (b) S-B, and (c) NS-NSD. All models apply boundary conditions and problem parameters presented in §2.2.1.

	NSD	S-B	NS-NSD
NSD (Equation (2.1))	0	-	-
S-B (Equation (2.4))	8.43×10^{-3}	0	-
NS-NSD (Equation (2.5))	8.69×10^{-3}	1.31×10^{-2}	0

Table B.1: L_2 -norm of solutions on the placentone geometry using each combination of the
three velocity models.

These norms are given in Table B.1. We notice that the largest norm is between S-B and NS-NSD, which likely is contributed to by the lack of recirculations with S-B. This analysis overall shows us quantitatively that all three models are 'close' under the L^2 -norm, and agrees with the qualitative comparisons we made in §3.4.1.



Figure B.1: Difference fields on a placentone, visualised with a logarithmic colour scaling. Differences are computed between approximations to (a) NSD and S-B (Equations (2.1) and (2.4)), (b) NSD and NS-NSD (Equations (2.1) and (2.5)), (c) S-B and NS-NSD (Equations (2.4) and (2.5)).

Appendix C Lax-Friedrichs flux α parameter

We will derive the α parameter used in the modified Lax-Friedrichs flux in Equation (6.15); a similar procedure may be followed for the standard Lax-Friedrichs flux in Equation (3.7) by selecting $\mathbf{w} \equiv \mathbf{0}$.

The Lax-Friedrichs flux used in Chapter 6, $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$, is defined in Equation 6.15; $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is a numerical flux function that approximates $(\mathbf{u} \otimes [\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{w}]) \cdot \mathbf{n}$. To help the reader, we rewrite these equations below:

$$\bar{\mathcal{H}}_{f}(\mathbf{u}^{+},\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma},\mathbf{n};\mathbf{w}) := \frac{1}{2}((\mathbf{u}^{+}\otimes[\mathbf{u}^{+}-\mathbf{w}])\cdot\mathbf{n} + (\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}\otimes[\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma}-\mathbf{w}])\cdot\mathbf{n} + (\alpha\mathbf{u}^{+}-\alpha\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma})),$$
(6.15 repeated)

where

$$\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma} := \begin{cases} \mathbf{u}^{-} & \text{on } \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{I}}, \\ \mathbf{u}^{+} & \text{on } \Gamma_{N}, \\ \mathbf{g}_{D} & \text{on } \Gamma_{D}, \end{cases}$$
(3.6 repeated)

and α is an estimate of the largest eigenvalue (in absolute value) of the following Jacobi matrix in the neighbourhood of the boundary of the element it is computed on (i.e. $\partial \kappa$) [141]:

$$rac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{u}}\left[\left(\mathbf{u}\otimes\left[\mathbf{u}-\mathbf{w}
ight]
ight)\cdot\mathbf{n}
ight].$$

Writing $\mathbf{u} \equiv (u_1, u_2)^{\intercal}$, $\mathbf{n} \equiv (n_1, n_2)^{\intercal}$, and $\mathbf{w} \equiv (w_1, w_2)^{\intercal}$, we have

$$(\mathbf{u} \otimes [\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{w}]) \cdot \mathbf{n} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} u_1(u_1 - w_1) & u_1(u_2 - w_2) \\ u_2(u_1 - w_1) & u_2(u_2 - w_2) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} n_1 \\ n_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Taking the derivative with respect to ${\bf u}$ gives

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{u}} \left[(\mathbf{u} \otimes [\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{w}]) \cdot \mathbf{n} \right] \equiv \begin{bmatrix} u_1 n_2 + (\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{n} & u_1 n_2 \\ u_2 n_1 & u_2 n_2 + (\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{w}) \cdot \mathbf{n} \end{bmatrix}$$

for which the eigenvalues are $2\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}$ and $\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}$; therefore, we obtain

$$\alpha = \max(|2\mathbf{u}^+ \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}|, |2\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma} \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}|, |\mathbf{u}^+ \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}|, |\mathbf{u}_{\Gamma} \cdot \mathbf{n} - \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n}|).$$
(6.16 repeated)

Bibliography

- Zak Crowson, Adam Blakey, Paul Houston, Matthew Hubbard, Lopa Leach, and Reuben O'Dea. "Investigating Placental Hemodynamics: A Morphological Sensitivity Study". Manuscript in preparation. 2024.
- [2] George Hutchinson, Adam Blakey, Nia Jones, Lopa Leach, Paul Houston, Matthew Hubbard, Reuben O'Dea, and Penny Gowland. "The Effects of Maternal Flow on Placental Diffusion Weighted MRI and IVIM Parameters". Manuscript in preparation. 2024.
- [3] Rohan M. Lewis, Jane K. Cleal, and Bram G. Sengers. "Placental Perfusion and Mathematical Modelling". In: *Placenta* 93 (Apr. 2020), pp. 43–48. ISSN: 01434004.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2020.02.015.
- [4] Gareth A. Nye, Emma Ingram, Edward D. Johnstone, Oliver E. Jensen, Henning Schneider, Rohan M. Lewis, Igor L. Chernyavsky, and Paul Brownbill. "Human Placental Oxygenation in Late Gestation: Experimental and Theoretical Approaches". In: *The Journal of Physiology* 596.23 (2018). DOI: 10.1113/JP275633.
- Oliver E. Jensen and Igor L. Chernyavsky. "Blood Flow and Transport in the Human Placenta". In: Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics 51.1 (Jan. 5, 2019), pp. 25–47. ISSN: 0066-4189, 1545-4479. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-fluid-010518-040219.
- [6] Kurt Benirschke, Graham J. Burton, and Rebecca N. Baergen. Pathology of the Human Placenta. 6th ed. Berlin London: Springer, 2012. ISBN: 978-3-642-23941-0.
- [7] Maryam Afrakhteh, Aida Moeini, Morteza Sanei Taheri, and Hamid Reza Haghighatkhah. "Correlation between Placental Thickness in the Second and Third Trimester and Fetal Weight". In: *Revista Brasileira de Ginecologia e Obstetrícia* 35.7 (July 2013), pp. 317–322. ISSN: 0100-7203. DOI: 10.1590/S0100-72032013000700006.
- [8] E. Lecarpentier, M. Bhatt, G. I. Bertin, B. Deloison, L. J. Salomon, P. Deloron, T. Fournier, A. I. Barakat, and V. Tsatsaris. "Computational Fluid Dynamic Simulations of Maternal Circulation: Wall Shear Stress in the Human Placenta and

Its Biological Implications". In: *PLOS ONE* 11.1 (Jan. 27, 2016). Ed. by Alberto Aliseda. ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147262.

- [9] Peter Kaufmann and Richard K. Miller, eds. Placental Vascularization and Blood Flow. Boston, MA: Springer US, 1988. ISBN: 978-1-4615-8111-6. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4615-8109-3.
- [10] A. S. Serov, C. Salafia, D. S. Grebenkov, and M. Filoche. "The Role of Morphology in Mathematical Models of Placental Gas Exchange". In: *Journal of Applied Physiology* 120.1 (Jan. 1, 2016), pp. 17–28. ISSN: 8750-7587, 1522-1601. DOI: 10. 1152/japplphysiol.00543.2015.
- [11] Dimitrios Amanitis, Fenia Deligianni, Reem Abuhaimed, and Lopa Leach. "An Ex-Vivo Macroscopic Analysis of the Human Placental Inter-Lobular and Inter-Cotyledon Septum and Vessels Therein from Normal Pregnancies". In: *Placenta* 140 (2023), e68–e69. ISSN: 0143-4004. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2023.07.218.
- I.L. Chernyavsky, O.E. Jensen, and L. Leach. "A Mathematical Model of Intervillous Blood Flow in the Human Placentone". In: *Placenta* 31.1 (Jan. 2010), pp. 44–52.
 ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.11.003.
- [13] A. K. Nanaev, G. Kosanke, B. Kemp, H. G. Frank, B. Huppertz, and P. Kaufmann.
 "The Human Placenta Is Encircled by a Ring of Smooth Muscle Cells". In: *Placenta* 21.1 (2000). DOI: 10.1053/plac.1999.0455.
- [14] G.J. Burton, A.W. Woods, E. Jauniaux, and J.C.P. Kingdom. "Rheological and Physiological Consequences of Conversion of the Maternal Spiral Arteries for Uteroplacental Blood Flow during Human Pregnancy". In: *Placenta* 30.6 (June 2009), pp. 473–482. ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.02.009.
- [15] Joanna L James, Rojan Saghian, Rebecca Perwick, and Alys R Clark. "Trophoblast Plugs: Impact on Utero-Placental Haemodynamics and Spiral Artery Remodelling". In: *Human Reproduction* 33.8 (Aug. 1, 2018), pp. 1430–1441. ISSN: 0268-1161, 1460-2350. DOI: 10.1093/humrep/dey225.
- [16] Rojan Saghian, Joanna L. James, Merryn H. Tawhai, Sally L. Collins, and Alys R. Clark. "Association of Placental Jets and Mega-Jets With Reduced Villous Density". In: Journal of Biomechanical Engineering 139.5 (May 1, 2017), p. 051001. ISSN: 0148-0731, 1528-8951. DOI: 10.1115/1.4036145.
- S.L. Collins, G.N. Stevenson, J.A. Noble, and L. Impey. "Developmental Changes in Spiral Artery Blood Flow in the Human Placenta Observed with Colour Doppler Ultrasonography". In: *Placenta* 33.10 (Oct. 2012), pp. 782–787. ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.07.005.

- [18] George Hutchinson, Neele Dellschaft, Simon Shah, Nia Jones, Lopa Leach, and Penny Gowland. "First in Vivo Demonstration of Venous Return in the Human Placenta". In: Proc. Intl. Soc. Mag. Reson. Med. 28 (2020). ISMRM 2020. 2020.
- [19] James D. Boyd and William J. Hamilton. *The Human Placenta*. Cambridge: Heffer, 1970. 365 pp. ISBN: 978-0-85270-040-2.
- [20] Neele S. Dellschaft, George Hutchinson, Simon Shah, Nia W. Jones, Chris Bradley, Lopa Leach, Craig Platt, Richard Bowtell, and Penny A. Gowland. "The Haemodynamics of the Human Placenta in Utero". In: *PLOS Biology* 18.5 (May 28, 2020). Ed. by Masahito Ikawa, e3000676. ISSN: 1545-7885. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 3000676.
- [21] Alys R. Clark, Tet Chuan Lee, and Joanna L. James. "Computational Modeling of the Interactions between the Maternal and Fetal Circulations in Human Pregnancy". In: WIREs Mechanisms of Disease 13.1 (Jan. 2021). ISSN: 2692-9368, 2692-9368. DOI: 10.1002/wsbm.1502.
- [22] Suranjana Banik, Ajita Rajkumari, AribamJaishree Devi, Ruma Sarkar, and Meenakumari Ayekpam. "Placental Thickness Measurement by Ultrasonography and Its Correlation with Gestational Age of Fetus in the Manipuri Population". In: *International Journal of Applied and Basic Medical Research* 12.2 (2022), p. 117. ISSN: 2229-516X. DOI: 10.4103/ijabmr.ijabmr_658_21.
- [23] J. Hempstock, Y-P. Bao, M. Bar-Issac, N. Segaren, A.L. Watson, D.S. Charnock-Jones, E. Jauniaux, and G.J. Burton. "Intralobular Differences in Antioxidant Enzyme Expression and Activity Reflect the Pattern of Maternal Arterial Bloodflow Within the Human Placenta". In: *Placenta* 24.5 (May 2003), pp. 517–523. ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1053/plac.2002.0955.
- [24] Alys R. Clark, Igor L. Chernyavsky, and Oliver E. Jensen. "The Complexities of the Human Placenta". In: *Physics Today* 76.4 (Apr. 1, 2023), p. 26. ISSN: 0031-9228, 1945-0699. DOI: 10.1063/PT.3.5216.
- [25] Davis Laundon, Neil J Gostling, Bram G Sengers, Pascale Chavatte-Palmer, and Rohan M Lewis. "Placental Evolution from a Three-Dimensional and Multiscale Structural Perspective". In: *Evolution* 78.1 (Jan. 4, 2024). Ed. by Tristan Stayton and Tracey Chapman, pp. 13–25. ISSN: 0014-3820, 1558-5646. DOI: 10.1093/ evolut/qpad209.
- [26] Evdokia Dimitriadis, Daniel L. Rolnik, Wei Zhou, Guadalupe Estrada-Gutierrez, Kaori Koga, Rossana P. V. Francisco, Clare Whitehead, Jon Hyett, Fabricio Da Silva Costa, Kypros Nicolaides, and Ellen Menkhorst. "Pre-Eclampsia". In: *Nature Reviews Disease Primers* 9.1 (Feb. 16, 2023), p. 8. ISSN: 2056-676X. DOI: 10.1038/ s41572-023-00417-6.

- [27] Gordon Cs Smith and Ruth C Fretts. "Stillbirth". In: *The Lancet* 370.9600 (Nov. 2007), pp. 1715–1725. ISSN: 01406736. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61723-1.
- [28] Robert Resnik. "Intrauterine Growth Restriction". In: Obstetrics & Gynecology. High-Risk Pregnancy 99.3 (Mar. 2002), pp. 490–496.
- [29] Cherry Sun, Katie M. Groom, Charlotte Oyston, Lawrence W. Chamley, Alys R. Clark, and Joanna L. James. "The Placenta in Fetal Growth Restriction: What Is Going Wrong?" In: *Placenta* 96 (July 2020), pp. 10–18. ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2020.05.003.
- [30] Graham J. Burton and Eric Jauniaux. "Pathophysiology of Placental-Derived Fetal Growth Restriction". In: American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 218.2 (Feb. 2018), S745–S761. ISSN: 00029378. DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.11.577.
- [31] Sophie Couper, Alys Clark, John M. D. Thompson, Dimitra Flouri, Rosalind Aughwane, Anna L. David, Andrew Melbourne, Ali Mirjalili, and Peter R. Stone.
 "The Effects of Maternal Position, in Late Gestation Pregnancy, on Placental Blood Flow and Oxygenation: An MRI Study". In: *The Journal of Physiology* 599.6 (Mar. 2021), pp. 1901–1915. ISSN: 0022-3751, 1469-7793. DOI: 10.1113/JP280569.
- [32] Christian J. Roth, Eva Haeussner, Tanja Ruebelmann, Franz v. Koch, Christoph Schmitz, Hans-Georg Frank, and Wolfgang A. Wall. "Dynamic Modeling of Uteroplacental Blood Flow in IUGR Indicates Vortices and Elevated Pressure in the Intervillous Space – a Pilot Study". In: *Scientific Reports* 7.1 (Feb. 2017), p. 40771. ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/srep40771.
- [33] Kermit E. Krantz and Joe C. Parker. "Contractile Properties of the Smooth Muscle in the Human Placenta". In: *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology* 6.1 (1963). ISSN: 0009-9201.
- [34] Anne E. Farley, Charles H. Graham, and Graeme N. Smith. "Contractile Properties of Human Placental Anchoring Villi". In: American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 287.3 (2004). DOI: 10.1152/ ajpregu.00222.2004.
- [35] Yves Lecarpentier, Victor Claes, Edouard Lecarpentier, Catherine Guerin, Jean-Louis Hébert, Abdelilah Arsalane, Abdelouahab Moumen, Xénophon Krokidis, Francine Michel, and Oumar Timbely. "Ultraslow Myosin Molecular Motors of Placental Contractile Stem Villi in Humans". In: *PLoS ONE* 9.9 (Sept. 30, 2014). Ed. by Maria Cristina Vinci, e108814. ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108814.

- [36] Kaori Togashi, Satoshi Kawakami, Isshu Kimura, Reinin Asato, Kenji Takakura, Takahide Mori, and Junji Konishi. "Sustained Uterine Contractions: A Cause of Hypointense Myometrial Bulging". In: *Radiology* 187.3 (1993). DOI: 10.1148/ radiology.187.3.8497617.
- [37] H. Schneider and J. Dancis. "Modified Double-Circuit in Vitro Perfusion of Placenta". In: American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 148.6 (Mar. 1984), p. 836. ISSN: 00029378. DOI: 10.1016/0002-9378(84)90591-X.
- [38] Win M. Tun, Choon Hwai Yap, Shier Nee Saw, Joanna L. James, and Alys R. Clark.
 "Differences in Placental Capillary Shear Stress in Fetal Growth Restriction May Affect Endothelial Cell Function and Vascular Network Formation". In: Scientific Reports 9.1 (July 8, 2019), p. 9876. ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-46151-6.
- [39] Yoko Kato, Michelle L. Oyen, and Graham J. Burton. "Villous Tree Model with Active Contractions for Estimating Blood Flow Conditions in the Human Placenta". In: *The Open Biomedical Engineering Journal* 11.1 (Apr. 14, 2017), pp. 36–48. ISSN: 1874-1207. DOI: 10.2174/1874120701711010036.
- [40] A.S. Serov, C.M. Salafia, P. Brownbill, D.S. Grebenkov, and M. Filoche. "Optimal Villi Density for Maximal Oxygen Uptake in the Human Placenta". In: *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 364 (Jan. 2015), pp. 383–396. ISSN: 00225193. DOI: 10.1016/j. jtbi.2014.09.022.
- [41] A. R. Clark, M. Lin, M. Tawhai, R. Saghian, and J. L. James. "Multiscale Modelling of the Feto-Placental Vasculature". In: *Interface Focus* 5.2 (Apr. 6, 2015), p. 20140078. ISSN: 2042-8898, 2042-8901. DOI: 10.1098/rsfs.2014.0078.
- [42] Igor L. Chernyavsky, Lopa Leach, Ian L. Dryden, and Oliver E. Jensen. "Transport in the Placenta: Homogenizing Haemodynamics in a Disordered Medium". In: *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 369.1954 (Nov. 13, 2011), pp. 4162–4182. ISSN: 1364-503X, 1471-2962. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2011.0170.
- [43] Fei Tao, Bin Xiao, Qinglin Qi, Jiangfeng Cheng, and Ping Ji. "Digital Twin Modeling". In: *Journal of Manufacturing Systems* 64 (July 2022), pp. 372–389.
 ISSN: 02786125. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2022.06.015.
- [44] Alberto Zingaro, Christian Vergara, Luca Dede', Francesco Regazzoni, and Alfio Quarteroni. "A Comprehensive Mathematical Model for Cardiac Perfusion". In: *Scientific Reports* 13.1 (Aug. 30, 2023), p. 14220. ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/ s41598-023-41312-0.

- [45] Daibo Zhang and Stephanie E. Lindsey. "Recasting Current Knowledge of Human Fetal Circulation: The Importance of Computational Models". In: *Journal of Cardiovascular Development and Disease* 10.6 (May 30, 2023), p. 240. ISSN: 2308-3425. DOI: 10.3390/jcdd10060240.
- [46] Alexander Erlich, Philip Pearce, Romina Plitman Mayo, Oliver E. Jensen, and Igor L. Chernyavsky. "Physical and Geometric Determinants of Transport in Fetoplacental Microvascular Networks". In: Science Advances 5.4 (Apr. 5, 2019), eaav6326. ISSN: 2375-2548. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.aav6326.
- [47] Alexander Erlich, Gareth A. Nye, Paul Brownbill, Oliver E. Jensen, and Igor L. Chernyavsky. "Quantifying the Impact of Tissue Metabolism on Solute Transport in Feto-Placental Microvascular Networks". In: *Interface Focus* 9.5 (Oct. 6, 2019), p. 20190021. ISSN: 2042-8898, 2042-8901. DOI: 10.1098/rsfs.2019.0021.
- [48] Philip Pearce, Paul Brownbill, Jiří Janáček, Marie Jirkovská, Lucie Kubínová, Igor L. Chernyavsky, and Oliver E. Jensen. "Image-Based Modeling of Blood Flow and Oxygen Transfer in Feto-Placental Capillaries". In: *PLOS ONE* 11.10 (Oct. 27, 2016). Ed. by Ana Claudia Zenclussen, e0165369. ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165369.
- [49] Romina Plitman Mayo, D. Stephen Charnock-Jones, Graham J. Burton, and Michelle L. Oyen. "Three-Dimensional Modeling of Human Placental Terminal Villi". In: *Placenta* 43 (July 2016), pp. 54–60. ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1016/j. placenta.2016.05.001.
- [50] Dorothea Kasiteropoulou, Anastasia Topalidou, and Soo Downe. "A Computational Fluid Dynamics Modelling of Maternal-Fetal Heat Exchange and Blood Flow in the Umbilical Cord". In: *PLOS ONE* 15.7 (July 28, 2020). Ed. by Djamel Eddine Ameziani, e0231997. ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231997.
- [51] S. Perazzolo, R.M. Lewis, and B.G. Sengers. "Modelling the Effect of Intervillous Flow on Solute Transfer Based on 3D Imaging of the Human Placental Microstructure". In: *Placenta* 60 (Dec. 2017), pp. 21–27. ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2017.10.003.
- [52] F.F. Erian, S. Corrsin, and S.H. Davis. "Maternal, Placental Blood Flow: A Model with Velocity-Dependent Permeability". In: *Journal of Biomechanics* 10.11-12 (Jan. 1977), pp. 807–814. ISSN: 00219290. DOI: 10.1016/0021-9290(77)90095-1.
- [53] Mabelle Lin, Benjamin Mauroy, Joanna L. James, Merryn H. Tawhai, and Alys R. Clark. "A Multiscale Model of Placental Oxygen Exchange: The Effect of Villous Tree Structure on Exchange Efficiency". In: *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 408 (Nov. 2016), pp. 1–12. ISSN: 00225193. DOI: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2016.06.037.

- [54] Tirosh Mekler, Romina Plitman Mayo, Jonathan Weissmann, and Gil Marom.
 "Impact of Tissue Porosity and Asymmetry on the Oxygen Uptake of the Human Placenta: A Numerical Study". In: *Placenta* 129 (Nov. 2022), pp. 15–22. ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2022.09.008.
- [55] S. Perazzolo, R. M. Lewis, and B. G. Sengers. "Modelling Nutrient Transfer Based on 3D Imaging of the Human Placental Microstructure". In: 2016 38th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC). 2016 38th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC). Orlando, FL, USA: IEEE, Aug. 2016, pp. 5953–5956. ISBN: 978-1-4577-0220-4. DOI: 10.1109/EMBC.2016.7592084.
- [56] Ep Hill, Gg Power, and Ld Longo. "A Mathematical Model of Carbon Dioxide Transfer in the Placenta and Its Interaction with Oxygen". In: *American Journal* of *Physiology-Legacy Content* 224.2 (Feb. 1, 1973), pp. 283–299. ISSN: 0002-9513. DOI: 10.1152/ajplegacy.1973.224.2.283.
- [57] Laura I Stirrat, Bram G Sengers, Jane E Norman, Natalie Z M Homer, Ruth Andrew, Rohan M Lewis, and Rebecca M Reynolds. "Transfer and Metabolism of Cortisol by the Isolated Perfused Human Placenta". In: *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 103.2 (Feb. 1, 2018), pp. 640–648. ISSN: 0021-972X, 1945-7197. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2017-02140.
- [58] Simone Perazzolo, Birgit Hirschmugl, Christian Wadsack, Gernot Desoye, Rohan M. Lewis, and Bram G. Sengers. "The Influence of Placental Metabolism on Fatty Acid Transfer to the Fetus". In: *Journal of Lipid Research* 58.2 (Feb. 2017), pp. 443–454. ISSN: 00222275. DOI: 10.1194/jlr.P072355.
- [59] Emma M. Lofthouse, Jane Cleal, Rohan M. Lewis, and Bram G. Sengers. "Computational Modelling of Paracellular Diffusion and OCT3 Mediated Transport of Metformin in the Perfused Human Placenta". In: *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 112.9 (Sept. 2023), pp. 2570–2580. ISSN: 00223549. DOI: 10.1016/j.xphs. 2023.05.008.
- [60] Birgit Hirschmugl, Simone Perazzolo, Bram G. Sengers, Rohan M. Lewis, Michael Gruber, Gernot Desoye, and Christian Wadsack. "Placental Mobilization of Free Fatty Acids Contributes to Altered Materno-Fetal Transfer in Obesity". In: *International Journal of Obesity* 45.5 (May 2021), pp. 1114–1123. ISSN: 0307-0565, 1476-5497. DOI: 10.1038/s41366-021-00781-x.
- [61] J. Collis, D. L. Brown, M. E. Hubbard, and R. D. O'Dea. "Effective Equations Governing an Active Poroelastic Medium". In: *Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 473.2198 (Feb. 2017), p. 20160755.
 ISSN: 1364-5021, 1471-2946. DOI: 10.1098/rspa.2016.0755.

- [62] H. C. Brinkman. "A Calculation of the Viscous Force Exerted by a Flowing Fluid on a Dense Swarm of Particles". In: *Flow, Turbulence and Combustion* 1.1 (1949). DOI: 10.1007/BF02120313.
- [63] Donald A. Nield and Adrian Bejan. Convection in Porous Media. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2017. ISBN: 978-3-319-49562-0. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-49562-0.
- [64] Jean-Louis Auriault. "On the Domain of Validity of Brinkman's Equation". In: Transport in Porous Media 79 (2009), pp. 215–223. DOI: 10.1007/s11242-008-9308-7.
- [65] Philippe Angot, Charles-Henri Bruneau, and Pierre Fabrie. "A Penalization Method to Take into Account Obstacles in Incompressible Viscous Flows". In: *Numerische Mathematik* 81.4 (Feb. 1, 1999), pp. 497–520. ISSN: 0029-599X, 0945-3245. DOI: 10.1007/s002110050401.
- [66] Jana Fuchsberger, Philipp Aigner, Steven Niederer, Gernot Plank, Heinrich Schima, Gundolf Haase, and Elias Karabelas. "On the Incorporation of Obstacles in a Fluid Flow Problem Using a Navier–Stokes–Brinkman Penalization Approach". In: *Journal of Computational Science* 57 (Jan. 2022), p. 101506. ISSN: 18777503. DOI: 10.1016/j.jocs.2021.101506.
- [67] Thomas Engels, Dmitry Kolomenskiy, Kai Schneider, and Jörn Sesterhenn. "FluSI: A Novel Parallel Simulation Tool for Flapping Insect Flight Using a Fourier Method with Volume Penalization". In: SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing 38.5 (Jan. 2016), S3–S24. ISSN: 1064-8275, 1095-7197. DOI: 10.1137/15M1026006.
- [68] Cunqi Jia, Kamy Sepehrnoori, Zhaoqin Huang, and Jun Yao. "Modeling and Analysis of Carbonate Matrix Acidizing Using a New Two-Scale Continuum Model". In: SPE Journal 26.05 (Oct. 13, 2021), pp. 2570–2599. ISSN: 1086-055X, 1930-0220. DOI: 10.2118/205012-PA.
- [69] C.T. Hsu and P. Cheng. "Thermal Dispersion in a Porous Medium". In: International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer 33.8 (Aug. 1990), pp. 1587–1597. ISSN: 00179310.
 DOI: 10.1016/0017-9310(90)90015-M.
- [70] D.A. Nield. "The Limitations of the Brinkman-Forchheimer Equation in Modeling Flow in a Saturated Porous Medium and at an Interface". In: International Journal of Heat and Fluid Flow 12.3 (Sept. 1991), pp. 269–272. ISSN: 0142727X. DOI: 10.1016/0142-727X(91)90062-Z.
- [71] R. Courant. "Variational Methods for the Solution of Problems of Equilibrium and Vibrations". In: Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society 49.1 (1943), pp. 1–23. ISSN: 0273-0979, 1088-9485. DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9904-1943-07818-4.

- [72] Ray Clough. "The Finite Element Method in Plane Stress Analysis". In: Proceedings of 2nd ASCE Conference on Electronic Computation, Pittsburgh Pa., Sept. 8 and 9, 1960 (1960).
- [73] K. K. Gupta and J. L. Meek. "A Brief History of the Beginning of the Finite Element Method". In: International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering 39.22 (1996), pp. 3761–3774. DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0207(19961130)39: 22<3761::AID-NME22>3.0.CO;2-5.
- [74] J. H. Argyris and S. Kelsey. *Energy Theorems and Structural Analysis*. Springer New York, 1960. ISBN: 978-1-4899-5850-1. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4899-5850-1.
- [75] M. J. Turner, R. W. Clough, H. C. Martin, and L. J. Topp. "Stiffness and Deflection Analysis of Complex Structures". In: *Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences* 23.9 (1956). DOI: 10.2514/8.3664.
- [76] O. C Zienkiewicz and R. L. Taylor. The Finite Element Method. Volume 1, Basic Formulation and Linear Problems. McGraw-Hill, 1989. ISBN: 0-07-084174-8.
- [77] Philippe G. Ciarlet. The Finite Element Method for Elliptic Problems. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Jan. 2002. ISBN: 978-0-89871-514-9. DOI: 10.1137/1.9780898719208.
- [78] Douglas N. Arnold, Franco Brezzi, Bernardo Cockburn, and L. Donatella Marini.
 "Unified Analysis of Discontinuous Galerkin Methods for Elliptic Problems". In: SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis 39.5 (2006), pp. 1749–1779. DOI: 10.1137/ S0036142901384162.
- [79] Nicolas Moës, John Dolbow, and Ted Belytschko. "A Finite Element Method for Crack Growth without Remeshing". In: International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering 46.1 (1999), pp. 131–150. DOI: 10.1002/(SICI) 1097-0207(19990910)46:1<131::AID-NME726>3.0.CO;2-J. eprint: https: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/%28SICI%291097-0207% 2819990910%2946%3A1%3C131%3A%3AAID-NME726%3E3.0.CO%3B2-J.
- [80] Erik Burman, Susanne Claus, Peter Hansbo, Mats G. Larson, and André Massing.
 "CutFEM: Discretizing Geometry and Partial Differential Equations". In: International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering 104.7 (Nov. 16, 2015), pp. 472–501. ISSN: 0029-5981, 1097-0207. DOI: 10.1002/nme.4823.
- [81] L. Beirão Da Veiga, F. Brezzi, A. Cangiani, G. Manzini, L. D. Marini, and A. Russo. "Basic Principles of Virtual Element Methods". In: *Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences* 23.01 (Jan. 2013), pp. 199–214. ISSN: 0218-2025, 1793-6314. DOI: 10.1142/S0218202512500492.

- [82] F. Moukalled, L. Mangani, and M. Darwish. The Finite Volume Method in Computational Fluid Dynamics: An Advanced Introduction with OpenFOAM® and Matlab.
 Vol. 113. Fluid Mechanics and Its Applications. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016. ISBN: 978-3-319-16873-9. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-16874-6.
- [83] Andrea Cangiani, Zhaonan Dong, Emmanuil H. Georgoulis, and Paul Houston. *Hp-Version Discontinuous Galerkin Methods on Polygonal and Polyhedral Meshes.* SpringerBriefs in Mathematics. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2017. ISBN: 978-3-319-67671-5. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-67673-9.
- [84] Joseph E Flaherty, Raymond M Loy, Mark S Shephard, and James D Teresco. "Software for the Parallel Adaptive Solution of Conservation Laws by Discontinuous Galerkin Methods". In: *Discontinuous Galerkin Methods*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2000, pp. 113–123. ISBN: 978-3-642-59721-3. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-59721-3_7.
- [85] Matt A. Bernstein, Kevin Franklin King, and Ziaohong Joe Zhou. Handbook of MRI Pulse Sequences. Amsterdam ; Boston: Academic Press, 2004. 1017 pp. ISBN: 978-0-12-092861-3.
- [86] Peter A Rinck. "A Short History of Magnetic Resonance Imaging". In: Spectroscopy Europe 20.1 (2008), pp. 7–10.
- [87] F. Bloch. "Nuclear Induction". In: *Physical Review* 70.7-8 (Oct. 1, 1946), pp. 460–474. ISSN: 0031-899X. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.70.460.
- [88] E. M. Purcell, H. C. Torrey, and R. V. Pound. "Resonance Absorption by Nuclear Magnetic Moments in a Solid". In: *Physical Review* 69.1-2 (Jan. 1, 1946), pp. 37–38.
 ISSN: 0031-899X. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.69.37.
- [89] E. Odeblad and G. Lindstrom. "Some Preliminary Observations on the Proton Magnetic Resonance in Biologic Samples". In: Acta Radiologica Original Series, Volume 43.6 (June 1, 1955), pp. 469–476. ISSN: 0284-1851, 1600-0455. DOI: 10. 1177/028418515504300606.
- [90] Erik Odeblad, Baidya Nath Bhar, and Gunnar Lindström. "Proton Magnetic Resonance of Human Red Blood Cells in Heavy-Water Exchange Experiments". In: Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 63.1 (July 1956), pp. 221-225. ISSN: 00039861. DOI: 10.1016/0003-9861(56)90025-X.
- [91] Erik Odeblad. "The Functional Structure of Human Cervical Mucus". In: Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica 47.S1 (Jan. 1968), pp. 57–79. ISSN: 0001-6349, 1600-0412. DOI: 10.3109/00016346809156845.
- [92] P. C. Lauterbur. "Magnetic Resonance Zeugmatography". In: Pure and Applied Chemistry 40.1-2 (Jan. 1, 1974), pp. 149–157. ISSN: 1365-3075, 0033-4545. DOI: 10.1351/pac197440010149.

- [93] P. Mansfield and A. A. Maudsley. "Medical Imaging by NMR". In: *The British Journal of Radiology* 50.591 (Mar. 1977), pp. 188–194. ISSN: 0007-1285, 1748-880X.
 DOI: 10.1259/0007-1285-50-591-188.
- [94] Jerrold T. Bushberg, ed. The Essential Physics of Medical Imaging. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2012. 1030 pp. ISBN: 978-0-7817-8057-5.
- [95] Dang Van Nguyen, Jing-Rebecca Li, Denis Grebenkov, and Denis Le Bihan. "A Finite Elements Method to Solve the Bloch–Torrey Equation Applied to Diffusion Magnetic Resonance Imaging". In: *Journal of Computational Physics* 263 (Apr. 2014), pp. 283–302. ISSN: 00219991. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcp.2014.01.009.
- [96] A. Berger. "How Does It Work?: Magnetic Resonance Imaging". In: *BMJ* 324.7328 (Jan. 5, 2002), pp. 35–35. ISSN: 0959-8138, 1468-5833. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.324.7328.35.
- [97] H. C. Torrey. "Bloch Equations with Diffusion Terms". In: *Physical Review* 104.3 (Nov. 1, 1956), pp. 563–565. ISSN: 0031-899X. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.104.563.
- [98] Denis Le Bihan. "What Can We See with IVIM MRI?" In: *NeuroImage* 187 (Feb. 2019), pp. 56–67. ISSN: 10538119. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.062.
- [99] W. M. Tun, G. Poologasundarampillai, H. Bischof, G. Nye, O. N. F. King, M. Basham, Y. Tokudome, R. M. Lewis, E. D. Johnstone, P. Brownbill, M. Darrow, and I. L. Chernyavsky. "A Massively Multi-Scale Approach to Characterizing Tissue Architecture by Synchrotron Micro-CT Applied to the Human Placenta". In: *Journal of The Royal Society Interface* 18.179 (June 2021), p. 20210140. ISSN: 1742-5662. DOI: 10.1098/rsif.2021.0140.
- [100] R. Aughwane, C. Schaaf, J.C. Hutchinson, A. Virasami, M.A. Zuluaga, N. Sebire, O.J. Arthurs, T. Vercauteren, S. Ourselin, A. Melbourne, and A.L. David. "Micro-CT and Histological Investigation of the Spatial Pattern of Feto-Placental Vascular Density". In: *Placenta* 88 (Dec. 2019), pp. 36–43. ISSN: 01434004. DOI: 10.1016/j. placenta.2019.09.014.
- [101] Martin Benning, Lynn Gladden, Daniel Holland, Carola-Bibiane Schönlieb, and Tuomo Valkonen. "Phase Reconstruction from Velocity-Encoded MRI Measurements – A Survey of Sparsity-Promoting Variational Approaches". In: *Journal of Magnetic Resonance* 238 (Jan. 2014), pp. 26–43. ISSN: 10907807. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmr.2013. 10.003.
- [102] David T. Wymer, Kunal P. Patel, William F. Burke, and Vinay K. Bhatia. "Phase-Contrast MRI: Physics, Techniques, and Clinical Applications". In: *RadioGraphics* 40.1 (Jan. 2020), pp. 122–140. ISSN: 0271-5333, 1527-1323. DOI: 10.1148/rg. 2020190039.

- [103] David R. Rutkowski, Alejandro Roldán-Alzate, and Kevin M. Johnson. "Enhancement of Cerebrovascular 4D Flow MRI Velocity Fields Using Machine Learning and Computational Fluid Dynamics Simulation Data". In: Scientific Reports 11.1 (Dec. 2021), p. 10240. ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-89636-z.
- [104] Jing-Rebecca Li, Van-Dang Nguyen, Try Nguyen Tran, Jan Valdman, Cong-Bang Trang, Khieu Van Nguyen, Duc Thach Son Vu, Hoang An Tran, Hoang Trong An Tran, and Thi Minh Phuong Nguyen. "SpinDoctor: A MATLAB Toolbox for Diffusion MRI Simulation". In: *NeuroImage* 202 (Nov. 2019), p. 116120. ISSN: 10538119. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116120.
- [105] P. A. Cook, Y. Bai, S. Nedjati-Gilani, K. K. Seunarine, M. G. Hall, G. J. Parker, and D. C. Alexander. *Camino: Open-Source Diffusion-MRI Reconstruction and Processing.*
- [106] George Hutchinson. "Investigating Placental Haemodynamics Using MRI". University of Nottingham, July 2023.
- [107] Jonathan Rafael-Patino, David Romascano, Alonso Ramirez-Manzanares, Erick Jorge Canales-Rodríguez, Gabriel Girard, and Jean-Philippe Thiran. "Robust Monte-Carlo Simulations in Diffusion-MRI: Effect of the Substrate Complexity and Parameter Choice on the Reproducibility of Results". In: *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics* 14 (Mar. 10, 2020), p. 8. ISSN: 1662-5196. DOI: 10.3389/fninf.2020.00008.
- [108] David F. Griffiths. "The 'no boundary condition' outflow boundary condition". In: *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Fluids* 24.4 (Feb. 28, 1997), pp. 393– 411. ISSN: 0271-2091, 1097-0363. DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0363(19970228)24: 4<393::AID-FLD505>3.0.CO;2-0.
- [109] Michael Renardy. "Imposing 'no' boundary condition at outflow: why does it work?" In: International Journal for Numerical Methods in Fluids 24.4 (Feb. 28, 1997), pp. 413–417. ISSN: 0271-2091, 1097-0363. DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0363(19970228)24:4<413::AID-FLD507>3.0.CO;2-N.
- [110] Rupak K. Banerjee, Ohwon Kwon, Vinayak S. Vaidya, and Lloyd H. Back. "Coupled Oxygen Transport Analysis in the Avascular Wall of a Coronary Artery Stenosis during Angioplasty". In: *Journal of Biomechanics* 41.2 (2008), pp. 475–479. ISSN: 00219290. DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2007.09.011.
- [111] A Kurjak and S Kupesic. "Doppler Assessment of the Intervillous Blood Flow in Normal and Abnormal Early Pregnancy". In: Obstetrics & Gynecology 89.2 (Feb. 1997), pp. 252–256. ISSN: 00297844. DOI: 10.1016/S0029-7844(96)00422-X.
- [112] Klaus Gerdes and Dominik Schötzau. "Hp-Finite Element Simulations for Stokes Flow — Stable and Stabilized". In: *Finite elements in analysis and design* 33.3 (1999), pp. 143–165. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-874X(99)00018-9.

- [113] Paul Houston. AptoFEM User Manual v4.0. Version 4.0.568. 2024.
- [114] Patrick R. Amestoy, Iain S. Duff, Jean-Yves L'Excellent, and Jacko Koster. "A Fully Asynchronous Multifrontal Solver Using Distributed Dynamic Scheduling". In: SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications 23.1 (2001). DOI: 10.1137/ S0895479899358194.
- [115] Christophe Geuzaine and Jean-François Remacle. "Gmsh: A 3-D Finite Element Mesh Generator with Built-in Pre- and Post-processing Facilities". In: International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering 79.11 (Sept. 10, 2009), pp. 1309– 1331. ISSN: 0029-5981, 1097-0207. DOI: 10.1002/nme.2579.
- [116] Utkarsh Ayachit. The ParaView Guide: Updated for ParaView Version 4.3. Ed. by Lisa Avila. Full color version. Clifton Park, NY: Kitware Inc, 2015. 261 pp. ISBN: 978-1-930934-30-6.
- [117] John D. Hunter. "Matplotlib: A 2D Graphics Environment". In: Computing in Science & Engineering 9.3 (2007), pp. 90–95. ISSN: 1521-9615. DOI: 10.1109/MCSE. 2007.55.
- K. Andrew Cliffe, Edward J. C. Hall, and Paul Houston. "Adaptive Discontinuous Galerkin Methods for Eigenvalue Problems Arising in Incompressible Fluid Flows". In: SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing 31.6 (Jan. 2010), pp. 4607–4632. ISSN: 1064-8275, 1095-7197. DOI: 10.1137/080731918.
- [119] Bernardo Cockburn, Guido Kanschat, and Dominik Schötzau. "A Locally Conservative LDG Method for the Incompressible Navier-Stokes Equations". In: *Mathematics of Computation* 74.251 (Oct. 5, 2004), pp. 1067–1096. ISSN: 0025-5718. DOI: 10.1090/S0025-5718-04-01718-1.
- [120] S. Giani and P. Houston. "Goal-Oriented Adaptive Composite Discontinuous Galerkin Methods for Incompressible Flows". In: Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 270 (Nov. 2014), pp. 32–42. ISSN: 03770427. DOI: 10.1016/j. cam.2014.03.007.
- [121] Paul Houston, Dominik Schötzau, and Thomas P. Wihler. "Energy Norm Shape a Posteriori Error Estimation for Mixed Discontinuous Galerkin Approximations of the Stokes Problem". In: *Journal of Scientific Computing* 22–23 (June 2005), pp. 347–370. DOI: 10.1007/s10915-004-4143-7.
- [122] Paul Houston and Nathan Sime. "Automatic Symbolic Computation for Discontinuous Galerkin Finite Element Methods". In: SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing 40.3 (Jan. 2018), pp. C327–C357. ISSN: 1064-8275, 1095-7197. DOI: 10.1137/17M1129751.

- Y. Bazilevs and T.J.R. Hughes. "Weak Imposition of Dirichlet Boundary Conditions in Fluid Mechanics". In: Computers & Fluids 36.1 (Jan. 2007), pp. 12–26. ISSN: 00457930. DOI: 10.1016/j.compfluid.2005.07.012.
- [124] Patrick J. Roache. "Code Verification by the Method of Manufactured Solutions". In: Journal of Fluids Engineering 124.1 (Mar. 1, 2002), pp. 4–10. ISSN: 0098-2202, 1528-901X. DOI: 10.1115/1.1436090.
- [125] Graham Neale and Walter Nader. "Practical Significance of Brinkman's Extension of Darcy's Law: Coupled Parallel Flows within a Channel and a Bounding Porous Medium". In: *The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering* 52.4 (Aug. 1974), pp. 475–478. ISSN: 00084034, 1939019X. DOI: 10.1002/cjce.5450520407.
- [126] Jason Carson, Lynne Warrander, Edward Johnstone, and Raoul van Loon. "Personalising Cardiovascular Network Models in Pregnancy: A Two-tiered Parameter Estimation Approach". In: International Journal for Numerical Methods in Biomedical Engineering 37.11 (Nov. 2021). ISSN: 2040-7939, 2040-7947. DOI: 10.1002/cnm.3267.
- [127] Friso M. Rijnberg, Mark G. Hazekamp, Jolanda J. Wentzel, Patrick J.H. De Koning, Jos J.M. Westenberg, Monique R.M. Jongbloed, Nico A. Blom, and Arno A.W. Roest. "Energetics of Blood Flow in Cardiovascular Disease: Concept and Clinical Implications of Adverse Energetics in Patients With a Fontan Circulation". In: *Circulation* 137.22 (May 29, 2018), pp. 2393–2407. ISSN: 0009-7322, 1524-4539. DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.033359.
- [128] Kevin K. Whitehead, Kerem Pekkan, Hiroumi D. Kitajima, Stephen M. Paridon, Ajit P. Yoganathan, and Mark A. Fogel. "Nonlinear Power Loss During Exercise in Single-Ventricle Patients After the Fontan: Insights From Computational Fluid Dynamics". In: *Circulation* 116 (11_supplement Sept. 11, 2007). ISSN: 0009-7322, 1524-4539. DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.680827.
- K. Andrew Cliffe, Edward J. C. Hall, Paul Houston, Eric T. Phipps, and Andrew G. Salinger. "Adaptivity and a Posteriori Error Control for Bifurcation Problems III: Incompressible Fluid Flow in Open Systems with O(2) Symmetry". In: Journal of Scientific Computing 52.1 (July 2012), pp. 153–179. ISSN: 0885-7474, 1573-7691. DOI: 10.1007/s10915-011-9545-8.
- [130] D. Le Bihan, ed. Diffusion and Perfusion Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Applications to Functional MRI. New York: Raven Press, 1995. 374 pp. ISBN: 978-0-7817-0244-7.
- Bernd André Jung and Matthias Weigel. "Spin Echo Magnetic Resonance Imaging". In: Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging 37.4 (Apr. 2013), pp. 805–817. ISSN: 1053-1807, 1522-2586. DOI: 10.1002/jmri.24068.

- [132] Rutherford Aris. Vectors, Tensors, and the Basic Equations of Fluid Mechanics. 1.
 publ. Dover Books on Mathematics. New York: Dover Publications, 1989. 286 pp.
 ISBN: 978-0-486-66110-0.
- [133] Paul Charles Matthews. Vector Calculus. Cham: Springer International Publishing. ISBN: 978-1-4471-0597-8.
- [134] Fabio Nobile and Luca Formaggia. "A Stability Analysis for the Arbitrary Lagrangian Eulerian Formulation with Finite Elements". In: *East-West Journal of Numerical Mathematics* 7 (Jan. 1999), pp. 105–132.
- S. Étienne, A. Garon, and D. Pelletier. "Perspective on the Geometric Conservation Law and Finite Element Methods for ALE Simulations of Incompressible Flow". In: *Journal of Computational Physics* 228.7 (Apr. 2009), pp. 2313–2333. ISSN: 00219991. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcp.2008.11.032.
- [136] Gowland, Turnball, Hutchinson, Dewick, Bradley, Chen, Figueredo, Stockwell, Ramesh, Dellschaft, Walker, and Jones. "Characterising Placental Contractions". Annual Meeting of the International Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine (Singapore). 2024.
- [137] Gene Hou, Jin Wang, and Anita Layton. "Numerical Methods for Fluid-Structure Interaction — A Review". In: Communications in Computational Physics 12.2 (2012), pp. 337–377. DOI: 10.4208/cicp.291210.290411s.
- [138] Jean Donea, Antonio Huerta, J.-Ph. Ponthot, and A. Rodríguez-Ferran. "Arbitrary Lagrangian-Eulerian Methods". In: *Encyclopedia of Computational Mechanics*. Cambridge University Press, 2004. ISBN: 978-0-470-09135-7. DOI: 10.1002/0470091355. ecm009.
- [139] Andrey Ricardo Da Silva, Gary P Scavone, and Maarten Van Walstijn. "Numerical Simulations of Fluid-Structure Interactions in Single-Reed Mouthpieces". In: *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 122.3 (2007), pp. 1798–1809. DOI: 10.1121/1.2759166.
- [140] Luca Formaggia, Alfio Quarteroni, and Allesandro Veneziani. Cardiovascular Mathematics: Modeling and Simulation of the Circulatory System. MS&A. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010. DOI: 10.1007/978-88-470-1152-6.
- [141] Ralf Hartmann and Paul Houston. "Adaptive Discontinuous Galerkin Finite Element Methods for Nonlinear Hyperbolic Conservation Laws". In: SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing 24.3 (Jan. 2003), pp. 979–1004. ISSN: 1064-8275, 1095-7197. DOI: 10.1137/S1064827501389084.